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Attorneys for Petitioner John Seka

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY

John Seka

Petitioner

V

Calvin Johnson Warden

Respondents

Case No
99C159915

Dept No XXV

Not a Death Penalty Case

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
POST-CONVICTION

1 Name of institution and county in which you are presently imprisoned

or where and how you are presently restrained of your liberty High Desert State

Prison

2 Name and location of court which entered the judgment of conviction

Case Number A-22-860668-W

APP2768
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under attack 8th Judicial District Court Clark County

3 Date of judgment of conviction May 9 2001

4 Case Number 99C159915

5 a Length of Sentence Life without parole with equal and

consecutive life without parole consecutive to 10 to life with equal and consecutive

10 to life consecutive to a sentence of 35 to 156 months consecutive to a sentence of

35 to 156 months

b If sentence is death state any date upon which execution is

scheduled NA

6 Are you presently serving a sentence for a conviction other than the

conviction under attack in this motion Yes No X
If yes list crime case number and sentence being served at this time

Nature of offense involved in conviction being challenged

7 Nature of offense involved in conviction being challenged First-degree

murder second-devree murder and two counts of robbery

8 What was your plea

a Not guilty X c Guilty but mentally ill

b Guilty d Nolo contendere

9 If you entered a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill to one count of

an indictment or information and a plea of not guilty to another count of an

indictment or information or if a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill was

negotiated give details NA

10 If you were found guilty after a plea of not guilty was the finding made

by a Jury X b Judge without a Jury

11 Did you testify at the trial Yes No X

12 Did you appeal from the judgment of conviction Yes X No

2
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13 If you did appeal answer the following

a Name of Court Nevada Supreme Court

b Case number or citation 37907

c Result Affirmed

14 If you did not appeal explain briefly why you did not

15 Other than a direct appeal from the judgment of conviction and

sentence have you previously filed any petitions applications or motions With respect

to this Judgment in any court state or federal Yes X No

16 If your answer to No 15 was yes give the following information

a 1 Name of Court 8th Judicial District Court Clark County

2 Nature of proceeding Postconviction Petition

3 Ground raised

1 Petitioner was denied his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution to effective assistance of

counsel due process and a fair trial by his attorney's failure to

investigate material witnesses and facts prior to trial and failure

to enlist experts for the defense prior to trial

2 Petitioner was denied his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution to effective assistance of

counsel due process and of fundamental fairness at trial by his

attorney's failure to meaningfully challenge the state's case with

expert testimony and adequate cross-examination and

impeachment of prosecution witnesses

3 Petitioner was denied his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution to effective assistance of

counsel and due process on Direct Appeal by his direct appeal

attorney's failure to identify and raise meritorious claims and

issues within petitioners only direct appeal of constitutional right

to a criminal defendant and while under a conflict of interest

4 Petitioner's convictions and sentence are invalid and

unconstitutional in violation of the Fifth Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments of the US Constitution to due process a fair trial

and equal protection of the laws due to the State's failure to

3
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disclose material exculpatory and impeachment evidence on Mr
Thomas Creamer

5 Petitioner is in custody in violation of his rights to due process

and a fair trial as guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution due to the trial court's

erroneous instructions on lesser included offences

6 Petitioner was denied his rights under the Fifth Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the US Constitution to due process

equal protection and a fair trial by the improper Jury instruction

on reasonable doubt which illegally lowered the State's burden

7 Petitioner is in custody in violation of his right to due process of

law under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the US
Constitution by the trial court erroneously giving the jury

instruction number fourteen 14 on a unanimous verdict

8 Petitioner's convictions and sentences are invalid under the

federal constitutional guarantees of the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments of the US Constitution to due process equal

protection and trial before an impartial Jury because the Malice

Aforethought Express Malice Deliberation and Premeditation

jury instructions given at trial improperly lowered the State's

burden of proof

9 Petitioner's convictions and sentence are invalid under the

federal constitutional guarantees of the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution to due process because the

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department failed to adequately

investigate the murders of Peter Limanni and Eric Hamilton as

well as the alleged robberies

10 Petitioner's convictions and sentence are unconstitutional under

the federal guarantees of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments
of the US Constitution to due process by prosecutorial

misconduct before and during trial

11 Petitioner's convictions and sentence are invalid under the

federal constitutional guarantees of the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the US Constitution to effective assistance of

counsel and due process by appellate counsel's failure to present

issues on direct appeal as US Constitution violations

4
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12 Petitioner's convictions and sentence are invalid under the

federal constitutional guarantees of the Fifth Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the US Constitution to due process

equal protection the effective assistance of trial and direct appeal

counsel a fair trial and an impartial Jury due to the cumulative

errors in the admission of evidence misconduct by the prosecutor

the improper jury instructions the investigative failures of the

State and the ineffective assistance of counsel before during and

after trial

4 Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition

application or motion Yes X No

5 Result Denied

6 Date of Result 01312005

7 If known citations of any written opinion or date of orders

entered pursuant to such result 0 13 120 15

b As to any second petition application or motion give the same

information

1 Name of court United States District Court District of

Nevada

2 Nature of proceeding 28 USC 2254 Petition

3 Grounds raised

Ground 1 The trial court abused its discretion when it instructed the Jury

that Seka's flight to Philadelphia could be considered in

deciding guilt or innocence when there was no evidence that he

intended to flee for the purpose of avoiding arrest The trial

court's error violated Seka's Fifth Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendment rights guaranteed by the United States

Constitution

Ground 2 Limanni's body was found in California and there was no

evidence that the crime of murder and robbery or any part

thereof was committed in Nevada consequently the trial court

lacked Jurisdiction to try Seka for the murder and robbery of

Peter Limanni thus Seka's constitutional due process rights

5
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guaranteed by Fifth Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the

United States Constitution were violated

Ground 3 Seka was denied the right to a fair trial guaranteed by the Fifth

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

by the district court's improper Joinder of the two murder and

robbery counts

Ground 4 Seka is in custody in violation of his right to due process

pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution because the evidence adduced at

trial was insufficient to prove murder in the first degree and

robbery beyond a reasonable doubt

Ground 5 The State's failure to preserve blood evidence for DNA testing

violated Seka's due process rights guaranteed by the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

Ground 6 The district court's reasonable doubt instruction improperly

minimized the State's burden of proof thereby Violating Seka's

due process rights guaranteed by the Fifth Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

Ground 7 The trial court erred in instructing the Jury that their verdict

need not be unanimous with respect to the theories of murder

so long as all believed that murder had been proven This

instruction minimized the State's burden of proof in violation of

Seka's Fifth Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights

Ground 8 The district court's Jury instruction defining malice improperly

allowed the jury to presume malice without proof beyond a

reasonable doubt thereby violating Seka's due process rights

guaranteed by the Fifth Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to

the United States Constitution

I I ionGround 9 The district court's Jury instruction defining premeditati

improperly minimized the State's burden of proof thereby

violating Seka's due process rights guaranteed by the Fifth

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution

Ground 10 The State committed prosecutorial misconduct during closing

argument when the prosecutor argued facts not in evidence and

vouched for its witness The State's conduct violated Seka's

6
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right to due process and a fair trial guaranteed by the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

Ground 11 Seka is in custody in violation of his right to effective assistance

of trial counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution

A Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately

investigate Cramer's psychological and drug history

B Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to retain a

psychological expert to testify regarding the drugs Cramer was

taking

C Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately

investigate and interview witnesses

D Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to retain a forensic

pathologist to testify to the time of death

E Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain phone and

bank records of Peter Limanni and the business

Ground 12 Seka is in custody in violation of his right to effective assistance

of appellate counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution

A Counsel's failure to submit the direct appeal claims as

constitutional violations

B Counsel failed to raise the issue of the trial court's

erroneous jury instructions

1 Reasonable doubt instruction

2 Unanimous verdict instruction

3 Malice aforethought instruction

4 Premeditation instruction

C Appellate counsel failed to raise the issue of the

prosecution's misconduct

Ground 13 Seka is entitled to relief because of the cumulative effect of the

errors raised on direct appeal in state habeas proceedings and

in this petition
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4 Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition

application or motion Yes No X

5 Result Denied

6 Date of result 08262008

7 If known citations of any written opinion or date of orders

entered pursuant to such result 8262008

c As to any third petition application or motion give the same

information

1 Name of court 8th District Judicial Court Clark County

2 Nature of proceeding Motion for a New Trial

3 Grounds raised

1 The results of the genetic marker analysis are newly
discovered evidence that require Mr Seka be granted a

new trial

4 Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition

application or motion Yes X No

5 Result Granted but reversed on appeal

6 Date of result 03242020

7 If known citations of any written opinion or date of orders

entered pursuant to such result State v Seka 137 Nev Ady

O-D 30 490 P3d 1272 2021

d As to any fourth petition application or motion give the same

information

1 Name of court Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals

2 Nature of proceeding Application to File Second or Successive

2254 Petition

3 Grounds raised

8
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1 Seka's right to due process under the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution was violated when the State suppressed

exonerating and material fingerprint evidence US
Const Amends V and XIV

11 Seka's conviction and sentence are invalid under the

federal constitutional guarantees of due process equal

protection and freedom from cruel and unusual

punishment because new evidence including

exonerating DNA evidence establishes he is actually

innocent of first-degree murder second-degree murder

and robbery US Const Amends V VI VIII and XIV

4 Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition

application or motion Yes No X

5 Result Still pending at time of filing of this petition

6 Date of result NA

7 If known citations of any written opinion or date of orders

entered pursuant to such result NA

17 Has any ground being raised in this petition been previously presented

to this or any other court by way of petition for habeas corpus motion application or

any other post-conviction proceeding Yes If so identify

a Which of the grounds is the same Grounds 1 and 2

b The proceedings in which these grounds were raised

Authorization application pendiny in the Ninth Circuit

C Briefly explain why you are again raising these grounds

The two grounds in this petition have been presented to the Ninth Circuit for

that court to determine whether it will authorize Seka to raise the grounds in a second

or successive federal petition See 28 USC 2244 b

Seka can show good cause here for Ground One because it is a Brady claim A

petitioner can establish good cause and prejudice to overcome the Chapter 34

9
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procedural bars if he can meet the elements of a Brady claim namely that the

evidence was 1 suppressed and it was 2 favorable and material See State V

Huebler 128 Nev 192 197-98 275 P3d 91 95-96 2012 finding that post-conviction

petitioner's establishment of suppression and materiality demonstrates good cause

and actual prejudice to excuse a procedural default Seka can make both showings

here

The evidence was suppressed

The Brady claim relies upon a latent fingerprint report in a stolen purse case

that was connected to the murders The fingerprint report was not discovered until

November 2017 This fingerprint report was never turned over to the defense The

defense was never put on notice that this fingerprint report existed or even that any

latent fingerprints from the purse existed

Moreover Seka did not have a duty to discover this report earlier because the

State affirmatively misled Seka into believing that the stolen purse was irrelevant to

his case The prosecutor said at trial that the purse was not important The State

also deleted the purse from the list of evidence in the crime scene diagram shown to

the jury Seka was allowed to rely upon the State's representations that the purse

was not relevant

Seka otherwise took reasonable steps to obtain the report After trial Seka

sought all documents in the purse case including the fingerprint report using the

only means available to him at the time a Nevada Public Records Act request

Despite the request and persistent follow-up the police would only turn over the

incident report associated with the stolen purse It was not until the state district

court issued an order granting Seka's petition seeking DNA testing that the

fingerprint report was fortuitously turned over in November 2017

The evidence is favorable and material
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Seka can also establish that the report is favorable and material The

previously undisclosed fingerprint report shows Seka is innocent of the murder of

Eric Hamilton A purse was found in the ceiling at the business where Seka had been

working and living The purse had been stolen from a car around the time of the

murder The thief had shot out a window of the car and taken the purse A bullet was

recovered from the car

Latent fingerprints were recovered from the purse found in the ceiling They

were compared against Seka's The prints did not match Seka's prints This report

was never disclosed to the defense

A ballistics comparison was conducted between the bullet from the purse theft

and two bullets found in connection with the murder of Eric Hamilton The markings

on these bullets were class consistent The comparison established a likely connection

between the gun used in the theft and the one used in the murder Indeed it was a

stronger connection than the one the State advanced at trial to convict Seka which

focused on the similarity between the caliber of bullets found at the murder location

and those found at the business location where Seka was staying

The fingerprint exclusion shows that Seka did not commit the purse theft And

if Seka is innocent of the theft the ballistics report provides a compelling reason to

believe he is innocent of the Hamilton murder given that the ballistics evidence

points to the same person committing both crimes

Further the fingerprint exclusion significantly undermines the State's case in

other critical ways First the State's main theory was that Seka was the murderer

because Seka was the only one who had access to and control over the business

location at 1933 Western However the fact that someone else's prints were on the

purse in the ceiling confirms that someone else had access to the location
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Moreover the State's case against Seka on the Hamilton murder was entirely

circumstantial Indeed the jury deliberated here for five days The State took steps

to exclude the purse from the jury's consideration knowing that the purse pointed

the finger away from Seka By removing the purse from the jury's consideration it

made the State's circumstantial case seem stronger The exonerating Brady evidence

undermines the foundation of the State's circumstantial case

For similar reasons the purse is material as to the murder and robbery of Peter

Limanni If Seka did not murder Hamilton then he also did not murder Limanni

The State argued that the person who committed one committed the other Just as

with Hamilton the State's case as to Limanni was a weak circumstantial case The

purse thief s access to the business location at 1933 Western also undermines the

State's case on the Limanni counts Once a jury would see that Seka was innocent of

the Hamilton murder and robbery any jury would harbor a reasonable doubt that

Seka was the one who killed Limanni

Miscarriage ofJustice gateway

Seka can also overcome the procedural bars on Grounds One and Two because

he can establish the failure to consider the claims would result in a miscarriage of

justice Seka can show that looking at the evidence as a whole in light of new

evidence it is more likely than not no reasonable juror would find him guilty beyond

a reasonable doubt See Berry v State 131 Nev 957 966 363 P3d 1148 1154 2015

In addition to the latent fingerprint report this Court should consider new DNA

evidence which establishes Seka's innocence First previously unavailable DNA

testing establishes that there was a foreign DNA profile found on Hamilton's

fingernails from his left and right hands Seka was fully excluded from this

foreign profile This new foreign profile shows that someone else-clearly the

perpetrator-contributed the DNA found under Hamilton's fingernails Further

Seka was excluded from the remaining relevant evidence collected at the site where
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Hamilton's body was discovered And Seka's fingerprints were excluded from those

found at 1929 Western where Hamilton was murdered

The DNA evidence and the Brady material discussed above each individually

establishes Seka's innocence of the Hamilton murder and robbery Collectively they

represent powerful evidence of innocence particularly when the evidence against

Seka at trial was weak and entirely circumstantial

Looking at the evidence as a whole it is clear Seka did not murder and rob

Hamilton And if Seka did not murder and rob Hamilton then he also did not murder

and rob Limanni The State argued that the person who committed one committed

the other Just as with Hamilton the State's case as to Limanni was a weak

circumstantial case Once a jury would see that Seka was innocent of the Hamilton

murder any jury would harbor a reasonable doubt that Seka was the one who killed

and robbed Limanni

18 If any of the grounds listed in Nos 23a b c and d or listed on any

additional pages you have attached were not previously presented in any other court

state or federal list briefly what grounds were not so presented and give your reasons

for not presenting them You must relate specific facts in response to this question

Your response may be included on paper which is 8 Y2 by 11 inches attached to the

petition Your response may not exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages in

length

19 Are you filing this petition more than 1 year following the filing of the

judgment of conviction or the filing of a decision on direct appeal Yes If so state

briefly the reasons for the delay You must relate specific facts in response to this

question Your response may be included on paper which is 8 Y2by 11 inches attached

to the petition Your response may not exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages

in length
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Seka can show good cause to overcome the time bar for Ground One because it

is a Brady claim A petitioner can establish good cause and prejudice to overcome the

Chapter 34 procedural bars if he can meet the elements of a Brady claim namely that

the evidence was 1 suppressed and 2 it was favorable and material See Huebler

128 Nev at 197-98 275 P3d at 95-96 finding that post-conviction petitioner's

establishment of suppression and materiality demonstrates good cause and actual

prejudice to excuse a procedural default Seka can make both showings here

The evidence was suppressed

The Brady claim relies upon a latent fingerprint report in a stolen purse case

that was connected to the murders The fingerprint report was not discovered until

November 2017 This fingerprint report was never turned over to the defense The

defense was never put on notice that this fingerprint report existed or even that any

latent fingerprints from the purse existed

Moreover Seka did not have a duty to discover this report earlier because the

State affirmatively misled Seka into believing that the stolen purse was irrelevant to

his case The prosecutor said at trial that the purse was not important The State

also deleted the purse from the list of evidence in the crime scene diagram shown to

the jury Seka was allowed to rely upon the State's representations that the purse

was not relevant

Seka otherwise took reasonable steps to obtain the report After trial Seka

sought all documents in the purse case including the fingerprint report using the

only means available to him at the time a Nevada Public Records Act request

Despite the request and persistent follow-up the police would only turn over the

incident report associated with the stolen purse It was not until the state district

court issued an order granting Seka's petition seeking DNA testing that the

fingerprint report was fortuitously turned over in November 2017
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Seka seeks relief within a reasonable time of discovering the evidence

In addition Seka is presenting this claim within a reasonable time after

discovering the report Seka discovered the report while his 2017 DNA petition

brought under the special procedure set forth in NRS 176 0918 was pending in this

Court The petition was granted as was his subsequent motion for a new trial Seka

had no reason to raise this claim while those proceedings were pending Those

proceedings ended on November 2 202 1 when the Nevada Supreme Court issued

remittitur in the appeal from the grant of the motion for a new trial This petition is

being filed within one year of the remittitur

The evidence is favorable and material

Seka can also establish that the report is material The previously undisclosed

fingerprint report shows Seka is innocent of the murder of Eric Hamilton A purse

was found in the ceiling at the business where Seka had been working and living The

purse had been stolen from a car around the time of the murder The thief had shot

out a window of the car and taken the purse A bullet was recovered from the car

Latent fingerprints were recovered from the purse found in the ceiling They

were compared against Seka's The prints did not match Seka's prints This report

was never disclosed to the defense

A ballistics comparison was conducted between the bullet from the purse theft

and two bullets found in connection with the murder of Eric Hamilton The markings

on these bullets were class consistent The comparison established a likely connection

between the gun used in the theft and the one used in the murder Indeed it was a

stronger connection than the one the State advanced at trial to convict Seka which

focused on the similarity between the caliber of bullets found at the murder location

and those found at the business location where Seka was staying

The fingerprint exclusion shows that Seka did not commit the purse theft And

if Seka is innocent of the theft the ballistics report provides a compelling reason to
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believe he is innocent of the Hamilton murder given that the ballistics evidence

points to the same person committing both crimes

Further the fingerprint exclusion significantly undermines the State's case in

other critical ways First the State's main theory was that Seka was the murderer

because Seka was the only one who had access to and control over the business

location at 1933 Western However the fact that someone else's prints were on the

purse in the ceiling confirms that someone else had access to the location

Moreover the State's case against Seka on the Hamilton murder was entirely

circumstantial Indeed the jury deliberated here for five days The State took steps

to exclude the purse from the jury's consideration knowing that the purse pointed

the finger away from Seka By removing the purse from the jury's consideration it

made the State's circumstantial case seem stronger The exonerating Brady evidence

undermines the foundation of the State's circumstantial case

For similar reasons the purse is material as to the murder and robbery of Peter

Limanni If Seka did not murder Hamilton then he also did not murder Limanni

The State argued that the person who committed one committed the other Just as

with Hamilton the State's case as to Limanni was a weak circumstantial case The

purse thief s access to the business location also undermines the State's case on the

Limanni counts Once a jury would see that Seka was innocent of the Hamilton

murder and robbery any jury would harbor a reasonable doubt that Seka was the

one who killed Limanni

Miscarriage ofJustice gateway

Seka can also overcome the procedural bars on Grounds One and Two because

he can establish the failure to consider the claims would result in a miscarriage of

justice Seka can show that looking at the evidence as a whole in light of new

evidence it is more likely than not no reasonable juror would find him guilty beyond

a reasonable doubt See Berry v State 131 Nev 957 966 363 P3d 1148 1154 2015
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In addition to the latent fingerprint report this Court should consider new DNA

evidence which establishes Seka's innocence First previously unavailable DNA

testing establishes that there was a foreign DNA profile found on Hamilton's

fingernails from his left and right hands Seka was fully excluded from this

foreign profile This new foreign profile shows that someone else-clearly the

perpetrator-contributed the DNA found under Hamilton's fingernails Further

Seka was excluded from the remaining relevant evidence collected at the site where

Hamilton's body was discovered And Seka's fingerprints were excluded from those

found at 1929 Western where Hamilton was murdered

The DNA evidence and the Brady material discussed above each individually

establishes Seka's innocence of the Hamilton murder and robbery Collectively they

represent powerful evidence of innocence particularly when the evidence against

Seka at trial was weak and entirely circumstantial

Looking at the evidence as a whole it is clear Seka did not murder and rob

Hamilton And if Seka did not murder and rob Hamilton then he also did not murder

and rob Limanni The State argued that the person who committed one committed

the other Just as with Hamilton the State's case as to Limanni was a weak

circumstantial case Once a jury would see that Seka was innocent of the Hamilton

murder any jury would harbor a reasonable doubt that Seka was the one who killed

and robbed Limanni

20 Do you have any petition or appeal now pending in any court either

state or federal as to the judgment under attack Yes X No

If yes state what court and the case number US Court of Appeals for

the Ninth Circuit Authorization Aivlication no docket number yet at

time of filim this state petition
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21 Give the name of each attorney who represented you in the proceeding

resulting in your conviction and on direct appeal Trial Attorneys Peter Christiansen

and Kirk Kennedy Direct Appeal Attorney Peter Christiansen

22 Do you have any future sentences to serve after you complete the

sentence imposed by the judgment under attack Yes No X

23 State concisely every ground on which you claim that you are being held

unlawfully Summarize briefly the facts supporting each ground If necessary you

may attach pages stating additional grounds and facts supporting same

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Statement of Facts is incorporated and adopted into both grounds for

relief set forth in this petition

A John Seka begins working for Peter Limanni Limanni

develops financial issues with his investors

In 1998 John JaclC Seka moved from Philadelphia to Las Vegas to work for

his friend Peter Limanni 2222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 31-32 Limanni owned and

operated a heating ventilation air conditioning and refrigeration business called

Cinergi at 1933 Western Avenue 1933 Western 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 37

38 Limanni and Seka also lived in a back room at 1933 Western 02142001 Trial

Tr vol 1 at 53-54

During Seka's employment Limanni was transitioning Cinergi into a cigar

shop 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 93 Limanni and Seka had purchased lumber to

build a humidor 11192019 Motion for New Trial Motion Ex 6 1933 Western

Ave Crime Scene Photos Motion Ex 7 11171998 Seka Voluntary Statement p 6
The lumber was stacked inside and outside of 1933 Western Id

Takeo Kato and Kazutoshi Toe were two Japanese investors who financially

backed Cinergi and lived at the business for a short time in the summer or fall 1998
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02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 81-82 88-89 Motion Ex 9 03072006 Toe interview

Motion Ex 10 02282006 Kato interview Kato and Toe not only provided Limanni

with a significant amount of money in capital but also four white vans to help operate

the business Id They also put the lease of 1933 Western in Kato's name Id
Limanni attempted to obtain more financial backing from Kato and Toe but was

unsuccessful 02162002 Trial Tr vol 2 at 93 However Limanni did receive capital

for the cigar shop from Amir Mohammed a business investor who resided in Las

Vegas Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 15-16 Motion Ex

12 05162007 Decl of Ed Heddy p 2-4 A former business associate characterized

Mohammed as a dangerous person the FBI was investigating Mohammed around

the time of the murders Motion Ex 19 03132006 Thomas Investigation Mem p

2
All three of the investors-Kao Toe and Mohammed-had full access to 1933

Western and to the Cinergi vans and Toyota truck 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 91

92 Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 15-16 In addition

Limanni's girlfriend Jennifer Harrison and numerous others who were invited to

the frequent parties Limanni hosted had access to the business and the vehicles at

1933 Western 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 91-92 Motion Ex 13 01111999

Detective Thowsen Report 02202001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 16-17 The keys for the

vehicles were located directly inside 1933 Western and were easily accessible

02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 12 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 45

As early as September 1998 Limanni began removing large sums of money

from his bank accounts and was even overdrawn 02202001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 70

71 On September 22 1998 Limanni signed a lease for an office space in Lake Tahoe

Toe said it was one million dollars while Kato said it was three hundred

thousand
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and eventually paid a deposit of three months of the lease 02142001 Trial Tr vol

1 at 86-87 Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 19 Limanni

left one of Cinergi's work vans in Lake Tahoe 02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 86-87

Kato and Toe visited Cinergi in late summer or fall 1998 02162001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 91 They believed that Limanni was diverting business funds for personal

use 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 89-90 As a result Kato attempted to cancel the

lease on 1933 Western 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 67 In addition Kato told

Limanni that he wanted his investment money returned 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2

at 90 Kato and Toe confronted Limanni seeking to recover the business vehicles

and to recoup some of their investment but Limanni refused to give them the keys

Motion Ex 9 03072006 Toe Interview p 12 On October 26 1998 before Limanni

disappeared Kato repossessed one of the vans that he provided for the business

02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 34 Motion Ex 17 02261999 Declaration of

Warrant Summons p 11 Kato was forced to start bankruptcy proceedings that

same month 02152001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 97

B Peter Limanni disappears

On November 2 1998 Limanni closed his bank accounts 02212001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 70-71

The State presented inconsistent evidence about the exact date Limanni

disappeared Harrison testified that Limanni disappeared on November 5 1998

02142001 Trial Tr at 61-64 However the property manager for 1933 Western

Michael Cerda reported talking with Limanni around 10 30 am outside 1933

Western on November 6 1998 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 39-40 Limanni asked

Cerda if he could delay making the monthly lease payment because although he had

between 2000 and 3000 in cash with him he needed the money for a weekend

cigar show at Cashman Field 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 41-42 Cerda reminded

him that since it was after the fifth of the month he was already late on the payment
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so there would be a late fee assessed Id at 41 Limanni agreed and left he was not

seen again 02222001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 25-27

Unsure of the whereabouts of his friend Seka called several mutual friends on

the East Coast and informed them that he was worried because he could not find

Limanni 02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 46-47 With the business closed Limanni

missing and expenses coming due Seka pawned various items from the business to

raise money to keep it afloat but was unsuccessful 02232001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 2 1
C Eric Hamilton is found dead he had previously worked

at 1933 Western

Around 6 am on November 16 1998 a construction worker found Eric

Hamilton's body in a remote area with seven wood boards scattered on top of the

corpse 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 13-14 The police found a ring on his finger and

a note in his pants pocket with the name Jack and a telephone number connected

to 1933 Western Id at 17-18 Crime scene analysts also collected two empty Beck's

beer bottles two cigarette butts and a Skoal chewing tobacco container near the

body 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 57 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 54-55 02212001

Trial Tr vol 2 at 14-15

The State determined that Hamilton died from three gunshot wounds to his

leg chest and abdomen 02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 24-25 28 The coroner also

noted a minor laceration just above the right wrist that he said was possibly

consistent with someone removing a bracelet Id at 25 The coroner estimated

Hamilton's time of death to be within twenty-four hours of when the body was found

02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 30

Hamilton was a drifter He had moved to Las Vegas from California shortly

before his death and had been working sporadically at Cinergi doing construction

projects 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 57-58 64 66 Seka later told officers he knew

Hamilton by the name Seymour 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 18-19 32 Motion
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Ex 11 121098 Detective Thowsen Report p 9 According to Seka Hamilton would

come to Cinergi looking for work 11171998 Seka Voluntary Statement p 9-11 He

last saw Hamilton about a month before his death and at that time he told Hamilton

to call Cinergi in about a month to see if there was work available Motion Ex 17

02261999 Declaration of Warrant Summons p 5
Hamilton's sister Michelle Hamilton testified that Hamilton had

approximately 3000 dollars with him when he moved to Las Vegas 02162001

Trial Tr vol 2 at 62 The State used this testimony to accuse Seka of murdering

Hamilton for money However Hamilton had been held in the county jail on a

trespassing charge from November 6 1998 the last day Limanni was seen alive

until November 12 1998 only three days later Hamilton was likely killed and a day

after that his body was found 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 53-56 When booked

into jail Hamilton had no money with him Id
D The police conclude Hamilton was murdered at a

business neighboring 1933 Western

On November 17 1998 the day after Hamilton's body was found someone

called the police about an alleged break-in at an abandoned business at 1929 Western

Avenue 1929 Western which is right next door to 1933 Western 02142001 Trial

Tr vol 1 at 38-39 Upon arrival the police noticed broken glass and apparent blood

in 1929 Western 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 57-58 Immediately in front of 1929

Western the police found a piece of molding from the broken window with what

appeared to be a bullet hole 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 42 Finally a lead

projectile assumed to be from a bullet was found on the sidewalk outside of 1929

Western next to droplets of blood Id 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 18

All indications were that Hamilton was murdered in 1929 Western

02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 19 42-43 46 In addition to the broken window the

police found copious amounts of blood on the entryway carpet and on the broken glass
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the blood was later matched to Hamilton 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 42-43

02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 58 There were two sets of bloody drag marks across

the carpet one of which led to the broken window 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 42

43 see also Motion Ex 27 12011998 Detective Buczek Report p 6 Seka was

excluded from the blood found at 1929 Western 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 46-58

A black baseball cap that Hamilton always wore his gold bracelet and a rolled

up jacket with blood and bullet holes were also found in 1929 Western Id

02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 58 02132001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 17 32 see also Motion

Ex 27 12011998 Detective Buczek Report p 6 The bullet holes in the jacket were

later found to be consistent with Hamilton's wounds 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at

19-20 Motion Ex 27 12011998 Detective Buczek Report p 6 The police also

found three bullets and three bullet fragments in 1929 Western 02142001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 19

Latent fingerprints were lifted from the exterior north vertical metal frame

edge of the point-of-entry window the glass pane on the interior of the front door

and from a glass fragment inside the point-of-entry on the office floor Motion Ex

28 11171998 Crime Scene Report of 1929 Western These prints were submitted

for comparison with Seka's Limanni's and Hamilton's prints Motion Ex 50

02171999 Fingerprint Report at 2 The result of the comparison for each of these

latent prints was Nl Id at 3 This stands for Not Identified 2 See eg id at 4

6 These prints fell under the examiner's conclusion Latents remain unidentified

Id at 2

2 See Fingerprint Examination Terminology Definitions and Acronyms
Forensic Science Regulator at 37 available at htt-ps assets publishiny

service yov ukyovernment u-ploads systemu-ploads attachment data file 267523 Fl

nyer-printTerminologyD last visited Oct 24 2022 Nl Abbreviations com

2022 available at htt-ps wwwabbreviations com term266285 last visited Oct 24
2022
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Overall no evidence found in 1929 Western was directly connected to Seka

While the police were investigating 1929 Western Seka arrived in Cinergi's

Toyota pickup truck 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 61 The police approached Seka

and informed him of the disturbance in 1929 Western Id Seka consented to a

search of 1933 Western 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 63-64 Motion Ex 30

11171998 Consent to Search Card Seka and Cerda-the property manager who

had been alerted to the disturb ance-accomp anied the police into 1933 Western

Motion Ex 31 11171998 Cerda Voluntary Statement p 8-10 After noticing a

bullet and some knives in 1933 Western the police handcuffed Seka as they

continued to search 1933 Western 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 64-65 Cerda stayed

with Seka while the officers searched the business Motion Ex 31 1117199 Cerda

Voluntary Statement p 8-10 Cerda informed officers that he was the only person

with a key to 1929 Western and that the business had been vacant for approximately

a month and a half Id p 7
Seka was taken to the detective bureau and provided a voluntary taped

statement 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 36 During the interview Seka denied

hurting Hamilton Motion Ex 7 11171998 Seka Voluntary Statement p 2 1
The police took Seka back to 1933 Western after informing him that he was

not under arrest 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 43 Upon arriving at 1933 Western

the police informed Seka that he could not enter 1933 Western because it was still

being processed 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 44 They also told him that they were

impounding the Toyota truck he arrived in 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 44 Seka

said he had a dinner appointment and needed a vehicle Id The police went into

1933 Western and grabbed the keys to the two remaining vans Id at 45 Before

Seka was allowed to leave the police asked him if they could search the vans Seka

agreed Id After discovering what appeared to be blood in one of the vans the police

impounded the vehicle Id at 46-47 The police searched the other van and did not
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find anything of apparent evidentiary value They gave Seka the keys to that van and

told him he was free to leave Id at 47

In addition to the blood found in the van the police found drops of blood in the

bed of the Toyota pickup truck Seka had driven to 1933 Western Id at 46-47

02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 5 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 51 02162001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 28-30 The blood in the pickup truck bed matched Hamilton 02162001

Trial Tr vol 1 at 55 The blood on the floor of the van and on some magnetic cards

found in the door of the van matched Limanni 3 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 45 48

E Seka leaves Las Vegas

The police did not indicate to Seka that he was expected to return to 1933

Western after his dinner appointment on November 16 so he went to a friend's home

where he had been staying after Limanni disappeared and the business ceased to

operate 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 47 02222001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 15-17 see

Motion Ex 29 12101998 Officer Kroll Report p 2 Seka had no money and no

employment after Limanni disappeared with the business assets so he returned to

his home on the East Coast in December 1998 02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 37-38

Motion Ex 39 12071998 Harrison Voluntary Statement p 39-40 Motion Ex 7

11171998 Seka Voluntary Statement p 5 Seka provided the police with several

addresses and phone numbers where he could be reached on the East Coast Motion

Ex 7 11171998 Seka Voluntary Statement p 4 02222001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 20

02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 2 1 The police never attempted to contact Seka at any

of these numbers or addresses 02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 20

3 Mohammed disappeared shortly after Hamilton's body was discovered and

the police began investigating the crime scene at 1929 Western Avenue Motion Ex
11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 3 15-16
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F Peter Limanni is found dead

On December 23 1998 Limanni's body was found off a service road in the

California desert near the Nevada border 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 4-5 He was

found near some tire tracks lying face down and buried from the legs down

02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 108 111 The body was badly decomposed and

mummified consistent with a body that had been outdoors partially buried for several

weeks Id at 111 113-114 The coroner found eight gunshot wounds in the head and

neck area one on the top of the left shoulder and one in the back fatally injuring his

heart Id at 51 53

Limanni's girlfriend Harrison testified at trial that Limanni had been

mistreating Seka 4 02142001 Trial Tr Vol I at 55-59 The State argued that this

mistreatment provided Seka with a motive for Limanni's murder However evidence

discovered in the post-conviction investigation contradicted her testimony Justin

Nguyen who worked with Limanni and Seka at Cinergi for several months stated

that Limanni treated Seka like his own brother they got along very well and

Nguyen never observed Limanni call Seka names or mistreat him Motion Ex 8

07292008 Decl of Ed Heddy July 29 2008 p 1-2 Kato and Toe also described Seka

and Limanni as having a good friendship buddies and like brothers 02162001

Trial Tr vol 2 at 81-82 88-89 Motion Ex 9 03072006 Toe Interview Motion Ex

10 02282006 Kato Interview

4 Harrison also testified about a lengthy call she made to Seka on his cell phone

on the morning of November 5 1998 in which he stated he was depressed

02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 61-64 The State used this evidence to establish Seka's

state of mind at that time However Seka's phone records show this call never

happened Ex 4 Seka cell phone records Moreover Cerda saw Limanni alive on
the morning of November 6 1998 making his state of mind on November 5 mostly

irrelevant
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G The police search 1933 Western and find a stolen purse
in the ceiling

Police thoroughly searched 1933 Western 02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 53-54

Motion Ex 27 12011998 Detective Buczek Report p 6-8 They found Limanni's

wallet in the ceiling above his desk 02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 22-23 The police

also found a purse in the ceiling in another room that was later identified as belonging

to Lydia Gorzoch who as discussed in more detail below reported it missing on

November 6 1998 Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 13

The police also found several beer bottles in the dumpster behind Cinergi and

two Miller beer bottles in a trash can in the business 02202001 Trial Tr vol 2 at

65 Fingerprints identified on the beer bottles from the trash can matched Hamilton

and Seka Id 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 84-85 The presence of both sets of

fingerprints was due to the fact that Hamilton helped on construction projects at 1933

Western three or four times Motion Ex 7 11171999 Seka Voluntary Statement

p 9-11 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 61 64-65 66-67

The police found several stains in the 1933 Western office and living space that

tested positive for presumptive blood Motion Ex 13 01111999 Detective Thowsen

Report p 8 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 6 Seka's blood was identified on the front

right pocket area of a pair of his Jeans and a drop of his blood was identified on a wall

being remodeled and on the sink counter 02162001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 48 49 56

57 Motion Ex 28 11171998 Crime Scene Report of 1933 Western p 2 Neither

Hamilton's nor Limanni's blood was found in 1933 Western 02162001 Trial Tr vol

1 at 46-58

The wood boards scattered on top of Hamilton's body seemed to have markings

similar to wood boards found at 1933 Western See 02232001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 40

Ammunition cartridges and empty shell casings of different calibers including

those consistent with the ones used in the murders were found in 1933 Western
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02142001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 22 Motion Ex 28 11171998 Crime Scene Report of

1933 Western p 3 02202001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 40 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 55

56 A bullet fragment was found buried in the wall that had been shot through the

couch There was no blood on this bullet fragment 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 37

Finally officers searched the dumpster behind 1933 Western however the

description of what was found varies depending on the report 02202001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 40-41 see also Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 8

9 see also Motion Ex 40 12051998 Officer Nogues Report p 2 Detective Thowsen

reported that when the officers looked in the dumpster at first it was empty but

when they searched later it contained several items of clothing and checks

purportedly belonging to Limanni 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 84 88 see also

Motion Ex 11 12101998 Detective Thowsen Report p 8-9 Officer Nogues

reported there were miscellaneous papers and trash at the bottom of the dumpster

when he arrived on the scene Motion Ex 40 12051998 Officer Nogues Report p

2 Later Officer Nogues noted several pieces of clothing including a tennis shoe

along with six inches of paper and other debris in the dumpster none of which was

there before Id at p 3
The State suggested at trial that Seka must have disposed of evidence while

the police were searching 1929 Western and 1933 Western However Seka was either

with Cerda or at the police station during the searches Motion Ex 31 11171998

Cerda Voluntary Statement p 10 Furthermore the police were at the scene

constantly continually throughout the day investigating 02142001 Trial Tr vol

2 at 35 02212001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 33 By the police officers own descriptions of

the scene it would have been nearly impossible for anyone to have put evidence in

the dumpster undetected during the searches The better explanation is that the

police did not conduct a thorough search of the dumpster when they first arrived
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H The police perform fingerprint and ballistics testing
before trial

Fingerprint analysis was conducted on several items of evidence Motion Ex

50 02171999 Fingerprint Report Latent fingerprints were identified on six of the

seven wood boards presumably used to cover Hamilton's body and on the Beck's beer

bottle recovered from where Hamilton's body was found in the desert Id
Seka's fingerprints were identified on the Miller beer bottles collected from

inside 1933 Western and the dumpster just outside his home and business in 1933

Western Id Seka's palm print was on one board his fingerprint was found on a

second board and Limanni's fingerprints were identified on one board however

additional unknown fingerprints not belonging to Seka Limanni or

Hamilton were also identified on three boards Id The fingerprints on the

Beck's beer bottle did not belong to Seka Limanni or Hamilton Id
The police conducted ballistics analysis on the various types of ammunition

found in 1929 Western and 1933 Western 5 This analysis established that at least

three of the bullets found inside 1929 Western the presumed location of Hamilton's

murder were 357 caliber 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 54 Motion Ex 37

12171998 Ballistics Report The police found four spent 357 cartridge cases in 1933

Western 02202001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 9 37 39-40 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 56

57 All the spent 357 cartridge cases in 1933 Western had the same characteristic

markings suggesting they were shot from the same firearm 02212001 Trial Tr

vol 1 at 56-57

The bullets found in Limanni's body were all 32 caliber 02212001 Trial Tr

vol 1 at 63-64 Motion Ex 36 04271999 Ballistics Report The police found two

5 A cartridge is a full round of ammunition Its main components at least for

purposes of a ballistics examination are a cartridge case and a bullet Here
references to a bullet are to the projectile that was shot out of the firearm
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full 32 caliber cartridges in 1933 Western and a single 32 bullet fragment buried in

the wall of 1933 Western that had been shot through the couch 02212001 Trial Tr

vol 1 at 37 Motion Ex 37 121798 Ballistics Report The bullet fragment had no

blood on it 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 37 The bullet fragment purportedly was

fired from a gun with a misaligned cylinder similar to a bullet found in Limanni's

body 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 63-65

The State argued at trial that the caliber of bullets and cartridge cases found

in 1933 Western connected Seka to the two murders 02232001 Trial Trans vol 1

at 55 64 02232001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 61 They argued Is it a coincidence that Pete

Limanni is killed with a 32 that Eric Hamilton is killed with a 35 7 and that both of

these kinds of ammunition some of them with very peculiar markings the 32 caliber

bullets are found inside of 1933 Western 02232001 vol 2 at 61 The State

continued to advance as evidence of guilt this bullet-caliber connection in the recent

appeal from the order granting Seka a new trial 09032020 OB at 24-25

The State also performed DNA analysis which is discussed below

1 Thomas Cramer claims Seka made an incriminating
comment about Limanni

When Seka returned to Philadelphia he reconnected with his old friend

Thomas Cramer Cramer initially learned of Limanni's murder in December 1998

from Lee Polsky a mutual friend of Seka and Limanni 02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at

48-50 Motion Ex 43 04091999 Cramer Interview p 2 Cramer was severely

addicted to drugs and frequently became physically and emotionally abusive

02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 18 During these abusive episodes his girlfriend

Margaret Daly would contact Seka for assistance in calming Cramer 02222001

Trial Tr vol 2 at 19-20 24

On January 23 1999 Daly frantically contacted Seka from the residence she

shared with Cramer to request assistance controlling Cramer 02222001 Trial Tr
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vol 2 at 19-20 24 Seka came over and Cramer became incensed At one point he

pushed Seka down the stairs 02222001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 24-25 The police arrived

and involuntarily committed Cramer to a mental institution for ten days See Motion

Ex 44 04152017 McConnell Declaration Petition Exhibit 2 02222001 Trial Tr

vol 2 at 16-17 24-26 06281999 Prelim Hearing Tr at 67

After being released from the mental institution Cramer claimed that he

pushed Seka down the stairs because Seka said Do you want me to do to you what

I did to Pete Limanm 02202001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 13-14 However in 2017 Daly

who changed her last name to McConnell signed a declaration stating that she was

present during the altercation and Seka never said that to Cramer Motion Ex 44

04152017 McConnell Declaration p 4 She believed that Cramer fabricated the

confession because he was angry with Seka for getting him committed and for

allegedly attempting to steal her affection Id at 3 Of note when Cramer spoke to

the police about Seka's statement he indicated that Seka told him he knew nothing

about the Hamilton murder Motion Ex 43 04091999 Cramer Interview p 3
J The State prosecutes Seka for the Hamilton and

Limanni murders

After law enforcement became aware of Cramer's statement an arrest warrant

was issued for Seka for the Hamilton and Lmann murders on February 26 1999

02222001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 20 In March 1999 Seka was arrested at his home in

Pennsylvania The State filed an Intent to Seek Death on July 26 1999 07291999

Notice

The jury trial occurred in February 2001 After extended deliberations lasting

nearly five full days the jury convicted Seka of first-degree murder with a deadly

weapon with respect to Hamilton second-degree murder with a deadly weapon with

respect to Limanni and two counts of robbery 03012001 Verdict After the Jury

deadlocked at the penalty phase hearing Seka waived sentencing by a jury in favor
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of being sentenced by a three-judge panel On April 26 200 1 Seka was sentenced to

life without parole on the first-degree murder conviction with an equal and

consecutive sentence of life without parole on the weapon enhancement 10 years to

life on the second-degree murder conviction with an equal and consecutive sentence

of 10 years to life on the weapon enhancement and a sentence of 35 months to 156

months on each robbery count all to be served consecutively 05092001 Judgment

of conviction The judgment of conviction was entered May 9 200 1 Id
The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of conviction on April 8

2003 04082003 Order of Affirmance On February 13 2004 Seka filed a state post

conviction petition which was denied on January 31 2005 01312005 FOFCOL

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the petition on June 8 2005

On July 22 2005 Seka filed a pro se federal habeas petition pursuant to 28 USC

2254 in federal court 07222005 Petition The Federal Public Defender was

appointed to represent him An amended petition was filed on May 18 2007 On

August 26 2008 the district court denied the petition and denied a certificate of

appealability 82608 Order The Ninth Circuit granted a certificate of appealability

but subsequently affirmed the denial of the petition Seka v McDaniel No 08-17120

Memorandum and Order dated 03142011 The US Supreme Court denied Seka's

petition for a writ of certiorari on March 5 2012

K In 2017 RMIC discovers a previously undisclosed
favorable fingerprint report for a stolen purse at 1933

Western

After the initial post-conviction proceedings new attorneys uncovered an

exculpatory previously suppressed fingerprint report

1 At trial the State tells the defense the stolen purse
is not important

As noted above the police found a purse hidden above the ceiling tiles inside

1933 Western There was 3606 still inside the purse
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The declaration in support of Seka's arrest warrant mentioned the purse It

stated a purse was discovered in the false ceiling having ID in the name Lydia

Gorzoch Investigation revealed that the purse had been taken out of her vehicle as

it was parked near the Crazy Horse 11 on Industrial after someone fired a bullet

through the window to gain entry on 11698 Motion Ex 17 02261999

Declaration of Warrant Summons at 8 A damaged lead bullet was found in the car

Motion Ex 36 04271999 Ballistics Report The declaration accused Seka of

committing a series of crimes which included the theft of the purse Id at 15 Seka

was never charged with stealing the purse The purse and the cash were returned to

Gorzoch on November 28 1998 Motion Ex 38 11231998 Property Receipt Form

The crime scene report for 1933 Western turned over during discovery

included a diagram of what was found inside 1933 Western Motion Ex 32

11171998 Crime Scene Report for 1933 Western As shown below the purse was

listed as item 15 found at 1933 Western Ex 3 1933 Western Crime Scene Diagram
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There is no indication in the crime scene report or the latent fingerprint report

related to the murder investigation that the purse had been fingerprinted or that any

latent prints in the murder case were compared to any latent prints connected to the

purse Motion Ex 32 11171998 McPhail Crime Scene Report Motion Ex 50

02171999 Latent Fingerprint Report

At trial the prosecution presented the same crime scene diagram to the Jury

However as shown below the prosecution crossed out the purse and the money

State's Trial Ex 38 crime scene diagram
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In his trial testimony Detective James Buczek discussed the items recovered

at 1933 Western After the detective mentioned that they had found Limanni's wallet

in the ceiling the prosecutor asked him And what else of significance did you

observe in 1933 Western Avenue The detective answered There was also a purse

okay The prosecutor responded Not important 02042001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 23

emphasis added The prosecutor then immediately moved on to other matters

2 In November 2017 RMIC obtains a previously
undisclosed fingerprint report

On January 3 2010 while his first federal petition was pending in the Ninth

Circuit Seka sent a letter to the Rocky Mountain Innocence Center RMIC asking

if they would help him Ex 15 Springer Dec T 3 In September 2012 RMIC began

investigating Seka's case Ex 15 Springer Dec T 4 RMIC is a small non-profit

organization with limited staff and resources that relies upon a succession of law

students to perform a great deal of the work on innocence cases Ex 15 Springer
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Dec TT 2 5 For their work on Seka's case RMIC compiled documents conducted a

comprehensive investigation and did work in the field which included a trip to the

East Coast to interview witnesses Ex 15 Springer Dec T 6 7 RMIC continuously

expended resources on the case from the moment it began its investigation until

RMIC's representation ended See Ex 15 Springer Dec TT 6-14 Ex 12 London Dec

T 1
Kurt London worked as a legal intern and then an attorney at RMIC from 2014

until 2018 Ex 12 London Dec T 1 He worked on Seka's case the entire time he

was with RMIC Id Among other things he participated in the investigation and

submitted public records requests Ex 12 London Dec TT 3-13

RMIC began its investigation pursuing non-DNA avenues Ex 15 Springer

Dec T 7 However as advancements in touch DNX progressed RMIC started to

consider post-conviction DNA testing of physical evidence left at the crime scenes

Ex 15 Springer Dec T 8 RMIC reviewed evidence at the courthouse in 2014 and

decided they needed further documents from Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Department LVMPD to determine whether to seek DNA testing Id However

RMIC had a difficult time obtaining documents from LVMPD RMIC's experience was

that LVMPD demanded a subpoena before turning over documents Ex 15 Springer

Dec T 9
On February 17 2016 RMIC sent a Nevada Public Records Act request to

LVMPD for all documents related to the homicide investigations under event number

98 1116-0043 Ex 12 London Dec T 2 The purpose was to further research the

potential for exculpatory DNA testing

On May 5 2016 RMIC received some police reports related to the homicide

investigation Ex 12 London Dec T 3 However they believed that many

documents related to the investigation had not been provided RMIC submitted an
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updated request listing numerous documents that they believed had not been turned

over Id
On June 6 2016 London spoke to Gorzoch as part of RMIC's ongoing

investigation Ex 12 London Dec T 4 Gorzoch indicated that she was notified when

the purse was found at the scene of a murder Id The police returned the purse to

her with cash still inside of it Id She believed fingerprint testing had been done on

the purse Id
On June 19 2017 RMIC filed a petition in the Eighth Judicial District Court

in Clark County seeking DNA testing of items in Seka's case 06192017 DNA

Petition This petition is discussed in more detail below

At some point during his review of the documents related to the homicide

investigation London noticed a different case number 98 1106-0539 than the one

related to the homicides Ex 12 London Dec T 6 This case number was for the

stolen purse Id
On August 21 2017 RMIC submitted a public records request to LVMPD for

all documents and photos related to the stolen purse case 98 1106-0539 Ex 12

London Dec T 7 Ex 9 08212017 PRA request The request was broad and sought

among other things any fingerprint or lab reports Id On September 11 and 13

2017 London made calls to LVMPD following up on the request He was told LVMPD

would be responding soon Ex 12 London Dec T 8
On September 15 2017 LVMPD officially responded that they were only

authorized to provide the Incident Report which they later did provide Ex 12

London Dec T 9 They indicated that they had requested detective approval to

release any laboratory reports Id
On September 19 2017 the state district court granted the petition seeking

DNA testing and authorized the parties to conduct DNA testing 09192017 Order
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The court's order required LVMPD to preserve and inventory any relevant evidence

Id at 2
That same day London received a call from Tasha in the LVMPD Photo Lab

about the public records request related to the purse case Ex 12 London Dec

11 She stated she needed a subpoena to look for the photos Id
On October 23 2017 London followed up on the documents that required

detective approval Ex 12 London Dec T 13 He was told the request was on the

subpoena desk because LVMPD had received a subpoena from RMIC Id London

believes LVMPD misunderstood the order granting DNA testing and requiring

preservation of evidence LMVPD may have believed the order was in fact a

subpoena Id
On November 7 2017 RMIC received a latent fingerprint report related to the

purse case Ex 12 London Dec T 15 This report indicated that Seka's prints did

not match the latent prints found on the purse Motion Ex 35 03091999

Fingerprint Report in 98 1106-0539 The fingerprint examination had been ordered

by the same detective Thowsen who was investigating the murders Compare 1d

with Motion Ex 11 12101998 Thowsen Report

This fingerprint report was never turned over to the defense In his work on

the case London had reviewed the files from Seka's prior attorneys Ex 12 London

Dec T 15 Those files included the discovery materials turned over by the State Id
This document was not in any of these files Id London had never seen this

document before Id
A ballistics report dated April 28 1999 which listed the case numbers for both

the murders and the stolen purse indicated that a criminalist had examined the

damaged lead bullet found in Gorzoch's car He found that it was a nominal 38357

caliber bullet Furthermore the class characteristics found on this bullet were
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consistent with the class characteristics found on two of the bullets found at 1929

Western Motion Ex 36 04271999 Ballistics Report

L In the state court proceedings the parties conduct new
DNA testing and receive exonerating results

As mentioned above on June 19 2017 Seka through RMIC filed a petition in

state court seeking DNA testing of physical evidence found in Seka's case 06192017

DNA Petition He argued the DNA testing done before trial was limited to old PCR

testing so only a small fraction of the physical evidence was tested Id at 8-9 Due

to scientific advances since the time of trial the physical evidence which included

potential touch DNA could undergo more advanced DNA testing namely highly

sensitive STR testing 09052017 Reply at 2-3 14

On September 19 2017 the state court granted the petition It authorized

DNA testing and ordered the State to inventory any possible items for testing

9192019 Order In two later orders the state court ordered DNA testing on several

items 02152018 Order 01242019 Order

While testing was ordered on evidence in both the Limanni and Hamilton

cases the only viable results came from evidence in the Hamilton case The most

consequential result came from the DNA testing of Hamilton's fingernails That

testing showed for the first time that foreign DNA was present and Seka was

excluded as the contributor

Hamilton's fingernail clippings Fingernail clippings from Hamilton's left

and right hands were collected at the autopsy There was blood on the fingernails

Before trial PCR-RFLP testing was performed on only the left-hand clippings Seka

was excluded as the contributor of the blood and Hamilton was included 02162001

Trial Tr vol 2 at 11 12 However any touch DNA on the fingernails was not tested

Motion Ex 48 12181998 DNA Report
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In 2018 STR DNA testing was done on the right and left-hand fingernail

clippings This testing was able to analyze epithelial cells that is skin cells

12142018 Hearing Tr at 61 For the first time the testing revealed a mix of two

DNA profiles The examiner assumed Hamilton was one of the contributors which

meant a foreign DNA profile was found on Hamilton's fingernail clippings

on both his left and right hands Motion Ex 49 07242018 DNA Report The

foreign profile was the same for both hands 12142018 Hearing Tr at 28-29 Seka

was fully excluded as contributor of this foreign profile Motion Ex 49

07242018 DNA Report

Marlboro cigarette butt This item was collected next to Hamilton's body

PCR-RFLP DNA testing was performed on it in 1998 but it was unsuccessful

Motion Ex 48 12181998 DNA Results 02162001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 20 The 2018

STR DNA testing produced a full DNA profile and excluded both Hamilton and Seka

as contributors Motion Ex 51 03192019 DNA Results

M The state district court grants a new trial but the

Nevada Supreme Court reverses

At the conclusion of the DNA testing Seka moved for a new trial on November

11 2019 arguing that the new DNA results absolve Mr Seka of responsibility for

these murders 11192019 Motion for a New Trial The state district court granted

the motion and ordered a new trial on both murders 03242020 Order However in

a published opinion a three-justice panel of the Nevada Supreme Court reversed

07082021 NSC Opinion The court denied en banc reconsideration over a three

justice dissent 1072021 NSC Order Remittitur issued on November 2 2021

11022021 Remittitur

GROUNDS FOR RELIEF
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Ground One Seka's right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution was
violated when the State suppressed an exonerating and
material latent fingerprint report US Const Amends V
and XIV

The Statement of Facts section and the statement regarding Ground Two are

incorporated and adopted into this ground for relief as though fully set forth herein

as are the responses to questions 17 and 19 NRCP 10c

The prosecution's suppression of evidence favorable to an accused violates

federal due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment

irrespective of the prosecutor's good or bad faith Brady v Maryland 373 US 83 87

1963 To establish a Brady violation a party must demonstrate that 1 the evidence

at issue is favorable to the accused 2 the evidence was suppressed by the State and

3 the suppression of that evidence was prejudicial Huebler 128 Nev at 198 275

P3d at 95 Comstock v Humphries 786 F3d 701 708 9th Cir 2015

Brady evidence is material when there is a reasonable probability that had

the evidence been disclosed to the defense the result of the proceeding would have

been different Kyles v Whitley 514 US 419 434 1995 A showing of materiality

does not require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure of the suppressed

evidence would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's acquittal Id In other

words a reasonable probability does not mean that the defendant would more likely

than not have received a different verdict with the evidence only that the likelihood

of a different result is great enough to undermine confidence in the outcome of the

trial Smith v Cain 565 US 73 75-76 2012 quoting Kyles 514 US at 434

Reversal is required upon a showing that the favorable evidence could reasonably be

taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in

the verdict Id at 435
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A The State suppressed the latent fingerprint report in the

purse case

The prosecution's duty to disclose evidence extends beyond evidence within the

prosecutor's actual possession It includes evidence within the prosecution's

constructive possession which includes evidence known to law enforcement agencies

working with the prosecution Kyles v UWItley 514 US at 437

Here the latent fingerprint report was patently in the State's possession The

stolen purse was a part of the investigation into the murders The investigating

detective Thowsen discussed the purse in his December 10 1998 report indicating

that he investigated the purse after it had been recovered at 1933 See 11192019

Motion for a New Trial Ex 11 at 13 The detective then mentioned the same

information about the purse in his declaration in support of an arrest warrant

Moreover the declaration accused Seka of committing a series of crimes which

included the theft of the purse See 11192019 Motion for New Trial Ex 17 at 8
Clearly the stolen purse case was a part of this case from the beginning providing

the State actual knowledge of any documents connected to that case

Furthermore the latent fingerprint report was well within the knowledge of

law enforcement personnel working on this case The investigating detective on the

murders was the detective who ordered the latent fingerprint report in the

purse case In fact the prints on the purse were compared against the relevant people

in the murder cases Seka Limanni and Hamilton It was clear the report was done

to try to establish a link between the purse and the murders The same Latent Print

Examiner Fred Boyd conducted the fingerprint analysis with respect to the murders

and the purse case See 11192019 Motion for New Trial Exs 35 50 Thus the

prosecution at the very least had constructive possession of this document

This fingerprint report was not turned over to the defense The defense did not

see this report until November 2017 after the state district court granted Seka's DNA
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petition and ordered the State to inventory any relevant evidence Prior to its

disclosure in 2017 the defense had never seen it It was not a part of the discovery

material contained in Seka's trial counsel's files

No argument can be made that the defense could have or should have

discovered this report on its own The defense was never put on notice that this

fingerprint report existed There is nothing in the discovery material indicating that

latent prints were obtained from the purse or that fingerprint comparisons were

made Neither the crime scene report nor the latent fingerprint report in the murder

case indicates that latent prints were obtained from the purse or that they were

compared to Seka's fingerprints

Moreover the defense had no onus to investigate the purse because the State

led the defense to believe the purse was not relevant The prosecutor took active steps

to send this message In fact the prosecutor crossed the purse off the crime scene

diagram shown to the jury The prosecutor also specifically stated at trial that the

purse was not important The US Supreme Court has held that it is reasonable for

the defense to rely on representations from the State that no Brady evidence exists

and as a result not conduct any further investigation of that evidence Banks V

Dretke 540 US 668 692-93 2004 Strickler v Greene 527 US 263 283-84 1999 6

That is precisely what happened here The prosecution directly indicated the purse

was not important to the murder cases It was reasonable for Seka to rely on the

prosecutor's statement and not spend resources investigating

6 See also Banks 540 US at 695-96 Our decisions lend no support to the

notion that defendants must scavenge for hints of undisclosed Brady material when
the prosecution represents that all such material has been disclosed The State

here nevertheless urges in effect that the prosecution can lie and conceal and the

prisoner still has the burden to discover the evidence so long as the potential

existence of a prosecutorial misconduct claim might have been detected A rule

thus declaring prosecutor may hide defendant must seek is not tenable in a system

constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process
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Seka only fortuitously obtained the fingerprint report in 2017 when the district

court granted his DNA petition This report was turned over only as result of LVMPD

apparently misinterpreting the order granting DNA testing as a subpoena

Accordingly the State suppressed the fingerprint report

B The fingerprint report was both favorable and material

The fingerprint report was favorable The police had originally alleged that

Seka had stolen the purse But the latent fingerprint report showed that Seka was

not the contributor to the fingerprints found on the purse It is clear evidence showing

that he did not steal the purse That is obviously favorable

The fingerprint report is also material The fingerprint report exonerates Seka

of stealing the purse The report shows that Seka as well as Hamilton and Limanni

were excluded as the source of the fingerprints connected to the purse

Just as important a comparison of the deformed lead bullet found in Gorzoch's

car and two bullets found in the Hamilton case established a likely connection

between the two crimes The class characteristics found on the bullets were

consistent potentially linking them to the same gun If Seka did not steal the purse

then he very likely did not commit the Hamilton murder due to this ballistics

connection This evidence standing alone would raise a reasonable doubt in any

reasonable juror's mind as to whether Seka committed the Hamilton murder

And this evidence becomes even more impactful in light of the weak evidence

of guilt presented at trial The State's case on the Hamilton murder was entirely

circumstantial causing the jury to deliberate for five days There was no evidence

found at 1929 Western directly tying him to the crime7 Unidentified fingerprints

7 In his report the fingerprint examiner indicated that he compared the latent

prints found at 1929 Western to Seka's prints and there was no identification

Motion Ex 50 02171999 Fingerprint Report at 1 2 4 He did not discuss these

findings in his trial testimony
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were discovered on the wood at the location where Hamilton's body was found 8 The

State presented no real motive 9 There was no evidence that Hamilton was robbed

given that his property was left at 1929 Western and the Jail records showed he had

no money In such a weak circumstantial case evidence affirmatively showing that

Seka was not connected to the crime is highly material

Furthermore this evidence fully undermines one of the State's main

arguments against Seka The State's case relied almost entirely on the purported

connections between evidence related to the Hamilton murder and evidence found in

or connected to 1933 Western 10
Specifically the State argued that cartridge cases

found in 1933 Western were the same caliber as bullets found at the murder scene in

1929 Western Hamilton's blood was found in a Cinergi truck The keys for the

Cinergi vehicles were kept in 1933 Western The State argued that due to these

connections between the murder and 1933 Western Seka was guilty because he had

control over 1933 Western 02232001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 51

8 The wood also had Seka's and Limanni's fingerprints It is unremarkable that

their fingerprints appear on this lumber considering it was taken from the lumber

being used to build the humidor Indeed Limanni couldn't have been involved in the

murder as he had already gone missing As such Limanni's fingerprints must have

come from his handling of the wood to build the humidor Seka's fingerprints would

have been on there for the same reason as Limanni's

9 The State's original theory appeared to be that Seka's motive for murdering
Hamilton was financial However the trial evidence didn't support this theory as

Hamilton had no money when he was released from custody right before the murder

and his belongings were found at 1929 Western Thus the State turned to the bizarre

and argued without any supporting evidence that Hamilton must have been present

when Limanni was murdered and Seka killed Hamilton to tie up a loose end

XIApp 2458 To note Hamilton was in Jail on November 6 the same day that Cerda

saw Limanni still alive

10 Beyond the evidence found in 1933 Western and the truck the only

remaining circumstantial evidence was the paper in Hamilton's pocket with Seka's

name and the Cinergi phone number on it Because Hamilton had worked at 1933

Western and Seka had asked him to reach out again if he needed more work it is

unremarkable that he had Seka's name and the Cinergi number with him
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However the existence of the purse inside 1933 Western provides concrete

physical evidence that someone else had access to 1933 Western And this other

person not only had access to 1933 Western but was hiding crimes inside 1933

Western This means that the evidence found in 1933 Western-including keys to the

truck in which the police found Hamilton's blood-can actually be used to connect the

purse thief This evidence fully undermines a central tenet of the State's case

Just as important the State took steps to exclude the purse from the jury's

consideration knowing that the purse pointed the finger away from Seka In fact the

fingerprint report plus the class consistency between the bullets provided stronger

evidence of Seka's innocence than the circumstantial evidence the State presented at

trial of Seka's guilt At trial the State argued that Seka was guilty because the same

caliber of ammunition was found in 1933 Western and 1929 Western Specifically

four 357 caliber cartridge cases were found in 1933 Western while three 357 caliber

bullets were found in 1929 Western

However the examiner's class consistency finding between the purse bullet

and two of the bullets found in 1929 Western goes beyond just caliber which is solely

the diameter of the ammunition The examiner made the connection between the

purse bullet and the bullets from 1929 Western based upon markings found on the

bullets themselves The criminalist testified that markings on bullets can be used to

connect the bullets to a make or model or type of firearm 02212001 Trial Tr vol 1

at 52 The criminalist's reference to class characteristics found on these bullets

was clearly to these markings because the examiner listed in his reports what specific

firearms possessed the class characteristics found on these bullets See Motion Ex

36 04271999 Ballistics Report Motion Ex 37 12171998 Ballistics Report

Thus this class consistency from the markings potentially connects them to the

same gun See Motion Ex 36 04271999 Ballistics Report Motion Ex 37

12171998 Ballistics Report at 2 in reference to the bullets found at 1929 Western
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These bulletsbullet fragments have consistent class characteristics and could have

been fired from a single firearm That is a stronger connection than simply the

caliber similarity the State argued at trial

By removing the purse from the jury's consideration it bolstered the State's

circumstantial case The exonerating Brady evidence undermines the very

foundation of the State's circumstantial case The failure to disclose the exonerating

fingerprint report undermines confidence in the verdict as to the Hamilton murder

and robbery

The report is also material as to the Limanni murder and robbery If the Brady

evidence undermines confidence in the verdict at to the Hamilton murder it

necessarily undermines confidence in the verdict as to the Limanni murder The

State's theory from the day of Seka's arrest through trial was that these two crimes

were part of a pattern of conduct 02232001 Trial Tr vol 2 at 67 The Nevada

Supreme Court even adopted the State's joinder argument viewing them as part of

a common scheme or plan 04082003 Order of Affirmance at 10 Thus the report

is material as to the Limanni counts because the murders were prosecuted as part of

the same scheme

Further the new evidence undermines the circumstantial connection to 1933

Western for the Limanni murder as it does for the Hamilton murder It is clear that

someone besides Seka had access to 1933 Western and the Cinergi vehicles Just as

with Hamilton this other person could be the one responsible for the ballistics

evidence found in 1933 Western that was consistent with the Limanni murder This

other person also would have access to the van in which Limanni s blood was found

The State's case against Seka on the Limanni murder was also a weak

circumstantial case Indeed the State could never definitively establish where

Limanni was even murdered Evidence discovered during post-conviction review

contradicts the State's arguments as to motive for the Limanni murder including
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that Limanni had been mistreating Seka There are many reasons to disbelieve the

purported confession to Cramer Cramer was mentally ill and had an obvious motive

for harming Seka In addition Cramer's girlfriend was present and did not hear Seka

make any type of confession

Finally there were far more likely suspects for the murder including a violent

and dangerous individual who had invested in the cigar shop and disappeared shortly

after Hamilton's body was found

Accordingly the suppressed favorable fingerprint report was material as to

both the Hamilton and Limanni murders and robberies The petition should be

granted and the judgment of conviction vacated

Ground Two Seka's conviction and sentence are invalid because new
evidence including exonerating DNA evidence establishes

he is actually innocent of first-degree murder second

degree murder and robbery US Const Amends V V1 V111

and XIV Nev Const art 1 1 6 and S

The Statement of Facts section and the statement regarding Ground One are

incorporated and adopted into this ground for relief as though fully set forth herein

as are the responses to questions 17 and 19 NRCP 10c

A Legal standard

The US and Nevada Constitutions both independently prohibit the conviction

of someone who is actually innocent That is true as a matter of procedural and

substantive due process as well as the right to a fair trial not to be subject to cruel

and unusual punishment and to state guaranteed inalienable rights See US Const

amends V VI VIII XIV Nev Const art 1 1 inalienable rights clause Nev

11 Harrison described Limanni as like a con artist 02142001 Trial Tr vol

1 at 90-91 She thought his disappearance had something to do with the mafia

02142001 Trial Tr vol 1 at 90-91
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Const art 1 6 cruel or unusual punishments clause Nev Const art 1 8 due

process clause

Although it has yet to resolve this issue squarely the US Supreme Court has

given strong indication that the imprisonment and especially the execution of an

innocent person violates the Constitution In Herrera v Collins 506 US 390 1993

the Court assumed without deciding that a truly persuasive demonstration of actual

innocence made after trial would render the execution of a defendant

unconstitutional and warrant federal habeas relief Id at 417 see also In re Davis

130 SCt 1 2009 remanding original habeas petition for a hearing on the

petitioner's innocence House v Bell 547 US 518 554-55 2006 Jones V Taylor

763 F3d 1242 1246 9th Cir 2014 assuming without deciding that Herrera claims

are available in non-capital habeas cases Berry 131 Nev at 967 n3 363 P3d at

1154 n3 explaining that the Nevada Supreme Court has not yet addressed whether

and if so when a free-standing actual innocence claim exists A majority of Justices

in Herrera would have explicitly held that proof of actual innocence warrants relief

See Carriger v Stewart 132 F3d 463 476 9th Cir 1996 The Ninth Circuit has

repeatedly assumed a freestanding actual innocence claim is cognizable in a federal

habeas petition See eg Ayala v Chappell 829 F3d 1081 1116-17 9th Cir 2016

Jones v Taylor 763 F3d 1242 1246 9th Cir 2014 Boyde v Brown 404 F3d 1159

1168 9th Cir 2005 as amended on rehg 421 F3d 1154 9th Cir 2005 Jackson v

Calderon 211 F3d 1148 1164-65 9th Cir 2000

The Ninth Circuit has also elaborated on a petitioner's burden of proof on a

Herrera claim In Carriger the court said that to be entitled to relief a habeas

petitioner asserting a freestanding innocence claim must go beyond demonstrating

doubt about his guilt and must affirmatively prove that he is probably innocent 132

F3d at 477-78 citing Herrera 506 US at 442-44 Blackmun J dissenting accord

Herrera 506 US at 399-400 407 n6 That standard should be persuasive to this
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Court This Court may also find that the standard for asserting a freestanding

innocence claim is an even less onerous one than that expressed in Carringer either

by interpreting the provisions of the US Constitution discussed above or those of the

Nevada Constitution See eg Berry 131 Nev at 966 363 P3d at 1154 explaining

that for miscarriage of justice gateway petitioner must show it is more likely than

not no reasonable juror would have convicted in light of the new evidence Berkson

v LePome 126 Nev 492 501 n5 245 P3d 560 566 n5 2010 indicating that the

Nevada Constitution may in some instances be more protective of rights Of course

the US Constitution provides a floor of protection

B Seka can affirmatively show he is probably innocent

Previously unavailable evidence affirmatively shows Seka is probably innocent

of the Hamilton murder The recent DNA evidence establishes Seka's innocence The

previously unavailable DNA results show that a foreign DNA profile was found on

Hamilton's right and left fingernails It was the same profile on both hands Seka was

excluded as the contributor of this DNA

This exclusion alone establishes that Seka is innocent by clear and convincing

evidence There is every reason to believe the murderer left his DNA on Hamilton's

fingernails The murderer removed Hamilton's jacket from his body and left it at the

scene before dragging Hamilton's body from 1929 Western to the parking lot The

murderer also likely dragged Hamilton by the wrist or at least grabbed Hamilton

near his wrist at some point because Hamilton's bracelet found at 1929 Western

had been pulled off his arm leaving an injury on Hamilton's wrist All of these actions

could have potentially led to the murderer's skin cells being left on Hamilton's

fingernails See 12142018 Hearing Tr at 23 DNA examiner testified Any kind of

contact with somebody else may end up with your DNA underneath there

This new DNA evidence is powerful exonerating evidence Any reasonable

juror would find reasonable doubt based on this DNA exclusion
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Further Seka was excluded from the evidence collected at the site where

Hamilton's body was found The police originally deemed this evidence to be of

evidentiary value and attempted to test it before trial With not much success

However the new DNA testing of the cigarette butt found right next to Hamilton's

body excludes Seka as a contributor When viewed along with the fingernail evidence

the DNA exclusions all point in the same direction-away from Seka

The same conclusion can be drawn from the latent fingerprint report As

discussed in Ground One this report in conjunction with the ballistics examination

established that someone other than Seka stole the purse found at 1933 Western and

that person was likely the one who committed the Hamilton murder

The new evidence together presents a highly compelling case for innocence

And it becomes even more compelling when viewed in light of the weak

circumstantial case against Seka on the Hamilton case as discussed in detail in

Ground One The new evidence not only strongly points to Seka's innocence directly

but it would also cause a jury to draw a different set of inferences regarding the

circumstantial evidence the State presented leading to a conclusion that Seka had

nothing to do with the Hamilton murder and robbery

Accordingly Seka can establish that he is probably innocent of the Hamilton

murder and robbery

Seka can also establish he is actually innocent of the Limanni murder and

robbery If Seka is innocent of the Hamilton murder he is also innocent of the

Limanni murder As discussed in detail in Ground One the State argued that the

murders were part of a plan or scheme Showing innocence on one necessarily

establishes innocence on the other For the same reasons discussed in the materiality

section in Ground One the evidence as a whole shows Seka's innocence of the

Limanni murder and robbery
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In sum the writ should be granted and the judgment of conviction should be

vacated

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Accordingly John Seka respectfully requests that this Court

1 Issue a writ of habeas corpus to have John Seka brought before the

Court so that he may be discharged from his unconstitutional confinement

2 Conduct an evidentiary hearing at which proof may be offered

concerning the allegations in this amended petition and any defenses that may be

raised by respondents and

3 Grant such other and further relief as in the interests of justice may be

appropriate

Dated November 1 2022

Respectfully submitted

Rene L Valladares

Federal Public Defender

Isl Jonathan M Kirshbaum

Jonathan M Kirshbaum

Assistant Federal Public Defender
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VERIFICATION

Under penalty of perjury the undersigned declares that he is counsel for the

petitioner named in the foregoing petition and knows the contents thereof that the

pleading is true of her own knowledge except as to those matters stated on

information and belief and as to such matters she believes them to be true

Petitioner personally authorized undersigned counsel to commence this action

Dated November 1 2022

Respectfully submitted

Rene L Valladares

Federal Public Defender

Isl Jonathan M Kirshbaum

Jonathan M Kirshbaum

Assistant Federal Public Defender

53

APP2820



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on November 1 2022 1 electronically filed the foregoing

with the Clerk of the Eighth Judicial District Court by using the Court's electronic

filing system

Participants in the case who are registered users in the electronic filing

system will be served by the system and include Steven Wolfson

Steven Wolfson clarkcountyda com Motions clarkcountyda com

I further certify that some of the participants in the case are not registered

electronic filing system users I have mailed the foregoing document by First-Class

Mail potage pre-paid or have dispatched it to a third-party commercial carrier for

delivery within three calendars days to the following person

John Joseph Seka 69025 Attorney General

High Desert State Prison 555 E Washington Ave
PO Box 650 Ste 3900

Indian Springs NV 89070 Las Vegas NV 89101

Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Ave
Las Vegas NV 89101

Isl Rosana Aporta

An Employee of the Federal Public

Defender District of Nevada
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Rene L Valladares

Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 11479

Jonathan M Kirshbaum
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 12908C
Shelly Richter

Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 16352C
411 E Bonneville Ave Ste 250
Las Vegas Nevada 89101

702 388-6577

Jonathan-Kirshbaum fdorg

Attorneys For Petitioner John Joseph Seka

10 EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

11 CLARK COUNTY

12

13 John Joseph Seka
Case No

14 Petitioner 99C159915

15 V Dept No XXV

16 Calvin Johnson Warden
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Petitioner John Seka submits the following exhibits in support of his Petition

for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction

No Date Document Court Case

1 11051998 LVMPD Incident Report for NA NA
No 98-1106-0539

2 11171998 Evidence Photos Purse NA NA

3 11171998 LVMPD Crime Scene NA NA
Diagram for 1933 Western

4 11181998 Phone Records for John Seka NA NA

5 02172016 RMIC Records Request in 98 NA NA
1116-0443

6 03292016 LVMPD Response to RMIC NA NA
Records Request in 98-1116
0443

7 07262016 RMIC Supplemental Records NA NA
Request in 98-1116-0443

8 08012016 LVMPD Response to RMIC NA NA
Supplemental Records

Request

9 08212017 RMIC Records Request in 98 NA NA
1106-0539

10 09152017 LVMPD Response to RMIC NA NA
Records Request in 98-1106
0539

11 10242017 Email to LVMPD re Records NA NA
Request in 98-1106-0539

12 10032022 Declaration of Kurt London NA NA

13 10062022 Declaration of Ed Heddy NA NA

14 10062022 Declaration of John Seka NA NA

172022 Declaration of Jennifer NA NA
Springer
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Dated November 1 2022

Respectfully submitted

RENE L VALLADARES
Federal Public Defender

Isl Jonathan M Kirshbaum

JONATHAN M KIRSHBAUM
Assistant Federal Public Defender
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NEV REV STAT 23913 030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not

contain the social security number of any person

DATED this November 1 2022

Isl Jonathan M Kirshbaum

JONATHAN M KIRSHBAUM
Assistant Federal Public Defender
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on November 1 2022 1 electronically filed the foregoing

with the Clerk of the Eighth Judicial District Court by using the Court's electronic

filing system

Participants in the case who are registered users in the electronic filing system

will be served by the system and include Alexander Chen

Alexander Chenclarkcountyda com Motions clarkcountyda com

I further certify that some of the participants in the case are not registered

electronic filing system users I have mailed the foregoing document by First-Class

Mail postage pre-paid or have dispatched it to a third-party commercial carrier for

delivery within three calendar days to the following people

John Joseph Seka 69025 Charles L Finlayson

High Desert State Prison Office of the Attorney General

PO Box 650 100 North Carson Street

Indian Springs NV 89070 Carson City NV 89701-4717

Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Ave
Las Vegas NV 89101

Isl Rosana Aporta

An Employee of the

Federal Public Defender

District of Nevada
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LVMPD Report Printed by k2434r

ent

cvent

ILLVSBI106000539

Premise Type

DTHER PREMISE

Building ApartmentSufte

County

EARK
Postal Code

Occurred Start Daterrime

11051998 1030

Dispatch Daterrime

00000000 0000

Contact Nature

RRES7YesNo
Substance

on 111898

Form Type Report type

FIELD INCIDENT RE P CRIMINAL

Admom
city

State Province

PVADA

Sector Beat

r12

Occurred End Daterrime

1998 0700

Arrival Daterrime

PO00 0000 0000

Unknown

Yes No Unknow-n

iary Officer

Jurisdiction

P-4-5

CITY OF LAS VEGAS

Approval Status

UomesI

Gang Related

Yes

Reported DatefTime

PO 000000 0000

Report Taken DateTime

11061998 0952

No 0 Unknown

Citizen Follow-up

Yes
Detail

RURGLARY

Disposition

Case Status

P CLOSED

Approved Daterrime First Approved Date Solvability

No N P

00000006-0-0 00 X 00010000 0000

Statutes

Counts Attempted Conspired Statute code Description

1 BURG2 BURGLARY-AUTO

0 YVEAP202 L85A DISCHARGE A FIREARM AT OR INTO

Officers

Event Association Emp Badge Name

PRIMARY ASSIGNED OFFICEq t 0-051
1 ARVICK ALBERTS

SPECIALIST 4793 SAMS JE I K

PRIMAR ESPONDING OFFIC 165094

RESPONDING OFFICfV-7 P539

olvablllty
Factors

Solvability Factor

CRIMINALISTICS WORK WAS PERFORMED

PURRIS MATTHEW RAYMONb

FARRELL JOHN C

PSBORNE PAUL G

iJ

Page 1 of

S

Sum of weights

APP2828



LVMPD Report Printed by k243 on 111898

Persons

Person Primary Key Person Event Association Vehicle

8751R 1 CTIM

Means of Attack

f I-XrresTe aace ne r Mie U FJuv eni re

Last Name First Name Middle Name
P6Tff0 CH

FYD LA
I F IName Prefix Name Suffix Marital Status

I

I E
I

I

Social Security Blood Type
Fingerprint Code

6839
1 1

1 1
Driver s License State Driver's License Driver's Li E

E

cense xpires

I 1
1 070070

Birth Date Age Low Age High

R5 5
1 R

Race

WHIT5j-CAU

Sex
Hair Color Eye Color

CASIAN FEMALE ROWNP ER UI I

Height Low Height High Weight Low Weight High

M6

Address
Building ApartmentSuite

city

AS VEGAS
County

otate Province

NEVAUT
Postal Code

Co un t ry Sector Beat

Phone Type I Phone 1
Extension 1

RESIDENCE
i

Phone Type 2 Phone 2
Extension 2

O cupaon
Employer School

STUD

W ork Scedule Days Off

City of Birth
State of Birth

L V1sT0
r1j

Departure Date Summons
00 0pq 000

LSFaFeffi-e-nF05Fa-in-e-d Citation

L Can lu SU506i

Names

Last Name

GORZOCH

Additional IDs

ID Type

SSN

Middle Name

ID Number

First Name

LYDIA

State

Pref

Exp

b70-1
L110
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LVMPD Report Printed by k2434r on 11 1898

Persons

Birth Dates

Birth Date

0097-3
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LVdPD Report Printed by k24341

Vehicles

Vehicle Primary Key Vehicle Type

0036301 lAutomobile

Event Association

Recovered Date

00 0000

Year

1994

VIN

PAJHX1748RC687349

Engine Make

Make

PAGUAR

Engine Model

SeriaW

License Type License

REGULAR PASSENO PXSY796

Style

4-DOOR
t

Vehicle Length

1ax of Passengers

Primary Color

Vehicle Height

Vehicle

Vehicle Status

of Passengers

on 111898

Juv Family member

Model

Engine Sedal

I

Horsepower

Propulsion Type

License State

rALIFORNIA

Body Material

License Expires

911999

Vehicle Width

of Axles

Secondary Color

POLD WI-D

Identifying Marks

Value

300

WVS Notified Daterrime

Condition

Tertiary Color

0LD

Keys in Vehicid

WVS Notified By

00 0000 0000
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LVMPD Report Printed by k2434n

Vehicles

on 111898

Owner insurance

Registered Owner Name

PORZOCH LYDIA F

d Owner SSN
Registered Owner DOB

111111111111111111111 839 973

R O Address

RO CityState Postal

ROSAMOND CA 93560L
R O Phone 1 R O Phone 2
ONE31 2

RO Insurance Co RO Policy

RO Agent Name R O Agent Phone

I

Legal Owner Name

LO Address

LO CityState Postal

I

t L

LO Phone 1 LO Phone 2

LO Insurance Co LO Policy

LO Agent Name LO Agent Phone

I

Driver Insurance Co Driver Policy

Driver Agent Name Driver Agent Phone

Payments Currenf

Vehicle Features

Vehicle Feature

BUCKET SEATS

SUNROOF

TINTED WINDOWS

FRONTBUMPER

STICKER ON WINDOW

BROKEN WINDOWS

REAR BUMPER

APP2832



LVNiPD Report Printed by k2434r on 111898 Page 6 of 9
Rodus Operandi

Against Persons

GeneW Premise

AgafnstProperty

FNGLOT

Surround Area

MIDDLE OF BLOCK

Entry Location

IDE

Safe Entry

Inspectress

Exit Point

DOOR
I

Entry Tool

FIREARM

JDE WINDOW

Suspect Action I Suspect Action 2 Suspect Action 3

MALICIOUS DAMAGr

Additional Factor 1 Additional Factor 2 Additional Factor 3

Maid

Relationship To Suspect

NONE

Victim Condition

Suspect Solicited

Sex Crime 1

Vehicle Involvement

Property

Property

Entry Point

Entry Method

PMASH GRAB

EFEEEuipi0e

Specific Premise

Vehicle Entry

Electronic locks

Pre-incident Contact

Victim Location

PN THE PREMISES

Suspect Pretended to Be

Sex Crime 2

Article Type

Make Brand

Gun Type

Securities Type

Model Name

Caliber

Denomination

Sex Crime 3 Sex Crime 4

Event Association Property Type UCR Code

1STOLEN

Color

Barrel Length

Issuer

Recovered Date Person

00000000

Suspect Action 4

I

Additional Factor 4

J Video surveillancU

Suspect Action

PURSE

Serial

OAN

Issue Date

00000000

MISCELLANEOUS 810

Description

PURSE
I

Condition

Quantity Oty Units

11-00

Value

P 00

APP2833



LVMPD Report Printed by 2434 on 111898
Page 7 of 9

Property

roperty Article Type Event Association Property Type UCR Code
2

MLLET PISCELLANEOUS BIO
Make Brand Model Name Color Serial

Description

VALLET W MIF71D N
Gun Type Caliber Barrel Length OAN Condition

I
I

Securities Type Denomination Issuer Issue Date Quantity Qty Units

I

I PO 00 0000 LO0

Recovered Date Person
Value

O000000P
11 300

Property Article Type Event Association Property Type UCR Code

STOLEN PS CURRENCY PURRENCY NOTES
Make Brand ModeVName Color Serial Description

US CURRENCY
Gun Type Caliber Barrel Length OAN Condition

Securities Type Denomination Issuer Issue Date
Quantity Qty Units

CASH
PO 000000 1

100
Recovered Date Person Value

JO000000

Property

Make Brand

Gun Type

Article Type

10000

Event Association Property Type UCR Code

JPTOLEN
Model Name

Caliber

Securities Type

CAHS

Recovered Date

Denomination

Person

00000000

Color Serial

PURRENCY NOTE
Description

JS CURRENCY

Barrel Length

Issuer

OAN

Issue Date

PO 000000

Condition

Quantity Qty Units

Value

700

APP2834



LV MPD Report Printed by k2434n on 111898
Page 8 of 9

Property

roperty

5

Make Brand

Gun Type

Securities Type

Recovered Date

Article Type

P
Model Name

Caliber

Denomination

Person

PO 00 0000

Properly

MakelBrand

Gun Type

Article Type

ModelName

I

Caliber

Securities Type

I

Recovered Date
e

jo000006

Property

Make Brand

REVO

Gun Type

Securities Type

Recovered Date

00000000

Denomination

I

Person

F1

Article Type

Model Name

Caliber

Denomination

I

Person

11

I

Event Association

I

Color

Barrel Length

Issuer

Serial Description

00

Property Type

FIRST AID KIT

Serial

CAN

Issue Date

9000

Event Association Property Type IUCR Code

PTOLEN PPALIAL HANDBOOM41SCELLANEOUS BIC

I

Color

Barrel Length

Issuer

OAN

Issue Date

E 00

Value

Serial

Event Association Property Type UCR Code
8TOLEN

1 1
SUNGLASSES MISCEI NEOGBl

1

Color

Barrel Length

Issuer

CAN

Issue Date

UCR Code

PAISCELLANEOUS BI

Description

FIRSTAIDKIT

Condition

Quantity Oty Units

100

Value

PAGUAR MANUAL HAP
Condition

Quantity Qty Units

00

Description

UNGLASSES

Condition

Quantity Oty Units

PO 000000 E-O0

Value

30000
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LVMPD Report Printed by k2434 on 1118 98
Page 9 of-g

Property

Properto Article Type Event Association Property Type UCR Cod8 e

15 S
1 VU NG LAS S E SCASff1 MISCELLANEOUS 131

Make Brand ModelName
Color Serial Descri tiM A p onF77NI

I I

I
I

SUNGLASSES CASE
Gun Type Caliber Barrel Length CAN

Conditio n

I I
I

I
i

Securities Type Denomination Issuer Issue Date Quantit Qt U ity y n s
I

I 0000 1 00
Recovered Dat Pe erson

Value0000
30 00

Property Article Type Event Association Property Typ e UCR Code

PTOLEN
IM

I SCE LLA N E0 U-S7b
Make Brand Model Name Color Serial

Description

I

I I
I ATE ACCES-SP CARD1

Gun Type Caliber Barrel Length CAN Condition

Securities Type Denomination Issuer Issue Date
Quantity Qty Units

wd 0 000 00
Reco d D tvere a e Person

Value
JO000000

Narratives

Entered Date Time

111 06 1998 0952

Subject

F

BURGLARY VEHIDISCH
Narrative

10000

Type

JINCIDENT

Author

3 MATTHEW RAYMOND

VECHICLE WAS PARKED IN THE PARKING LOT WHEN THE SUSPECT S FIRED ABULLET THROUGH THE FRONT PASSENGER WINDOW THE BULLET THEN WENTTHROUGH THE PASSENGER SEAT AND LODGED INTO THE REAR DRIVER'S SIDEDOOR
I

I

THE SUSPECT S THEN TOOK THE LISTED ITEMS AND FLED

JD PROCESSED THE SCENE
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EXHIBIT 2

EXHIBIT 2
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t 17 OlQ 06 p g 1 545x IJ24 x24 b
i
De w
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41700013 jpgfl5e5xlO24x24bjpeg
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41700020 jpg i 545X 1 024x2b peg
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EXHIBIT 3

EXHIBIT 3
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EXHIBIT 4

EXHIBIT 4
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Case 305-cv-00409-HDM-VPC Document 73-2 Filed 09104 12 Page 4 of 18

Page

ror Billing ioquiziew
CIi 1-800-635-6111

ACCCMt RJAM6

cine'rVi 13T-agr X
xccount Nunji-or Invoice Dots

TZLZCCrA2M CAT10MS SZRWTCXE Dats1l 9571

Kmntl ly Acreag CUrg
TWL 2 ACC MA ChRX-7

Othez ChiLrass aad Credits

CLU ro

MONTELY 323rVICS CALL MXTIM
1 19 X214410 zp 2ZRVTCzjt VkLuz V

Total Other C16m no axkd CradAta

ALrti ML XVS

O-Lbar
or CEIIN

LV PEAYVRMLMCX 1200 ArR I

334

94

I
Ocl Acti ULbAV

LOnQ DiAtLaCS CbAXV

Lama olmtnma
63

DlmmrGr-y

Total Lzq Discanca ChArvem

Rare AMoUnt

it J VO
Vnit 00
UrLi t 3 00or

Icw IM 1998

300
00

Avaraga TutA1 rx OLIlabio
cal 1 rt KLM I sea XLA

I
A KIM

I a KA

200
1 55

69 141 i4s31 i of 2a
Idaild

296 Mt22

OF47 355

Totaa TE1J MWUWTr-ATr0 WS SMKV-rCM CluLirgm

161441 0100 1 0

Data of C411 chVws 257

Li ctate T Lao Akll Tw
10-13 t t 2 a pACY1MffT1Er

10-13 12 J'Sp Z
10-15 1 IJ5T LAS VV9LLO

19-ts IIJAr rK
5 10-t3 t 57F L-jCCxCrjw

TOOrn0to Period
P peak
G-Off P
H-Vultipla partod

Do a par
CI 4937 PAL p
CM 5957 PJL LW t
Mr9V 0929 PA pCLN5137

Ph V

3917 P JL L-W 0

pa4turas
CW-Call Waiting
CCll poreard
3W-Throo wayL c11
AZAd4JtLon6aI Lines

Ai rt Lmm Lanq Di a C Tut lI F8 rhAIVS cj3arv cb-rwa
2s 34 057 000IT a-jq OSe
104 a-30 09942 07d 000
L49 GJ4 009

Matvorkn Uarvice
M-Matloo-al Network PA-plantprono Airtlaw
L-O-C-AA a Pr-pmrrjAj pr
WK-Maamol warldvidm VC-parrIal call

5

13 990

To 1 I

V do

ftu ILI

ct rew

00
00

00

77 am

15

2P01

E-y-k1A A 30 N v40
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AQase 305-Gv-00409-HDM-VPC Document 73-2 Filed 090412 Page 5 of 18

Page

A0cmLicit Minber InIT'alcoo Dace

For 91-11ing Inquirimm cimmirvi Eiviacr imc
Call 1-800-639-6111

Deit l of cw1l ChALraes 9571

LLa Data r Lao Call 0
6 10-15 20jr r1jr-17WELM CL
7 10-11 3405F Z UCoNXw c L

a to-is 211 a r owl C L

t I L3 2 2 27 limccoeLm c L

10 In IS 3 ILP WaILM CL
k I L 0 1 1 Itlar r2immna C4
EJ IQ-t S 3iIAP LAA vl Jv
13 10-15 3 1 L92 LAA VM3AJ MV
141 10-15 Atll F rXICUME13110

13 LO-1-1 4j4lP JIM
Iff to-is 5109P IUCXM91-xo CL

14-11 5 021 zx'aKMul3 CL
Is 7 1 a s P pallA P

19 10-15 14 03P r2xL04xm3 CL

30 to-is 12 0OF uqcTmmmlo Cl
21 10-kil IgI77 LAX VEG M V
23 I Ls IF4 10 rNCCN CL
33 10-14 4J29P SCUTWUMIE CA
24 10-ld 534P TC rK CL

5 0 3 p8x4 p

5 04 4 P Movx cwx
vp a

IC-19 0127F WORMt CT
1 10-19 19 k 19 P MMBXLX r

9 P

22 10-11 3iopp rAcommm CL
30 10-17 411 19 LAX V JLS
J1 1413 17 Eklif LJIJ VtCaJ
3 1 10-17 IOY 14P LPJCCM3202 CL
32 10-17 10139P 17comMum CL
it 10-LI Fi34A DIJ JsT C4
is io it I qT lj TAUCWp CLA
39 10-18 Llt4lia TO Fllk CL
37 10-14
it 10-if
39 10-131

a 10-19
it 1 10-10
41 10-11
a 10-19
A

41 10-19
as Io9

419 10-20
47 10-20
its lo-jo

JillP LAS VMQJLS UV
347F IMCCKEM C
N132V r XCK3M LIL

3P27 laconxiau C4
3

4
53P LNC0K3vQ C1

AcI77 LLZ VMAX AFV

7133P LMIMCLMO
tatl3P Lai VEM S
11345P

aposp MUMILS
3j00P LAS VZELLA

3IISP LAA VZQ
LI 10 2 d 3 A A 4 A FRI-Z L F
SO 10-20 704P LAt VtaLM XV
11 30-30 7ad7P Lkjff VVa A MV
53 1 411-2 ql 12 7 al 0 NXLJ6 P

54116-PIVELA-P
I
IdP RIEM M

33 IQ_21 IsJ31 rZXCO3310 CT
54 10-21 If4dy Ic rx CL
S7 171 11157 LAA rcoAA

31 IQ1j 11413 TJVCOW cm
11 10-71 4ij6p Luct m
60 10-21 ty2P LAJ VEM

pIautmcco Period
V-p
a-Off Pok
m-krultlvlo Foriod

C41104

3 9 5 If

5557
934 3

3PS7
4811

4536 1

sla
6611
S

55Ii
1411

9 311

515

337
E-vw

411
1590

153
1 121

9 3
3446
4212-2

3951

15

Ncrw L918

A k rx'Loaa Lomw Dist
Doffic r Wisoc CLaxwe e-h n

SPA P

p A 7

VAL P

IRA P

P P

PA cv P

VJL P

TA 10

lode 020
130 030
1100 0 24
I I OQ 0 20
263 013
I go 0 2 13

I LO 643
141 034

FA P I I
al 073

Pik P 533 119
IPA 7 lka2 Q I 1

VA P I p Go 010

080

PA P ties D3j 017
PL p 109 020
FA T 100 010
FIL p 1 06 020
TA p 316 0159
pp A P IjIll 0114

Ph P IAJ 0-34

Pik P 0-34A P 3130 930 aIs
P26 P LIDO 0 20
pal ledill a l a

PA 100 030
FA 100 0110
Pal 1440 GJ3
ph 0 110 069
ra 13 0 mI1

a 020 64PA 0 12
A

4

oi53 0-00
11 571 rk a Liao 02077 VA 0 line 020Y PA ol 702 151

9 aA 7 140a G10
95 PA P I t 011 922
all PA P IFOO 020
31 04 w 101 ISo
326 P A r 1100 020

SNW PA v 020
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491 1 Ph OJ
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Case 305-cv-00409-HDM-VPC Document 73-2 Filed 090412 Page 6 Qf 18

P-jV

For 31111zo loquiri a cinargi Irvacr 11
Call
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Case 305-cv-00409-HDM-VPC Document 73-2 Filed 090412 Page 7 of 18

rar aillLng Inquixisa
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ROCKY MOUNTAIN
INNOCENCE CENTER

Board of Directors

Chris J Martinez

presdent

Gil A Miller CPA CFE CIRA

TfeasuFei

Jeffrey W Shields

Secretary

Jensie L Anderson

Legal Director

Diane E Courselle

Lance J Hendron

Michael J Langford

Aaron J Lyttle

David J W Williams

staff

Maria Kennpdy

Executive irectof

Jennifer Springer

Stff Attorney

358 South 700 East B235

Salt Lake City Utah 84102

801-355-1888

wwwrminnocence ora

1-TbrLiar 17 10 1 1
I

as Vegas Metropolitan Police Department

Pol ice Records Bureau

Attiv Nevada Public Records ReqUCSt

400 S Marfin I Lither Kint Blvd

Buildiny C
Las Ve-as NV 89106

Doar Records Officer

The Rocky Mountain Innocence Center RMIC pirmlallt to the Nevada Public

1ecord s stat it te N RS 11 90 10 rorma I ly req tiest s a I I
Pub I ic Books a nd R eco rd s whether

OMICKII OF L11101TIC1 11 FAAICd in any Nvav Ici John Jack Seka DOB 968 SSN

812 and 2 the homicide investigntion of Eric Hamilton and Peter 1imamii

FICILIC1111g bm not limilcd to LVMPD event number 89 1116-0043

Fhis request extends to all depailments and divisions of the Las Vegas Metropolitan
C7

Police Department as vll as applicable divisions and depailmenis of Clark County

Nevada includim but 110t limited it

I the HomicideRobbm Bureau

the Criminalistics Btlrclllll

incl-print BureauIle I Z
4 tliQ Looistics BLIS-C1111

the Coninitmications BLII-eall

6 Ile hilbriTimion Technolo lies Burcaitt

7 the Radio Sstems Bureau

8 the Detention Services Rccords Bureau

9 the Yechnical Services Divisioll

10 the Communication and Technology Service Division

I I lie Special Operatiow Division

I
I the Homeland Sccurity Division

13 110 EVidelICC V31-11t

14 lie Photo Llab
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15 the Canine Unit

16 the Patrol Unit and

17 the Problem Solving Unit

This request encompasses all writings recordings and photographs as those terms are defined in NRS

52 215-52 225 as well as all other books and records in you Department's possession custody or control

including but not limited to

With respect to MrSeka

I All photographs audio recordings and video recordings

2 All lab documents records bench notes books and reports including but not limited

to hair fingerprint and blood analysis

3 All investigatory documents records bench notes books and reports

4 All other agency documents records bench notes books and reports

5 All witness and suspect statements including but not limited to handwritten typed

and audio notes transcripts of interviews audio recordings of interviews and video

recordings of interviews and

6 All other materials including but not limited to photo lineups papers documents

data recordings transcripts notes receipts of monies disbursed and received

electronic mail and cellular transmissions photographs tangible objects and copies

and portions of any of these items within your possession custody or control

With respect to the homicide investigation of Eric Hamilton and Peter Limanni

1 All photographs audio recordings and video recordings

2 All lab documents records bench notes books and reports including but not limited

to hair fingerprint and blood analysis

3 All investigatory documents records bench notes books and reports

4 All other agency documents records bench notes books and reports

5 All witness and suspect statements including but not limited to handwritten typed

and audio notes transcripts of interviews audio recordings of interviews and video

recordings of interviews and

All other materials including but not limited to photo lineups papers documents data recordings

transcripts notes receipts of monies disbursed and received electronic mail and cellular transmissions

photographs tangible objects and copies and portions of any of these items within your possession custody

or control
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PLIrSUMIL to NRS 239 0107 please

Make a I I dockt Ill C Its records and books avai I alb I c for inspection and copying no later than

fi N c bU s itiess da N a her 111 e date o f rec e I v i it I It i s N ri nen req Liest or

it vou arc unable nmkc the requested documents records and books available for

i 11spect ion and cop 1
it by the e it d o F the F 1111 bUS i ness day a fier rece i v i ng th i s req uesi

it I

prov i de ritte it it ot ice o fthat File I i 1
id 1 ro v itle a date and i i m e afte r Nvh

I
ch I I ie record wi I I

be avallable for inspvction and copying or
Z7

if the requested records are not In you possession or control provide written notice of that

f jcl aloliv with the name and address ofthe overnmental entliv that has ICUal CLIstodv or

COM1 01 of the record or

If 3011 deny this reqtiest because the requested records or part thereof arc confidential

prov i Cie i it ri t I n a noti ce o f the l'ac t t Itat th c record o f part I hereo f c a I it ot be d
I se losed

because it is confidential and a citation to flie s-pecific matute or other le-al authority that

makcs the public record or part thercot conridential hi the event any porlion of flic

rc ILIcsted materials is deemed confidential please release all reasonablv seLrcoable

11onexempt portions A-COLUIllerItS and maierials

If any of the materials rcquosis lit this letter have been transtlerred to any other agencies at any iinle or

destroyed bN vour agenev at any time please identif Oen the materials erc transferred or destroyed

ideiitifv wliich a-enc the maierials were transferred to and provide a copy of the evidence andor

d eS I
FUCt 101 10 S d COW 11 Stral i liu t lie i ra ns fer oi I es I ruct ion o f the Ili ater laIs

To the extem neces sarv for you to release the requested records I am enclosing a signed notarized release

from MrScka If yoti have am questions repardin this
recILIC'St Or lf'VOLI med anythim forther to complN

NvIth it please contact me by either phone or email Tha it K you tor o t I 1
13
rom pt Coll s i derat ion

Sincerely

Jennifer SprinoerZ
Sta IT A tiorn ey

Rockv Momilain Innocence Center

j pr111 U I a rni i 1111 oce lice oru

901-135 5 1983
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A k 1A
111114141014 Will 114

NJ
1
40

x I
0 cv

Date March 29 2016

Rocky Mountain Innocence Center

358 South 700 East B 235

Salt Lake City Utah 84102

Re Roger Denord

Greetings

Partners with the Community

BY

Your request for Public Records in accordance with the Freedom Of Information Act has been

received in our office Your request will be reviewed and a response will be sent to you within

45 days whether or not there are public documents responsive to your request

Tha n k you for you r cou rtesy in th is m atter

Respectfully Submitted

SUSANA MCCURDY

DIRECTOR POLICE RECORDS BUREAU

Cheryl Blair P7022

Supervisor Records and Fingerprint Bureau

By

400S Mortin L King Blvd Los Vegas Nevada 891'06-4372 702 828-3111

wwwlympd com www prolectihecity com
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ROCKY MOUNTAIN
INNOCENCE CENTER

Board of Directors

Chris J Martinez

ptesiden

Gil A Miller

Treasorer

Jeffrey W Shields

Secrefary

Jensie L Anderson

Legal Director

Aaror J Lyttle

Cynthia L Alexander

Diane E Coursetle

Lance J Hendron

Michael J Langford

Davie J Williams

Staff

Marla Kennedy

Executive Direoor

Jennifer Springer

Managing Attorney

358 South 700 East 8235

Salt Lake City Utah 84102

801-355-1888

www rM in rocence of-g

Jul 26 210 16

Las Vegas M etropo I i tan Po I
I
cc Depart nicrit0

Police Records Burcati

Attn Nevada Public Records ReqLiCSt

400 S Martin Ltither Kina Blvd

BLillding C
Las Vens NV 89106

Deal Records 01'ficer

0 it Febrtiar 17 20 16 the Rocky MOU it a i n I it llocence Ccil lei R 11VI I C Pit I-sliall I I

N RS 239 0 10 Fomia I ly req tiested a I I pit b I ic books it nd records w It eth er o ffic
I a I or

Li no F1
i c i a 1 re I aled i it an y way to J oh it Jack Sek a f DO RI 96 9 S S N

5 812 and 2 the lic Ili i c ide i it v c st izt I i oi I o FEric I it ni I
I I o it o nd Peter 1

1 inan it

ir ClLiding but not lin-lited to I-VPvIPD event 1111111bCl 89 1 116-0043

U nd er N RS 2 19010 7 I lie Po I
icc Depa ri Ili ell I was req i i I red i o ni ake a I I doe it ments

records and books available 1r inspection and copying no later thall five business

davs a fier 111 c date o F rece iv I n the rittert req tic st Oil A pr I 122 210 16 the Las Vegas

Metropol itan I lo I i ce Depa ruii ell I prod tsced fort it i tic pages o f IN ped re porl

a ssc lat cd w I i
It R M I Us req ti csi The prod tict

I oi I I lie I LJ led 0 111 V 111 lie d0C Ll M C 11 tS

5191999 Oil cc ir i R epo rt d ic tated by Detect i ve T Thow se n P 1467

511 3V 1999 0 flic er s Repo rt I ic tated by Detect
1 vc T Thowsen Ptt 1467

I I 1 1999 0 ffliccr7 s Re po ri dictated by Dclcc I i ve 1 11towscii Pff 146 7

1-20511998 Officer's Report dictated bN Officer R NOLie5JKroli 1'95622

a 12l I 998 0 ff
I
cerl s Re po rt I ictated by Detect i ve 1 B Liczek NO 7 02

0 12101998 0 fficerl s Report d
I
mated by Detect i v e T Thowsen P1 146 7

9 1210199 8 Officet's Re poll d i etated by Officer R K rol I P44 8 50

9 12291998 Officer's Repoli dictated b Detective J Bticzek P93702

a 921999 Offiicer's Report d ictated by Detect i ve T Th owsen V4 14 67

While RMIC is graleful ror whal has been provided v e believe there areadditional

dOC1 1111clits Illat were created throu-1i the COLIJWol'this double lionlicide investigationt
After an exhatistive review oCthc diwUnients produced RMIC discovered that a
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significant portion of the documents created during the investigation were not provided to RMIC
Below is a list of documents that are specifically referenced in the nine documents produced but were

not provided to RMIC

11171998 Voluntary Police Statement of Michael Kirk Cerda

I 1 171998 Voluntary Police Statement of John Jack Seka

11171998 Copy of the LVMPD Consent to Search Card for John Jack Seka 1933

Western Ave

11171998 Copy of the LVMPD Consent to Search Card for John Jack Seka

11171998 Copy of signed Rights of Persons Arrested Card for John Jack Seka

Copy of to-do list written by John Jack Seka

1171998 Pawn Shop Receipt

11101998 Pawn Shop Receipt

11101998 Pawn Shop Receipt

Toxicology Report Autopsy Report and Crime Scene Report for Eric Hamilton

I 117 1998 Application and Affidavit for Search Warrant given by Sgt K Hefner

11171998 Search Warrant

Investigative materials and police reports created by the San Bernardino County Sheriffs

Officer and given to the LVMPD
Toxicology Report Autopsy Report and Crime Scene Report for Peter Limanni

12231998 Officer's Report dictated by Detective T Thowsen P 1467

11161998 Officer's Report dictated by Detective J Buczek P3702

LVMPD Incident Recalls

12181998 DNA Reports by David Welch

12171998 Forensic Laboratory Report of Examination

281999 DNA Reports by David Welch

12181998 DNA Reports by David Welch

LVMPD Evidence Impound Reports

LVMPD Vehicle Recovery Impound Reports

Peter Limanni's Phone Records

Nextel Cell Phone Records

Recomm Wireless Phone Records

Cinergi Phone Records

LVMPD Forensive Laboratory Statement of Qualifications for Fred M Boyd

Forensic Laboratory Examination Request forms numerous filled out by T Thowsen

Cinergi Tahoe location information provided by Peggy Eichhorn

11161998 Voluntary Statement of Michael Stanish

Information on Thomas Cramer provided by the Philadelphia Police Department to T
Thowsen

1271998 Voluntary Statement by Jennifer Harrison

I 1 161998 Voluntary Statement by Jeffrey Lowery

I 1 61998 Voluntary Statement by Kevin Banks

Crime Scene Photographs maps and evidence items at the crime scene

Photographs of John Jack Seka taken at the scene

Photographs and list of physical evidence confiscated and tested

The above list is not inclusive of everything RMIC believes is missing This list simply includes missing

case documents that are specifically referenced in the nine police reports that were provided on April 22

APP2861



2016 H ok Qver t here are I i ke IN add it iona I docu
I
nen I s prod Liced as part of th i s 11 om ic id e I

n ves I gat i on t hat

N ere not speci kcal IN referenced in the materials RNI IC received Pursuant to N RS 52215-51125 RM IC

is entitled to all xxilings recordinos photographs book's and records III VOUr DepannieriCs possession

custody oi coniroL HIClUdin bw not limited to

I All pholographs audio recordings and video recordim-s

All lab documents records bench noes books and reports including but not limited

to hair 1-Ingerprint and blood analysis

3 All investigalory documents records bench notes books and reporLL

4 All other aLvjicv documents records bench notes books and reports

5 All NNitiwss and SLISPCCt SLIMIlelitS 41CLiding bUt 1-101 linilled to handwritten typed

and audio notes transcripts of interviews audio rccordiii s of interviews and video

recordiiws ofimerviews and

6 All other materials includiow bUt 110t limited to photo lincups papers documents

data recordings transcripts 110tcs ruccipts of monies disbursed and receivcd

electrome mall wid cellular transmissions photographs tangrible objects and cople'S

an d pon ion s of any o f these i tei ns w
I
Ili

I
n yo u r po s scss i011 C Ostody or co nt ro 1

As stated above RMIC requests al I Lll l books and records Mictlier official or unofficial related III any

U D Iav to I J olin J a c V Sek C 13 JW 1 68 S YN M8 1 and 2 I lie hom i c ide
1 n vest

I
gation o f

Eric
I
iamillon and Peter Limaniii includffl but not Ifflift I to LVMPD event number 89 1116-0043

If any ofthe materials requested in this letter were transferred to any other agencies atany firrie or destroyed

OLII a-ency at am mic please identify whcii the materials were transferred or destroyed identify vhichbv

agency lie malerials were transferred to and provide a cop of lie evidence andor destruction lous

dellionstrilt ill lie iranIer Or destruction ol each item

I f yo ti have an y q u est ion s re pard i no I h i s req uest or i r yo Li need a n furt her i n Cormat ion to com p lyj p lea se

cmitact me bv either the phone oi email address listed below Thank you for Vour prompt cousideratioll

Sincerely

7ennifer Springer

Maria-im Allorne

Rocky Mountain Innocence Center

801-155-1888
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Purfriers with the Con7munity

jr by Mountain Innocence center

358 South 7UO East 132-35

5alt i ake City Utah 94102

Attn Jennifer Springer

DATE August 1 2016

Event it 83-46132

To Whom It May Concern

BY

The Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Departmpnt Recordi Fingerprint Bureau is in receipt uf

ypwr reClUeSt for records The Records Bureau Is working diligently to honcir your reque st mid

i providing this leer as ronflimatiOli of recelpt of your recluest and our intent to provide the

bet LU 101ef service po5sible

LVMPD N mandated by Nevada Revi5ed statute 239 to provide Information or ocknowledge

receipt of the request for public bool oi record within 5 busitiess days of receipt Please be

advised that the reports will be provided as soon as we are able to proces your feguest

Thanl you tor your cooperation In thick matter

Re5pe tfufl Skit mitted

SUSAI'Al 11CCURDY DIRECTOR

By JERICHO MAMUYAC LEST

LEST Records
I

DRM

d00 S Morfin L Kong Blvd 0 Lcm V62cm Nwouda 89106-4377 U021878-311 11

w V vMp 1_0rn I YjVPW VrWRH'f Ellffl
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ROCKY MOUNTAIN
INNOCENCE CENTER

Board of Oirectors

Jefiery W Shields

pres defr

David J Williams

Vice PIrpsident

Gil A Miller

Treasurer

Kate Conyers

Secretary

Jensie L Anderson

Legal Director

Chris I Martinez

Aaron J Lyttie

Lance J Hendron

Michael J Langford

Carl Hernandez

Adria Swindle

Staff

Blair Hodson

Execitive Dirc-ctor

Jennifer Springer

Managing Attorney

358 South 700 East B235

Salt Lake City Utah 84102

801-355-1888

W rMinnorence org

82117

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department

Police Records Bureau

Attn Nevada Public Records Request

400 S Martin Luther King Blvd

Building C

Las Vegas NV 89106

Dea r Reco rd s Off icer

This is a request under the Nevada Public Records Statute NRS 239010 and the

Freedom of Information Act for records whether official or unofficial related to

The theft of Lydia Gorzoch's purse case number 98 1106-0539 Ms Gorzoch's purse

was stolen from her vehicle after someone shot through her vehicle window The

purse was found shortly thereafter at the scene a double homicide for which our

client John Jack Joseph Seka was convicted in 2001 The State asserted that Jack

stole the purse and killed two men in an attempt to rob them I request all writings

recordings and photographs as those terms are defined in NRS 52215-52 225 in

your Department's records including but not limited to records kept by

1 the homicide division

2 the fingerprint division

3 the photo lab

4 the crii-ninalistics division

5 the evidence vault

6 the Clark County Detention Center records Division

7 the technical services division

8 the information services division

9 the Special Operations division

relating to Ms Gorzoch's purse and the investigation of Mr Limanni and Mr
Hamilton's death including but not limited to

1 All lab investigatory or other agency documents records or reports including

but not limited to hair analysis and blood analysis pertaining to the theft of Ms
Gorzoch's purse including any copies of materials that may have been transferred to

any other agencies at any time or destroyed by your agency at any time
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2 All witness or suspect statements including transcripts of interviews audio recordings of

interviews and video recordings of interviews relating in any way to the theft of Ms Gorzoch's

purse

3 All other photograph books papers documents data photographs tangible objects or copies

or portions of any of these items within your possession custody or control and relating in any

way to the theft of Ms Gorzoch's purse

4 All photos lab investigatory or other agency documents records or reports including but not

limited to hair analysis and blood analysis in any form pertaining to the investigation of the to

the theft of Ms Gorzoch's purse including any copies of materials that may have been

transferred to any other agencies at any time or destroyed by your agency at anytime

5 All witness or suspect statements including but not limited to transcripts of interviews audio

recordings of interviews and video recordings of interviews relating to the theft of Ms
Gorzoch's purse

6 All other photograph books papers documents data photographs tangible objects or copies

or portions of any of these items within your possession custody or control and relating to the

theft of Ms Gorzoch's purse

7 All information related to the bullet bullet casings or bullet fragments found at the scene her

vehicle of the theft of Ms Gorzoch's purse and whether there has at any point in time been a

match to these bullets and casings in the Integrated Ballistics Identification System

Please mail these documents to

Rocky Mountain Innocence Center

Attn Kurt London

358 South 700 East B235

Salt Lake City LIT 84102

If any of the materials requested in this letter have been have been transferred to any other agencies at

any time or destroyed by your agency at any time please identify when the materials were transferred

or destroyed identify which agency the materials were transferred to and provide a copy of the

evidence andor destruction logs demonstrating the transfer or destruction of the material

Ms Lydia Gorzoch's date of birth is inm973 Attached is a Waiver and Consent for Release of

Records and Information signed by Mr John Joseph Seka

Please release all reasonably segregable nonexempt portions of documents
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If you have any questions regarding this request please contact me at 801 355-1888 or

legal rminnocence org I
look forward to receiving your response Thank you for your consideration of

this request

Kurt London

Galbraith Legal Fellow
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WAIV_FR AND CONSENT FOR RELEASE OF RECORDS NND VFQRi1kT10NN

NANIE

BIRTHDATE

SOCLAL SECURITY NUNIBER N 2

Bysigning below I authorize the Rocky Mountain Innocence Center RN1JC to assign one ormore law

students working under the direct and immediate supervision ofin atiorney and or a cooperating attornev

working in conjunction with RMIC to investigate my case This includes but is not limited to authorizing

correspondence and or telephone calls to prior counsel prosecutors or witnesses i authorize any and all entities

and persons my former attorricy s investi gator s and app e I I ate programs who worked on

my case to release to RMIC o r to its sta ff student rep resentatives or cooperating attorneys a ny and all rec Ords

Files reports and information of any kind related to me or to any crt ni i nal ease invol v Ing me including pol ice

reports witness statements post-conviction pleadings and correctional records pre-sentencing reports and other

documents in prison social services and legal Flies legal PapCrg Court dOCUrnents inedical records laboratory

arialvscs probation renorig attoriv vq files md rceord5 nnd any oflvr ii-FormoOnn ncccssavy to the Ccnnles

work on my belialf I understand there may be statutes ruics and regulations that protect the confidentiality of

sorne ofthe records files repotis and inforniation covered by this release It is my specific intent to waive the

protection of all such statutes rules and regulations so that confidential information can be shared with RMIC
This authorization shall remain effective unless and until any such revocation signed by me is received and

acknowledged by the RIMIC

I unders tand that by conducting an initial investi gation the Rocky Mou ritain Innocenc e Center RNI I C is

only agreeing to represent me in the investigation of niv case and not to represent me in court I further

understand that at any pot nt the RM IC at its so le discr tion may deic rminu that ftirthe r investigation is not

warranted and is under no ob I igation to continue to investigate my case
Zn 117

Per Nevada Revised Statute 208165 1 represent by my signature beloW under penalty of pedury that this waiver

is voluntary and given without any reservation This authofization is effective until revoked by the undersigned

in writing

4
turc Date
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WA I VER A NQ CONSE NT FO R R E 1 FAS E OF REC OMS AN 13 INFOR NIATIO N

NAIME

BIRTHDATE

SOCLU SECURITY NU MBER

By sining below I authorize the Roc ky Mountain Innocence C enter RVl I C toa ssign one or more law

students working under the direct and ii-nniccliate supervision of an attorney and or a cooperating attorneyr

working in conj unc tion with F-Mi IC to 1 nvestiga Lc my case This Me I Lides b ut i s not I imited to authorizing

correspondence and or telephone calls to prior counsel prosecutors or witntsses I authorl7e any and all entities

and persons including niy former attornoys Investityalars and appellate prograins who worked onM

my case to release to RMIC or to its staff student representatives or coopcrating attomeys any and all records0
files reports and information of any kind related to me or to any criminal case involving me including police

reports Witness statements post-con-viction pleadings and correctional records pre-sentencing reporls and other

documents in pri son social serv ices and I cgal files I ega I papers court documents medic at reco rds I aboratory

an aivses lorobation reports attomcvs f i 1g ind rtT n rd a nd any o tht-r 1 Fonn i t on n to the Con zer's

work on my behalf lunderstand tl cre may be statutcs niles and regulations that protect the confidentiality of

some ofthe records files reports and inf rmatlon covered by this release it is my specific intent to waive the

protect ion o f al I such statutes rules and regu I ati ons so that confidentia I lin formati on can be shared with RIA 1C

This authorization shall remain effective uniess and until any such revocation signed by me is received and

acknowledged by the RM IC

I understand that by conductin
P an initial investigation the Rocky Mountain Innocence Center RMIC is

onlyagreeing to represent me in the investigation otmy case and not to represent me in coun I further

understand that at any point the Z-NIIC at its solo discretion may detcrmirie that ffirther investigation is not

warranted and is under no ob ligation to contin ue to i nvestiuate my C IlseD

Per Nevada Revised Statute 208165 1 represent by iny signature below Under penalty of pedury that this walvt j

i s vol untary and given without any rcserva lon Th is authonization is e ffective unt i I revoked by t lie undersigned

in writing

Date
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September 15 2017

Kurt London

Rocky Mountain Innocence Center

358 South 700 East B235
Salt Lake City UT 84102

Partners with the Community

I
s L

1

BY

Dear Mr London

This letter is to acknowledge receipt of your Freedom of Information Act request dated

August 21 2017 in reference to the following

RE Case 981106-0539

Lydia Gorzoch's purse

John Seka

Having reviewed your request we are able to provide you with the Incident Report for the

above case number Please send a business check money order or cashier's check in the

a mou nt of 900 made paya ble to LVM PID a nd sen d to the ad d ress below

We have requested detective approval to release laboratory reports and witness statements

Once we have an answer we will respond back to you

We have forwarded your request regarding photos to our photo detail Their phone number

is 702-828-3345

If you have a ny q uestlo ns rega rd i ng you r req u est please conta ct th e LVIVI PD

Correspondence Section Supervisor at 702-828-7395

Sincerely

LVMPD Police Records

Correspondence Department
400 S Martin L King Blvd

Las Vegas NV 89106
702-828-7395

400 5 Marfin L K ng Blvd Las Vegas Nevado 89106-43 72 702 828-3111

wwwlvmpd com www protecHhec-ity com
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RMIC Legal

From RMI Legal

Sent 17 1-34 PM
To
Cc

Oen
n ii

OerOpp
ir i in

g
a

e
ir
W

Subject Seka Records Request

Attachments 2017 0915-LVMPD Response to Request-Seka pdf 2017 0824-LVMPD Response to

Purse Records Request-Seka pdf 2017 0821-LVMPD Records Request Lydia Gorzoch

Purse-Seka pdf

Stephana

Thank you for your assistance with this request

I have attached our original records request as well as LVMPD's written responses as we discussed over the phone

The attorneys on records are Jennifer Springer RMIC's Managing Attorney and Poala Armeni co-counsell If you need

their contact information or any additional information please let me know

Thank youi

Best Regards

Kurt London

Attorney

Rocky Mountain Innocence Center

358 South 700 East B235

Salt Lake City Utah 84102

i8D13S5-1B88

www rrninnocence org

Be a part of the i r
1 j cL Movement donate today

i
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I

2

3

4

5

6

DECLARATION OF ED HEDDY

y name is Ed Heddy I was employed by the Federal Public Defender District

of Nevada from 1995 through 2010 when I officially retired

2 When I worked at the Federal Public Defender I was assigned to investigate John

Seka's case I created investigation memorandums memorializing my investigative work in the

case My typical practice was to be as accurate as possible in my memos and I would include all

relevant information I learned in my investigative work

3 In 2019 1 had a stroke As a result I do not retain specific memories of much of

the investigative work that I did while at the Federal Public Defender including Seka's case

4 On August 18 2022 1 reviewed my February 21 2007 investigation memo

concerning my interview of Lydia Gorzoch I do not have a specific recollection of what was said

during the interview The memo does not indicate that Gorzoch told me that her stolen purse had

been fingerprinted If she had told me that the purse had been fingerprinted I would have included

that in my memorandum as I believe that would have been a relevant fact to the investigation

5 During my time as an investigator with the Federal Public Defender I found that

it was nearly impossible to obtain police reports including any type of forensics report from the

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department without a subpoena

SIGNED this day of 2022 under penalty of perjury

Error Re-icrence source nq f und HEDDY
I
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DECLARATION OF JOHN SEKA

1 My name is John Joseph Seka I am the petitioner seeking authorization to file a

second or successive 28 USC 2254 petition

2 In the Declaration of Warrant Sununons the police indicated that a stolen purse

had been located in the ceiling tiles at he declaration had accused me of

conunitting a series of crimes which included the theft of the purse Prior to trial I spoke with

my attorney Peter Christiansen Jr about the stolen purse He said We were lucky they didn't

charge you for the purse because there was no story for the purse

3 In January 2010 1 sent a letter to the Rocky Mountain Innocence Center R-MIC

asking if they would help me with my case At the time my first 2254 petition was still pending

in the Ninth Circuit

4 In September 2012 RMIC began investigating my case They assigned a

succession of law students to review my case I believe there were four law students in total who

worked on my case including Kurt London In 2015 RMIC officially agreed to represent me on

a pro bono basis RMIC investigated the case over the next couple of years and eventually filed a

petition seeking DNA testing in June 2017

5 As part of the investigation RMIC submitted a Public Records Act request with

Las Vegas Metro Police Department C'LVMPD seeking police records related to the murder

cases and the stolen purse case Eventually LVMPD turned over the forensic report of fingerprint

examination in the stolen purse case I was familiarwith the discovery material turned over in my

case This fingerprint report was not a part of the discovery the prosecution had turned over I had

never seen this document before

SIGNED this gP
day of 2022 under penalty of perjury
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Declaration of Jennifer Springer

I Jennifer Springer hereby declare as follows

1 1 am currently the Managing Attorney at the Rocky Mountain Innocence

Center RMIC I have been a full-time employee of RMIC since October 2014
I am licensed to practice law in Utah and Nevada

2 The RMIC is a 50103 non-profit that seeks to correct and prevent wrongful

convictions in Nevada Utah and Wyoming RMIC is a member of the

Innocence Network and provides pro-bono legal services to people who have

been wrongfully convicted in our three-state region We carefully and

thoroughly screen cases first for investigation and later potential litigation if

we develop newly discovered evidence of innocence or pursue post-conviction

DNA testing of physical evidence

3 Mr Seka originally requested assistance in January 2010 At that time Mr
Seka was represented by counsel and his appeal of the dismissal of his habeas

corpus was pending at the Nmith Circuit Court of Appeals Because of our

limited resources RMIC generally does not accept cases if the individual is

represented by counsel and is in active litigation

4 In 2012 after Mr Seka's appeal was affirmed and he was no longer

represented by counsel RMIC accepted his case for an innocence investigation

5 RMIC is small maintaining a 1-3 person staff since 2012 Because of the

center's small staff and limited resources law student interns from

participating law schools in Nevada Utah and Wyoming assist staff attorneys

investigating client's claims of innocence Mr Seka's case was assigned to two

law students participating in the Innocence Clinic at the William S Boyd

School of Law from fall 2012 through spring 2013 In the summer of 2013 Mr
Seka's case was assigned to a law student participating in the Innocence Clinic

at the University of Utah SJ Quinney College of Law Throughout the spring

of 2014 another University of Utah SJ Quinney College of Law student was

assigned to Mr Seka's case From fall 2014 through June 2018 Mr Seka's case

was assigned to Brigham Young University J Reuben Clark Law student and

later RMIC staff attorney Kurt London

6 RMIC's innocence investigation begins by collecting all documents related to

the case from all police departments courts crime labs and attorneys

1
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involved In some instances it takes years to develop the record and

sometimes despite our best efforts we are unable to collect all case documents

7 As RMIC collected records related to Mr Seka's case the investigation began

with staff and interns meeting with Mr Seka visiting the crime scenes and

pursing non-DNA avenues including several witness interviews including

over-the-phone interviews and eventually in-person interviews on the East

Coast

8 As advancements in touch DNA progressed RMIC started to consider post

conviction DNA testing of physical evidence left at the crime scenes RMIC

began to trace the physical evidence that had been collected in Mr Seka's case

In December 2014 during the initial record collection efforts RMIC

representatives visited the Eighth Judicial District Court evidence vault to

view the evidence in the court's possession RMIC reviewed the photos and

evidence again and determined that we needed to obtain additional case

materials from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to better assess

the DNA testing potential

9 When RMIC first accepted Mr Seka's case for investigation the Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department had been regularly denying RMIC's records

requests and demanding a subpoena to release records In 2012 RMIC
retained counsel to assist in gaining access to the Las Vegas Metropolitan

Police Department case materials necessary to perform our post-conviction

innocence investigation In 2013 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Department disclosed several case files to RMIC for other cases in active

investigation but shortly thereafter the department began charging excessive

fees for case files that RMIC could not afford In 2015 RMIC again retained

counsel to assist RMIC with the excessive fee issue

10In February 2016 RMIC formally requested records from the Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department In that request we asked for all Public

Books and Records whether official or unofficial related in any way to John

Jack Seka DOB 1968 and 2 the homicide investigation of Eric

Hamilton and Peter Limanni including but not limited to LVMPD event

number 89 1116-0043 On April 22 2016 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Department produced nine typed officer reports totaling forty-nine pages

associated with the double homicide
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11 On July 26 2016 RMIC submitted a follow-up request seeking additional case

materials that were not previously disclosed RMIC specifically requested

thirty-eight reports or other case materials that were referenced in the nine

police reports previously provided but that themselves had not been disclosed

RMIC also requested any additional case documents in the Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department's possession that were not previously

disclosed

12 On August 1 2016 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department

acknowledged our second request for more complete records The Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department did not send responsive records to our

request

13 After completing our review and investigation we determined that there were

several pieces of physical evidence that could be subject to DNA testing On
June 19 2017 RMIC filed Mr Seka's Post-Conviction Petition Requesting a

Genetic Marker Analysis of Evidence Within Possession or Custody of the

State of Nevada NRS 176 0918 requesting post-conviction DNA testing of

those pieces of evidence

14 On August 21 2017 RMIC requested records related to the theft of Lydia
Gorzoch's purse On September 22 2017 RMIC received a response from the

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department explaining that we would be

provided a copy of the Incident Report but they were seeking approval from

the detective to release any laboratory reports and witness statements

15On November 7 2017 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department

responded by forwarding two forensic laboratory reports associated with the

Gorzoch purse theft The forensic laboratory reports were dated April 28 1999
and March 4 1999

16 The April 28 1999 forensic laboratory report listed case numbers 98 1106
0539 and 98 1116-0443 The report described the firearm and toolmark

examination of the bullet collected from the Gorzoch vehicle burglary and

compared it to bullets collected from the rime scene

APP2886



17 The March 4 1999 forensic Laboratory report listed case number 98 1106-0539

The report stated that latent print comparison was performed and Mr Seka

Mr Limanni an d M Y Haml Iton we re excl uded a s the so urce of the fi n ge rp rill ts

identified I had never seen this report before The report was not contaillecl in

any of the discovery material we had received from Mr Seka prior attorneys

I declare under penalty of perj'ury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best
rn

of my knowledge

Signed this Y 74 day of

1

2022

I-Ij nnifeir Spriii er

4
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Rene L Valladares

Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 11479

Jonathan M Kirshbaum
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 12908C
Shelly Richter

Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No 16352C
411 E Bonneville Ave Suite 250
Las Vegas Nevada 89101
702 388-6577
702 388-6419 fax
Jonathan-Kirshbaum fdorg

Attorney for Petitioner John Joseph Seka

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY

John Joseph Seka

Petitioner

V

Director NDOC et al

Respondents

Case No
99C159915

Dept No XXV

NO HEARING REQUESTED

Not a Death Penalty Case

MOTION FOR THE COURT To TAEE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE

FILINGS IN MR SEICAS CRIMINAL CASE NUMBER

As set forth in the attached points and authorities Petitioner Seka would

respectfully request this Court take judicial notice of all the documents filed in his

criminal case

Case Number A-22-860668-W
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PoiNTs AND AuTHORITrEs

Mr Seka respectfully request the Court to take judicial notice of the documents

filed in his original criminal case number in this Court-99C 159915

Generally Nevada courts consider only documents that are filed in the

operative case number See Mack v Estate ofMack 125 Nev 80 91 206 P3d 98 106

Nev 2009 see also Nev Rev Stat 47130 et seq However Nevada courts may

take judicial notice of certain other categories of documents that haven't been filed in

the relevant case number For example Nevada courts may take judicial notice of

documents filed in the record of another and different case in the state court system

Mack 125 Nev at 91 206 P3d at 106 Whether judicial notice is appropriate depends

in part on the closeness of the relationship between the two cases 125 Nev at 91

92 206 P3d at 106

This motion concerns the procedure in this Court's clerk's office of requiring

new post-conviction habeas petitions to be filed not in the petitioner's original

criminal case number but instead in a new civil case number Before this change

occurred in around 2017 many attorneys often followed a practice of not refiling the

relevant documents from the original criminal case number for example pre-trial

motions trial transcripts or previous petitions as exhibits to a new postconviction

petition That is because the new postconviction petition was filed in the original

criminal case number so those documents were already on file in the operative case

number This process promoted judicial economy and allowed for cost-saving

measures in terms of copying and staff time for indigent defense offices

Mr Seka followed the same practice when he filed his post-conviction petition

contemporaneously with this motion to this Court While he filed certain exhibits that

hadn't been filed in a previous proceeding or are not readily available by download or

in the evidence vault he did not reffle documents that had been previously filed in

2
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that case number again for example pre-trial motions trial transcripts or previous

petitions plus exhibits and are available on the docket Instead he assumed the

Court would access those documents through Mr Seka's original criminal case

number On information and belief when a petitioner files a new postconviction

petition and institutes a new civil case in this Court under this new procedure the

Court's clerk's office has been instructed to link or associate the civil and criminal

cases in such a way that the criminal and prior civil filings are accessible to the Court

through the civil case number However it is not clear when this will happen in this

case

In light of the current procedure for filing postconviction petitions in this

Court and in an abundance of caution Mr Seka requests the Court formally take

judicial notice of the documents filed in his original criminal case number district

court no 99C159915 Judicial notice is particularly appropriate given the closeness

of the relationship between the two cases Mack 125 Nev at 91-92 206 P3d at 106

Mr Seka's petition in this civil case number challenges the judgment of conviction in

his criminal case number and raises constitutional claims regarding pre-trial and

trial these claims turn on events that are memorializedby the documents filed in the

criminal case number It is hard to imagine a closer relationship between two case

numbers so the Court should take judicial notice of the documents filed in the

original criminal case number Again Mr Seka has already filed an exhibit that

hasn't previously been filed in the original criminal case number as an exhibit to his

new petition and he proposes to continue doing so as necessary in this litigation

In the event the Court prefers not to take judicial notice of the documents in

the original criminal case number Mr Seka respectfully requests the opportunity to

file the relevant documents in this civil case number before the Court enters any

relevant orders in this case number in order to ensure a complete record for this

Court and if necessary for the Nevada appellate courts

3
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CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons Mr Seka respectfully requests the Court take judicial

notice of the documents filed in his criminal case number

Dated November 1 2022

Respectfully submitted

Rene L Valladares

Federal Public Defender

IslJonathan M Iiarshbaum

Jonathan M Kirshbaum
Assistant Federal Public Defender
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on November 1 2022 1 electronically filed the foregoing

with the Clerk of the Eighth Judicial District Court by using the Court's electronic

filing system

Participants in the case who are registered users in the electronic filing system

will be served by the system and include Alexander Chen

Alexander Chenclarkcountyda com Motions clarkcountyda com

I further certify that some of the participants in the case are not registered

electronic filing system users I have mailed the foregoing document by First-Class

Mail postage pre-paid or have dispatched it to a third-party commercial carrier for

delivery within three calendar days to the following people

John Joseph Seka Attorney General

69025 555 E Washington Ave
High Desert State Prison Ste 3900

PO Box 650 Las Vegas NV 89101

Indian Springs NV 89070

Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Ave
Las Vegas NV 89101

Isl Rosana Aporta

An Employee of the

Federal Public Defender

District of Nevada
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Kathleen E Delaney

DISTRICT YMGE
DEPT XXV

LAS VEGAS NV 89155

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY NEVADA

JOHN JOSEPH SEKA Case No A-22-860668-W

Dept No Y-XV

Petitioner

vs

DIRECTOR NDOC et al

Respondents

ORDER FOR PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Po st Conviction Relief

on November 1 2022 The Court has reviewed the Petition and has determined that a

response would assist the Court in determining whether Petitioner is illegally

imprisoned and restrained of hisher liberty and good cause appearing therefore

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Respondent shall within 45 days after the

date of this Order answer or otherwise respond to the Petition and file a return in

accordance with the provisions of NRS 34 360 to 34830 inclusive

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that this matter shall be placed on

this Court's Calendar on April 12 2023 at 930 am for further proceedings

Dated this 13th day of February 2023

588 A3F 8224 7373
Kathleen E Delaney
District Court Judge

Case Number A-22-860668-W
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on or about the date signed a copy of this Order was

electronically served to all registered parties in the Eighth Judicial District Court

Electronic Filing Program per the attached Service Contacts list andor placed in the

attorney's folder maintained by the Clerk of the Court andor transmitted via facsimile

andor mailed postage prepaid by United States mail to the proper parties as follows

Jonathan M Kirshbaum Assistant Federal Public Defender

Shelly Richter Assistant Federal Public Defender

Taleen Pandukht Deputy District Attorney

John Joseph Seka 69025 Attorney General

High Desert State Prison 5 5 5 E Washington Avenue

PO Box 650 Suite 3900

Indian Springs NV 89070 Las Vegas NV 89101

IslMarwanda Knight

Marwanda Knight

Judicial Executive Assistant

Kathleen E Delaney

DISTRICT YMGE
DEPT XXV

LAS VEGAS NV 89155
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY NEVADA

John Seka Plaintiff s

vs

Calvin Johnson Defendant s

CASE NO A-22-860668-W

DEPT NO Department 25

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District

Court The foregoing Order was served via the court's electronic eFile system to all

recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below

Service Date 213 2023

ECF Notifications NCH Unit ecf nvnch fdorg

Jonathan Kirshbaum jonathan kirshbaum fdorg

Rosana Aporta rosana aportafdorg

Steven Wolfson Steven Wolfson clarkcountyda com

ECF Notification Email CCDA motionsclarkcountyda com
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3282023 912 AM
Steven D Grierson
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RSPN
STEVEN B WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar 001565
TALEEN PANDUKHT
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar 5734
200 Lewis Avenue
Las Vegas Nevada 89155-2212

702 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY NEVADA

JOHN SEKA
69025

Petitioner

vs

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent

CLER OF THE COLLRI

CASE NO A-22-860668-W

C-99-159915

DEPT NO XXV

STATE'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS
CORPUS POST-CONVICTION AND

MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES

DATE OF HEARING APRIL 192023
TIME OF HEARING 930 AM

COMES NOW the State of Nevada by STEVEN B WOLFSON Clark County

District Attorney through TALEEN PANDUKHT Chief Deputy District Attorney and

hereby submits the attached Points and Authorities in Response Ito
Petitioner's Petition for

Writ of Habeas Corpus Post-Conviction and Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to the Doctrine of

Laches

This Response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein the

attached points and authorities in support hereof and oral argument at the time of hearing if

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court

Case Number A-22-860668-W
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 30 1999 John Joseph Seka hereinafter Petitioner was charged by way of

Information with Counts I 2 Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon Open Murder

Felony-NRS 200 010 200 030 193 165 and Counts 3 4 Robbery With Use of a Deadly

Weapon Felony NRS 200 380 193165 On July 26 1999 the State filed its Notice of

Intent to Seek the Death Penalty

Jury trial commenced on February 12 20 0 1 On March 1 2 00 1 the jury returned a

verdict of guilty of First Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon as to Count 1 guilty

of Second Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon as to Count 2 and guilty of Robbery

as to Counts 3 and 4 The penalty hearing corm-nenced on March 2 200 1 However the jury

could not return a special verdict On March 13 2001 the parties filed a Stipulation and

Agreement to Waive Sentencing by Three-Judge Panel and stipulated to a sentence of life

without the possibility of parole as to Count 1

On April 26 200 1 Petitioner was sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections

as follows as to Count I Life without the possibility of parole with an equal and consecutive

term of Life without the possibility of parole for use of a deadly weapon as to Count 2 Life

with the possibility of parole after ten 10 years with an equal and consecutive terni of Life

with the possibility of parole after ten 10 years for use of a deadly weapon consecutive to

Count 1 as to Count 3 thirty-five 35 to one hundred fifty-six 15 6 months consecutive to

Count 2 and as to Count 4 thirty-five 3S to one hundred fifty-six 156 months consecutive

to Count 3 The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 9 200 1

On May 15 2001 Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal On April 8 2003 the Nevada

Supreme Court issued an Order affirming Petitioner's Judgment of Conviction and Remittitur

issued on May 9 2003

On February 13 2004 Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post

Conviction hereinafter First Petition The State filed its Response on April 6 2004 On
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November 5 2004 the District Court denied the First Petition On January 31 2005 the

Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law and Order was filed

On February 9 2005 Petitioner filed a Notice ofAppeal On June 8 2005 the Nevada

Supreme Court issued an Order affirming the district court's decision and Remittitur issued on

July 15 2005

On June 19 2017 Petitioner filed a post-conviction Petition Requesting a Genetic

Marker Analysis of Evidence Within the Possession or Custody of the State of Nevada The

State filed its Response on August 15 2017 Petitioner filed his Reply on September 5 2017

On September 13 2017 the District Court granted Petitioner's Petition The District Court

filed its Order granting Petitioner's Petition on September 19 2017

On December 14 2018 the District Court held an evidentiary hearing regarding

additional testing on the DNA evidence On December 19 2018 the District Court granted

Petitioner's Petition in part and denied the Petition in part On July 24 2019 the District Court

set a briefing schedule based on the DNA testing

On November 191 2019 Petitioner filed a Motion for New Trial The State filed its

Response on January 30 2020 Petitioner filed his Reply on March 4 2020 On March 11

2020 the District Court granted Petitioner's Motion The District Court entered its Order on

March 24 2020

On March 27 2020 the State filed a Notice of Appeal

On June 15 2020 Petitioner filed a Motion for Release Pending Appeal and Retrial

Pursuant to NRS 178 488 and 178 484 The State filed its Response on June 181 2020 On June

29 2020 the District Court denied Petitioner's Motion and noted that proof is evident or the

presumption is great that Petitioner committed the crimes charged The District Court ftirther

noted that the State demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that the detention order

was appropriate

On July 8 2021 the Nevada Supreme Court reversed the District Court's decision

granting Petitioner's Motion for New Trial Remittitur issued on November 2 2021

3
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On November 1 2022 Petitioner filed the instant Second Petition for Writ of Habeas

Corpus Post-Conviction hereinafter Second Petition and Request for Evidentiary

Hearing The State's Response now follows

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Nevada Supreme Court stated

Peter Limanni established Cinergi HVAC Inc in May 1998 The business

located at 1933 Western Avenue in Las Vegas was funded by investors Takeo

Kato and Kaz Toe Limanni hired his friend Jack Seka to help out with the

business paying Seka in cash Limanni and Seka lived together at

Cinergi I Limanni typically drove the business's brown Toyota truck while Seka

drove one of the company vans

The business did poorly and by the beginning of that summer Kato and Toe

wanted their investinent returned Instead Limanni decided to open a cigar shop

at Cinergi's address and he along with Seka began building a wooden walk-in

humidor to display the cigars

Limanni also began dating Jennifer Harrison that August He told Harrison and

others that he could disappear and become a new person Limanni closed his

bank accounts on November 2 after removing large sums of money On
November 4 Limanni visited Harrison at her home and spoke of his plans for

the cigar shop As he left he mentioned calling Harrison the next day and going

with her to lunch That same day Limanni picked Seka up from the air-port and

drove him back to Cinergi after Seka returned from visiting family back East

The morning of November 5 Harrison was unable to reach Limanni Harrison

drove to Cinergi and arrived around noon to find Seka passed out on the floor

and a girl on the couch A few hundred dollars in cash was lying on the desk

Limanni's clothes belt and shoes were in his room but Limanni was not there

Harrison also found a bullet cartridge on the floor which did not look as though

it had been fired Limanni's dog whom Limanni took everywhere was also at

Cinergi At the time Harrison believed Limanni had simply disappeared as he'd

previously threatened to do Seka dissuaded her from filing a missing person

report

On the morning of November 16 a truck driver noticed a body lying in a remote

desert area between Las Vegas Boulevard S outh and the 1 15 south of what is

now St Rose Parkway The body a male was located approximately 20 feet off

Las Vegas Boulevard South in the middle of two tire tracks that made a half

circle off and back onto that road He had been shot flirough the back in the left
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flank and in the back of the right thigh with a 357 caliber gun There was no

evidence of skin stippling suggesting the bullets were not fired at a close range
The victim was wearing a gold nugget ring and had a small laceration on his

right wrist Seven pieces of lumber had been haphazardly stacked on the body
The victim had a piece of paper in his pocket with the name Jacw and a

telephone number Detectives learned the victim was Eric Hamilton who

struggled with drug use and mental illness and had come from California to

Nevada for a fresh start According to his sister Hamilton had been doing

construction work for a local business owner Detectives determined Hamilton

had died sometime in the prior 24 hours They traced the telephone number in

his pocket to Cinergi

Notably a cigarette butt was found a few feet from the body A Skoal tobacco

container a second cigarette butt a beer bottle and a second beer bottle were

found at varying distances of approximately 15 to 120 feet away from the body
All of the items were located in the desert area within several yards of Las Vegas
Boulevard South

The following day a break-in was reported at 1929 Western Avenue a vacant

business next door to Cinergi The front window was broken and the glass and

carpet were bloodied There were also blood drag marks and three bullets and

bullet fragments A bloodied dark blue jacket contained bullet holes that

matched HamiltoWs injuries A baseball hat and a gold nugget bracelet were

also found at the scene An officer checked the perimeter that morning and

looked into the communal dumpster which contained only a few papers A
nearby business owner indicated the dumpster had been recently emptied

While the police were investigating 1929 Western Seka drove up in Cinergi's

Toyota truck-Limanni's work vehicle The truck had been recently washed

Officers talked to Seka who seemed nervous Seka told them he worked at

Cinergi with Limanni who was in the Reno area with his girlfriend Officers

asked Seka if they could check inside Cinergi to see if anyone was injured and

Seka agreed Officers became concerned after spotting a bullet on the office desk

and some knives and they handcuffed Seka and searched the business In the

room being remodeled as a humidor they found lumber that matched the lumber

covering Hamiltods body They also found a bullet hole in the couch a 32

cartridge bullet in the toilet and both 357 and 32 bullets in the ceiling Officers

looked above the ceiling tiles and found a wallet containing Limanni's driver's

license social security card and birth certificate as well as credit cards and a

stolen purse In a garbage can inside they found Limanni's photographs

alongside some papers and personal belongings The officers eventually left to

go to lunch unliandcuffing Seka and leaving him at Cinergi They were gone for

a little over an hour
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When the officers returned they noticed that the bullet that had been on the desk

was missing Seka opined that the building owner had removed it but the

building owner denied having been inside or having touched the bullet Officers

also checked the dumpster again and this time saw the bottom of the dumpster

was now filled with clothing papers cards and photographs some of it in

Limanni's name Some of the items were burnt Detectives also investigated and

impounded the Toyota truck Seka

drove up to the premises with which had apparent blood inside of the truck and

on a coil of twine inside

Officers Mirandized Seka who agreed to be interviewed at the detective bureau

Seka told the detective that Limanni had vanished weeks ago and that Seka was

trying to keep up the business alone He described a man named Seymore who
had done odd jobs for Cinergi and claimed he last spoke to Seymore in late

October when Seymore called Seka s cell phone to ask about doing odd jobs
Detectives determined Seyi-nore was Hamilton The detective interviewing

Seka told Seka he was a murder suspect at which point Seka smiled and stated

You're really starting to scare me now I think youd better arrest me or take me
home Do you have enough to arrest me right now The detective explained

that officers would wait until the forensic evidence returned before making an

arrest and then he drove Seka back to Cinergi

Seka told detectives he had a dinner appointment and needed a vehicle

Detectives explained they were impounding the Toyota truck but told Seka that

he could take a company van At the time there were two vans a solid white

van and a van with large advertising decals Detectives handed Seka the keys to

the solid white van and Seka made a comment that suggested he would rather

take the decaled van Becoming suspicious detectives searched the decaled van

and found blood droplets in the back They allowed Seka to leave in the solid

white van Seka promised to return following dinner But Seka did not return

Instead he told property manager Michael Cerda he was leaving and asked Cerda

to look after the dog Seka also asked Harrison if he could borrow her car telling

her he needed to leave town to avoid prosecution for murder and that he was

going underground Eventually Seka returned to the East Coast to stay with

his girlfriend

Limanni's body was discovered December 23 in California approximately 20

feet from Nipton Road in an isolated desert area near the Nevada border

Limanni was wearing only boxer shorts Faded tire tracks showed a vehicle had

driven away from the body The body's condition indicated Limanni had been

dead for several weeks He had been shot at least 10 times with a32 caliber gun
Seven shots were to the head

Seka was arrested in Pennsylvania in March 1999 The murder weapons a 31

caliber firearm and a 357 caliber firearm were never found
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State v Seka 13 Nev 305 306-08 490 P3d 1272 1273-75 202 1

ARGUMENT

1 THE SECOND PETITION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

A Application Of The Procedural Bars Is Mandatory

The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding

whether to apply the statutory procedural bars Instead the Nevada Supreme Court has

emphatically and repeatedly stated that the procedural bars niust be applied

The district courts have a ditty to consider whether post-conviction claims are

procedurally barred State v Eighth Judicial District Court Riker 121 Nev 225 234 112

P3d 1070 1076 2005 Riker held that the procedural bars cannot be ignored when properly

raised by the State Id at 233 112 P3d at 1075 Accord State v Huebler 128 Nev 192

197 275 P3d 91 94-95 footnote 2 2012 cert denied 571 US
1

133 SCt 988 2013

under the current statutory scheme the time bar in NRS 34726 is niandato73 not

discretionmy emphasis added

Even a stipulation by the parties cannot empower a court to disregard the mandatory

procedural default rules State v Haberstroli 119 Nev 173 180 69 P3d 676 681 2003

accord Sullivan v State 120 Nev 537 540 footnote 696 P3d 761 763-64 footnote 6 2004

concluding that a petition was improperly treated as timely and that a stipulation to the

petitions timeliness was invalid The Sullivan Courtexpressly conclude d that the district

court should have denied a petition because it was procedurally barred Sullivan 120 Nev

at 542 96 P3d at 765

The district courts have zero discretion in applying the procedural bars because to allow

otherwise would undermine the finality of convictions In holding that alpplication of the

statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory the Riker

Court noted

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an

unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system The necessity for a

workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction

is final
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Rikg 121 Nev at 231 112 P3d at 1074

Moreover strict adherence to the procedural bars promotes the best interests of the

parties

At some point we must give finality to criminal cases Should we
allow fpetitioner's post-conviction relief proceeding to go
forward we would encourage defendants to file groundless

petitions for federal habeas corpus relief secure in the knowledge
that a petition for post-conviction relief remained indefinitely

available to them This situation would prejudice both the accused

and the State since the interests of both the petitioner and the

governinent are best served if post-conviction claims are raised

while the evidence is still fresh

Colley v State 105 Nev 235 236 773 P2d 1229 1230 1989 citations omitted

B The Second Petition Is Time-Barred

The Second Petition is time-barred pursuant to NRS 34726l

Unless there is good cause shown for delay a petition that

challen es the validity of aJudgment or sentence must be filed

within I year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or if an

appeal has been taken froin the judgment within I year after the

Supreme Court issues its remittitur For thepurposes of this

subsection good cause for delay exists if the petitioner

demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court

That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner and

That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly

prejudice the petitioner

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34726 should be construed by its plain

meaning Pellegrini y State 117 Nev 860 873-74 34 P3d 519 528 2001 As per the

language of the statute the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34726 begins to run from

the date thejudgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed

Dickerson v State 114 Nev 1084 1087 967 P2d 1132 1133-34 1998

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS

34726 is strictly applied In Gonzales v State the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas

petition that was filed two 2 days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he

purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit

118 Nev 590 596 53 P3d 901 904 2002
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This is not a case wherein the Judgment of Conviction was for example not final See

Johnson v State 133 Nev 402 P3d 1266 2017 holding that the defendant's

judgment of conviction was not final until the district court entered a new judgment of

conviction on counts that the district court had vacated Whitehead v State 128 Nev 259

285 P-3d 1053 2012 holding that a judgment of conviction that imposes restitution in an

unspecified amount is not final and therefore does not trigger the one-year period for filing a

habeas petition Nor is there any other legal basis for running the one-year time-limit from

the filing of the Amended Judgment of Conviction Thus Petitioner had one year from the

filing of his original Judgment of Conviction to file a timely petition

Petitioner failed to file this Second Petition prior to the one-year deadline Rernittitur

issued from Petitioner's direct appeal on May 9 2003 therefore Petitioner had until May 9

2004 to file a timely habeas petition Petitioner filed this Second Petition on November 1

2 022 This is over nineteen 19 years and five 5 months after Petitioner's one-year deadline

Absent a showing of good cause and prejudice to excuse this delay Petitioner's Second

Petition must be denied

C The Second Petition Is Barred As Successive

NRS 348102 reads

A second or successivepetition must be dismissed if the judge or

justice detennines that it fails to allege new or different grounds
for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or if

new and different grounds are alleged the judge or justice finds

that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior

petition constituted an abuse of the writ

Second or successive petitions are petitions that either fail to allege new or different

grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits or that allege new

or different grounds but a judge or justice finds that the petitioner's failure to assert those

grounds in a prior petition would constitute an abuse of the writ Second or successive petitions

will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice NRS

348103 Lozada v Statel I 10 Nev 349 358 871 P2d 944 950 1994 see also Hart v

State 116 Nev 558 563-64 1 P3d 969 972 2000 holding that where a defendant
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previously has sought relief from the judgment the defendant's failure to identify all grounds

for relief in the first instance should weigh against consideration of the successive motion

The Nevada Supreme Court has stated Without such limitations on the availability of

post-conviction remedies prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post

conviction remedies In addition meritless successive and untimely petitions clog the court

system and undermine the finality of convictions Lozada 110 Nev at 358 871 P2d at 950

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that unlike initial petitions which certainly require

a careful review of the record successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face

of the petition Ford v Warden I I I Nev 872 882 901 P2d 123 129 1995 In other words

if the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence it is an abuse of

the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition McClesky v Zant 499 US 467 497-98 199 1
Application of NRS 348102 is mandatory age RLiker 121 Nev at 231 112 P3d at 1074

Here Petitioner has filed a prior petition for habeas relief On February 13 2004

Petitioner filed his First Petition The State filed its Response on April 6 2004 On November

5 2004 the District Court denied the First Petition On January 31 2005 the Findings of Fact

Conclusions of Law and Order was filed On February 9 2005 Petitioner filed a Notice of

Appeal On June 8 2005 the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order affirming the District

Courts decision and Remittitur issued on July 15 2005 Thus the Second Petition is

successive and constitutes an abuse of the writ

D The State Affirmatively Pleads Laches

Certain limitations exist on how long a defendant may wait to assert a post-conviction

request for relief Consideration of the equitable doctrine of laches is necessary in determining

whether a defendant has shown manifest iqiustice that would permit a modification of a

sentence Hart 116 Nev at 563-64 1 P3d at 972 In Hart the Nevada Supreme Court stated

Application of the doctrine to an individual case may require consideration of several factors

including 1 whether there was an inexcusable delay in seeking relief 2 whether an implied

waiver has arisen from the defendant s knowing acquiescence in existing conditions and 3
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whether circumstances exist that prejudice the State See Buckliolt v District Court 94 Nev

631 633 584 P2d 672 673-74 1978 Id

NRS 34800 creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to the State if a period

exceeding five years elapses between the filing of a judgment of conviction an order

imposing a sentence of imprisom-nent or a decision on direct appeal of a judgment of

conviction and the filing of a petition challenging the validity of a judgment of conviction 77

The Nevada Su reme Court has observed Petitions that are filed man years afterp y

conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system The necessity for a

workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final

Groesbeck v Warden 100 Nev 259 679 P2d 1268 1984 To invoke the presumption the

statute requires the State plead laches NRS 348002

Herel the State affirmatively pleads laches This Second Petition was filed on

November 1 2022 twenty-one 2 1 years after the Judgment of Conviction was filed on May

9 200 1 and nineteen 19 years after the Nevada Supreme Court filed its order affirining the

Judgment of Conviction on April 8 2003 Because these time periods exceed five 5 years

the State is entitled to a rebuttable presumption of prejudice under NRS 348002 Petitioner

failed to demonstrate evidence to rebut prejudice to the State Thus this Petition must be

dismissed pursuant to the doctrine of laches

11 PETITIONER FAILS TO ESTABLISH GOOD CAUSE AND PREJUDICE
TO OVERCOME THE PROCEDURAL BARS

Petitioner's failure to prove good cause or prejudice requires the dismissalof his Second

Petition To overcome the procedural bars a petitioner must demonstrate 1 good cause for

delay in filing his petition or for bringing new claims or repeating claims in a successive

petition and 2 undue or actual prejudice NRS 34726l NRS 34800l NRS 348103

To avoid procedural default under NRS 3472 6 and NRS 348 10 a defendant has the burden

of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present

his claim in earlier proceedings or comply with the statutory requirements See Hogan v

Warde 109 Nev at 959-60 860 P2d at 715-16 Phelps 104 Nev at 659 764 P2d at 1305
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To establish good cause Petitioners must show that an impediment external to the

defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule A qualifying

impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably

available at the time of default Clern v State 119 Nev 615 621 81 P3d 521 525 2003

emphasis added The Court continued Petitioners cannot attempt to manufacture good

cause J M at 621 81 P3d at 526 In order to establish prejudice the Petitioner must show

Crnot merely that the errors of the proceedings created possibility of prejudice but that they

worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage in affecting the state proceedings with error

of constitutional dimensions Hogan v Warden 109 Nev 952 960 860 P2d 710 716

1993 quoting United States v Fra 456 US 152 170 102 S Ct 1584 1596 1982 To

find good cause there must be a substantial reason one that affords a legal excuse Hathaway

v State 119 Nev 248 252 71 P3d 5031 506 2003 quoting Colley v State 105 Nev 235

236 773 P2d 1229 1230 1989 Clearly any delay in the filing of the petition must not be

the fault of the petitioner NRS 34726l a

Further a petitioner raising good cause to excuse procedural bars must do so within a

reasonable time after the alleged good cause arises See Pellegrini 117 Nev at 869-70 34

P3d at 525-26 holding that the time bar in NRS 34726 applies to successive petitions see

general Hathaw 119 Nev at 252-53 71 P3d at 506-07 stating that a claim reasonably

available to the petitioner during the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to

excuse a delay in filing

A reasonable period is presumably one-year from when the claim became available

See Rippo v State 132 Nev 95 101 368 P3d 729 734 2016 A petition has been

filed within a reasonable time after the claim became available so long as it is filed within

one year after entry of the district court's order disposing of the prior petition or if a timely

appeal was taken from the district court s order within one year after this court issues its

remittitur Pellegrini v State 117 Nev 860 874-75 34 P3d 519 529 2001 The State

concedes and we agree that for purposes of detennining the timeliness of these successive

petitions pursuant to NRS 34726 assuming the laches bar does not apply it is both reasonable
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and fair to allow petitioners one year from the effective date of the amendment to file any

successive habeas petitions A claim is reasonably available if the facts giving rise to the

claim were discoverable using reasonable diligence McClesky v Zant 499 US 467 493

111 SCt 1454 1470 1991 A claim that is itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good

cause RLiker 121 Nev at 235 112 P3d at 1077 see also Edwards v Calpente 529 US 446

453 120 SCt 1587 1592 2000

To demonstrate prqjudice to overcome the procedural bars a defendant must show not

merely that the errors of the proceeding created possibility of prejudice but that they worked

to his actual and substantial disadvantage in affecting the state proceedings with error of

constitutional dimensions Hogan v Warden 109 Nev at 960 860 P2d at 716 internal

quotation omitted Little v Warden 117 Nev 845 853 34 P3d 540 545

A Petitioner's Brady Claim Fails to Provide Good Cause And Prejudice

Because It Is Meritless And Untimely

Petitioner claims a violation under Brady v Maryland 373 US 83 83 SCt 1194

1963 provides him good cause to overcome the procedural bars Second Petition at 9-11

41-48 Petitioner claims a Iatent fingerprint report showing that a stolen purse recovered from

1933 Western Avenue had fingerprints that did not match his was not disclosed to defense

Second Petition at 41-48

To qualify as good cause Petitioner must demonstrate that the State affirmatively

wid-dield information favorable from the defense State v Bennett 119 Nev 589 600 81 P3d

1 8 2003 The defense bears the burden of proving that the State withheld infon-nation and

it must prove specific facts that show as much State v Bennett 119 Nev 589 600 81 P3d

182003

Here Petitioner cannot use this Bra claim as good cause and prejudice because his

Brady claim is meritless See Section 111 hfra As shown below Petitioner fails to show that

the State affinnatively withheld favorable information from him See Section 111 hfra

Furthermore Petitioner's cannot use his Brady claim to prove good cause and prejudice

because it is untimely The State does not concede that the fingerprint print report was withheld
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from Petitioner until 2017 However even assuming that Petitioner did not receive it from the

State until 2017 Petitioner only had until 2018 to raise this Bra claim to the Court

Petitioner's failure to do so precludes him from using this claim as good cause and prejudice

to file a procedurally barred habeas petition

B Petitioner's Claim Of Actual Innocence Fails To Establish Good Cause And
Prejudice Because It Is Merifless And Barred By The Law Of The Case

Petitioner claims he has good cause to overcome the procedural bars because he is

actually innocent as shown by a previously unavailable report excluding Petitioner as a

contributor of DNA found under Hamiltons fingernails Second Petition at 12 48-51

Petitioner's claim of actual innocence based on the new DNA evidence is negated by the

Nevada Supreme Court's holding that none of this new evidence from Hamilton's crime

scenes affects the evidence supporting the guilty verdict where at trial no physical evidence

of DNA tied Seka to the crime scenes and the State's case was completely circumstantial

Seka 13 Nev at 316 490 P3d at 1280 As shown below Petitioner fails to establish good

cause and prejudice because his claim of actual innocence is meritless and barred by the law

of the case See Section IV hffira

C Petitioner Cannot Establish Prejudice To Overcome The Procedural Bars

Due To The Overwhelming Evidence Supporting Both Murder Convictions

Petitioner claims that the DNA evidence and the Bra material establish his innocence

of the Hamilton murder and robbery because the evidence at trial was weak and entirely

circumstantial Second Petition at 13 Petitioner s claim fails due to the overwhelming

evidence presented against him at trial The Nevada Supreme Court stated

Moreover the physical and circumstantial evidence overwhelmingly supported

a guilty verdict as to both murders Limanni was killed by a 32 caliber weapon
and Hamilton was killed by a 357 caliber weapon-and both types of

ammunition were found at Cinergi where Seka worked and lived Hamilton was

killed next door to Cinergi and the bullet fragments suggest Limanni was killed

at Cinergi a supposition corroborated by Seka's own confession to Cramer Both

Limanni's and Hamiltons bodies were dumped off a road in the desert Limanni's

body was transported in the company van Seka preferred to drive before Limanni

disappeared and Hamilton's body was transported in the Toyota truck that Seka
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was driving after Limanni disappeared-a truck that had been cleaned shortly

before officers responded to Hamilton s murder scene Hamilton had a note with

Seka's name and business number in his pocket and his body was covered in

wood taken from Cinergi that contained Seka's fingerprints Beer bottles found

in the garbage the day after Hamilton s body was discovered had both Hamilton s

and Seka s fingerprints suggesting the two had been drinking at Cinergi just

prior to the altercation at 1929 Western Limanni's belongings were hidden at

Cinergi which Seka had access to after Limanni disappeared Limanni made

plans with Harrison for the day he went missing and Seka was the last person

to see Limanni alive Specifically Harrison testified that when Limanni left her

home the night before he disappeared the couple discussed calling each other

and going to lunch the next day But when Harrison was unable to reach Limanni

the following morning and went to Cinergi searching for Limanni she found a

large amount of cash notably Limanni had just withdrawn his money from his

bank accounts all of Limanni's clothing Limanni's dog whom Limanni took

everywhere a bullet on the floor and Seka-but not Limanni Seka-whom
Limanni had picked up at the airport the prior day-told Harrison that Limanni

had left early that morning And when Limanni failed to return Seka

discouraged Harrison from filing a missing person report All of this evidence

points to Seka as the killer

Further SekWs statements were contradicted by other evidence undermining his

truthfulness and by extension further implicating him in the crimes For

example Seka claimed that Hamilton had worked at Cinergi in mid-October but

other evidence established Hamilton moved to Las Vegas in late October or early

November When officers searching Hamilton s murder scene asked Seka about

Limanni Seka told them that he believed Limanni was in the Reno area with his

girlfriend even though Seka knew this was untrue from his conversations with

Harrison Officers noticed a bullet on a desk in Cinergi when they first arrived

yet it mysteriously went missing after Seka arrived at the scene Thereafter Seka

suggested to the police that the bullefs disappearance might be due to the

building owner removing it yet the owner confirmed to the police when

questioned that he had not been inside the building when the bullet went missing

And when Harrison noticed Seka's upset demeanor the morning Limanni

disappeared Seka blamed his mood on his girlffiend even though his girlfriend

later testified nothing bad happened between them that would have upset Seka

Finally there was substantial evidence of Seka s guilty conscience Officers

discovered someone had attempted to hide Limanni's personal papers in

Cinergi's ceiling and Seka had access to Cinergi after Limanni went missing

Circumstances suggested Seka removed the bullet on the desk that initially

caught the officer's attention A 32 caliber bullet was found in the toilet at

Cinergi as if Seka the person living and working at Cinergi had attempted to

dispose of incriminating evidence down the toilet The dumpster behind the

business had been emptied shortly before officers arrived to investigate
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Hamilton's murder scene and an officer observed that it was nearly empty that

morning yet by afternoon after Seka arrived at the location that same dumpster

was filled with Limanni's personal belongings and papers some of them burned

even though officers were at that time only searching for clues as to Hamilton s

death and were unaware of Limanni's disappearance After Seka learned he was

a suspect in Hamiltons murder Seka attempted to leave the scene in the decaled

van that held evidence of Limanni's murder Seka told officers he would return

to Cinergi after dinner but instead Seka fled the state Seka also told Harrison

he was fleeing to avoid prosecution And Seka made incriminating statements to

his longtime friend Cramer and eventually confessed Limanni's murder to

Cramer All of this evidence ties Seka to Limanni's death and ultimately ties him

to Hamilton's death as well

Seka 13 Nev at 316-318 490 P3d at 1280-128 1

In summary Petitioner fails to establish good cause and prejudice to overcome the

procedural bars and this Petition must be denied

111 GROUND ONE MUST BE DENIED BECAUSE PETITIONER FAILS TO
ESTABLISH A BRADY VIOLATION

Petitioner claims a Brady violation and alleges that the State failed to provide a latent

fingerprint report Second Petition at 42 Petitioner claims a Brady violation because a latent

fingerprint report showing that a stolen purse recovered from 1933 Western Avenue had

fingerprints that did not match Sekas was not disclosed to Petitioner Second Petition at 41

48 Petitioner's Brady claim must be denied because 1 Petitioner fails to establish that the

State wittilield the report 2 Petitioner fails to establish that report was favorable to him and

3 Petitioner fails to establish that the report was material

It is well-settled that Brady and its progeny require a prosecutor to disclose evidence

favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment See

Mazzan v Warden 116 Nev 48 66 993 P2d 25 2000 Jimenez v State 112 Nev 610 618

19 918 P2d 687 1996 There are three components to a Brady violation 1 the evidence

at issue is favorable to the accused 2 the evidence was withheld by the state either

intentionally or inadvertently and 3 prejudice ensued i e the evidence was material

Mazzan 116 Nev at 67 Where the state fails to provide evidence which the defense did not

request or requested generally it is constitutional error if the omitted evidence creates a
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reasonable doubt which did not otherwise exist In other words evidence is material if there is

a reasonable probability that the result would have been different if the evidence had been

disclosed Id at 66 internal citations omitted In Nevada after a specific request for

evidence a Bra violation is material if there is a reasonable possibility that the omitted

evidence would have affected the outcome Id original emphasis citing Jimenez 112 Nev

at 618-19 918 P2d at 692 Roberts v State 110 Nev 1121 1132 881 P2d 1 8 1994
The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the

defense or might have affected the outcome of the trial does not establish materiality in the

constitutional sense United States v Agurs 427 US 97 108 96 S Ct 2392 2399-400

1976 Favorable evidence is material and constitutional error results if there is a reasonable

probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different Kyles 514 US at

433-34 115 S Ct at 1565 citing United States v Bagley 473 US 667 682 105 S Ct 3375

3383 1985 A reasonable probability is shown when the nondisclosure unden-nines

confidence in the outcome of the trial Kyles 514 US at 434 115 S Ct 1565 Appellant is

unable to demonstrate prejudice and thus his claim fails

Further in Evans v State 117 Nev 609 625-27 28 P3d 498 510-11 2001 overruled

on other grounds by Lisle v State 131 Nev 356 366 n5 351 P3d 725 732 n5 2015 the

defendant on appeal argued that the State had the obligation to continue investigating

alternate suspects of the crime and speculated the State had evidence one of the victims had

been an informant previously which would have demonstrated others had motive to kill her

ILd at 626 28 P3d at 5 10-11 The Court found that the defendant had not demonstrated that

such an investigation would have led to exculpatory infon-nation Id at 626 28 P3d at 510

To undermine confidence in a trial's outcome a defendant would have to allege the

nondisclosure of specific information that not only linked alternate suspects to the crime but

also indicate the defendant was not involved Id at 626 28 P3d at 510 Further the Court

found that the victim's mere acting as an informant without at least some evidence that she

had received actual threats against her would not implicate the State's affirmative duty to
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disclose potentially exculpatory information to the defense because such information must be

material Id at 627 28 P3d at 511

A Petitioner Fails To Show That The State Withheld The Fingerprint Report

Petitioner claims the fingerprint report from 1999 was not turned over to the defense

and defense did not see it until November 2017 after the district court granted Seka's DNA

petition Second Petition at 43 Petitioner's claim does not prove that the State withheld the

report from him until November 2017 because Petitioner fails to provide sufficient supporting

evidence

During trial both the State and Petitioner's counsel stated that Petitioner's counsel

looked at the State's and LVMPD's case files On February 14200 1 trial counsel for the State

informed the Court

For that record I have never believed that the open file policies instituted by our

office is the most effective means to make sure that needed information gets into

the hands of the Defense

I've got my own policy and my own policy which I implement in every case
and did in this case was to make my file available to the Defense at any time
As we get close to a fin-n trial date and the Court well knows that usually

several trial dates are set in a homicide case and finally you get one where you
know it's pretty much going to go

And as you get close to that date it has always been my policy and I did it in

this case told Defense counsel Please come to iny office go over my file page
by page to make sure that there's nothing that I've got here that you haven't got
That was done within the last two to three weeks

99

23

24

25

26

27

28

After that Mr Christiansen t old me that he wanted to go to homicide and take

a look at the homicide detective's file just to make double sure that I had

everything the homicide detective had and that Mr Christiansen had everything

that I had

We did that and we spent a couple of hours with the homicide detective one

afternoon Mr Christensen pulled out several pages of reports I think they were

all reports of forensic examination one by Terry Johnson one by Mr Welch

JuKy Trial Transcript hereinafter JTT Februa1y 14 200 1 Volume 1 at 7-8
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On February 22 2001 while cross-examining LVMPD homicide Detective Thomas

Thowsen Petitioner's counsel stated that he went to Detective Thowsen's office three 3 or

four 4 weeks prior

Q I went through your file with you and Mr Kane and identified things that I

didn't know if I had or think I had and you were kind enough to even go yourself

and make copies of those

A That s correct

JTT FebruaEy 22 2001 Vol 1 at 34

Petitioner's Exhibit 12-15 declarations from Petitioner a former investigator and

employees from Rocky Mountain Innocence Center who worked on Seka's case fail to show

that the State withheld the report from defense The declarations merely show that they did not

read andor remember reading the report when they worked on Petitioner's file As additional

information Petitioner has made a different representation when he claimed in his Answering

Brief to the Nevada Supreme Court that he did not receive the report until 2018 See Attached

Exhibit I Respondent John Seka's Answering Brief at 12 Thus Petitioner fails to

sufficiently support his claim that the State withheld the report from defense

B Petitioner Fails To Show That The Fingerprint Report Was Favorable And
Material

Petitioner claims that the fingerprint report was favorable and material

The fingerprint report was favorable The police had originally alleged that Seka

had stolen the purse But the latent fingerprint report showed that Seka was not

the contributor to the fingerprints found on the purse It is clear evidence

showing that he did not steal the purse That is obviously favorable

The fingerprint report is also material The fingerprint report exonerates Seka of

stealing the purse The report shows that Seka as well as Hamilton and Limanni

were excluded as the source of the fingerprints connected to the purse

Just as important a comparison of the deformed lead bullet found in Gorzochs

car and two bullets found in the Hamilton case established a likely connection

between the two crimes The class characteristics found on the bullets were

consistent potentially linking them to the same gun If Seka did not steal the

purse then he very likely did not commit the Hamilton murder due to this
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ballistics connection This evidence standing alone would raise a reasonable

doubt in any reasonable juror's mind as to whether Seka committed the Hamilton

murder

Second Petition at 44

Petitioner argues that the report undermines the State's theory that he was guilty of

murdering Hamilton because Petitioner had control over 1933 Western Second Petition 45

citing JTT 2232 001 Vol 1 at 5 1 Petitioner concludes that the existence of the purse inside

1933 Western provides concrete physical evidence that someone else had access to 1933

Western Second Petition at 46

Petitioner s argument that the report showing that a purse was found in 1933 Western

Avenue with an unknown person's fingerprints was favorable and material fail for several

reasons First Petitioner's claim that the existence of a purse would have shown the jury that

4someone else had access to 1933 Western fails because evidence presented at trial showed

that several people had access to 1933 Western

For instance Michael Cerda testified that when he last saw Limanni there was a

shapely blonde-headed nice-looking gal exiting 1933 Western JTT 2132001 Vol 2 at 6 1

Jennifer Harrison also testified that she dated Limanni and would visit him at 1933 Western

that there was an employee a Mexican guy aside from Limanni and Petitioner JTT

2142001 Vol I at 49 72 Harrison further testified that when she was looking for Limani

on the first day that he was missing she went to Cinergi and found Petitioner passed out on

the floor while an unknown woman was sleeping on the couch JTT 2142001 Vol 1 at 65

Christine Caterino further testified that when she visited Petitioner in September 1998 and

stayed at Cinergi there were people coming and going from the store JTT 2222001 Vol

at 40 Thus Petitioner's argument that the report would have shown that someone else had

access to 1933 Western fails

Second Petitioner argues that the State's case relied almost entirely on the purported

connections between evidence related to the Hamilton murder and evidence found in or

connected to 1933 Western Second Petition at 45 Petitioner's claim for materiality of the

report fails because the State did not charge Petitioner with any crime related to the stolen
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purse and did not use any evidence related to the purse to connect Petitioner to Hamilton's or

Limanni's murder

Third the report does not negate the overwhelming evidence that Petitioner killed

Hamilton and Limanni The State is not required to show that Petitioner's fingerprints were on

every piece of evidence recovered by the police The jury's verdict reflects as much At trial

the LVMPD latent print examiner Fred Boyd testified that a beer bottle and wooden boards

found near Hamilton's body had fingerprints that did not belong to Petitioner or the victims

yet they found Petitioner guilty of both murders JTT 2212001 Vol 2 at 15 17-23

Finally Petitioner's Brady claim fails because he cannot establish that the outcome of

his case would have been different if the report was presented to the jury due to the

overwhelming evidence supporting the guilty verdicts for both murders See Section II C
supra In summary Petitioner fails to establish all three 3 elements of his Bra claim and

Ground One must be denied

IV GROUND TWO MUST BE DENIED BECAUSE PETITIONER'S CLAIM OF
ACTUAL INNOCENCE DOES NOT ENTITLE HIM TO RELIEF

Petitioner claims his conviction and sentence are invalid because new evidence

including exonerating DNA evidence establishes he is actually innocent of first-degree

murder second degree murder and robbery Second Petition at 48 Petitioner argues he is

actually innocent because the new DNA result excludes him as a contributor to the DNA

profile found on Hamiltons right and left fingernails Second Petition at 50

Actual innocence means factual innocence not mere legal insufficiency Bouslev v

United States 523 US 614 623 118 SCt 1604 1611 1998 Sawyer v Whitle 505 US

333 338-39 112 SCt 2514 2518-19 1992 To establish actual innocence of a crime a

petitioner must show that it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have

convicted him absent a constitutional violation Calderon v Thomson 523 US 538 560

118 S Ct 1489 1503 1998 emphasis added quoting Schlup v Delo 513 US 298 316

115 S Ct 851 861 1995 Actual innocence is a stringent standard designed to be applied

only in the most extraordinary situations Pel
1

117 Nev at 876 34 P3d at 530
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Without any new evidence of innocence even the existence of a concededly

meritorious constitutional violation is not itself sufficient to establish a miscarriage of justice

that would allow a habeas court to reach the merits of the barred claim Schlup 513 US at

316 115 S Ct at 861 The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has rejected free-standing claims

of actual innocence as a basis for habeas review stating c laims of actual innocence based

on newly discovered evidence have never been heId to state a ground for federal habeas relief

absent an independent constitutional violation occurring in the underlying state criminal

proceeding Meadows v Delo 99 F3d 280 283 8th Cir 1996 citing Herrera v Collins

506 US 3901 400 113 S Ct 853 860 1993 Furthermore the newly discovered evidence

suggesting the defendant's innocence must be so strong that a court cannot have confidence

in the outcome of the trial Schlup 513 US at 315 115 S Ct at 861 Once a defendant has

made a showing of actual innocence he may then use the claim as a gateway to present his

constitutional challenges to the court and require the court to decide them on the merits Id

A Freestanding Actual Innocence Claims Are Not Cognizable Even In Post

Conviction Proceedings

Nevada law does not recognize freestanding claims of actual innocence in a Petition for

Writ of Habeas Corpus but rather only provides for claims of actual innocence where a

defendant is attempting to overcome a procedural bar caused by an untimely or successive

petition See Mitchell v State 122 Nev 1269 1273-74 149 P3d 33 36 2006 See also Clem

v State 119 Nev 615 621 81 P3d 521 525-26 2003 This is consistent with the Nevada

Supreme Court's adoption of the standard established in Schlup v Delo See 513 US 238

315 115 S Ct 851 861 1995 quoting Herrerav Collins 506 US 390404113 S Ct 853

862 1993 Schlup's claim of innocence is thus not itself a constitutional claim but instead

a gateway through which a habeas petitioner must pass to have his otherwise barred

constitutional claim considered on the merits

In contrast a freestanding claim of actual innocence is a claim wherein a petitioner

alleges actual innocence alone rather than actual innocence supported by a claim of

constitutional deficiency warrants relief See Herrera 506 US 390 113 S Ct 853 1993
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The Herrera Court acknowledged that claims of actual innocence based on newly discovered

evidence have never been held as a ground for habeas relief absent an independent

constitutional violation in the underlying criminal proceeding Id The Court noted such claims

were traditionally addressed in the context of requests for executive clemency which power

exists in every state and at the federal level Id at 414-15 113 S Ct at 867-68 However the

Court assumed arguendo that a federal freestanding claim of actual innocence may exist

where a petitioner was sentenced to death and state law precluded any relief Herrera 506

US at 4171 113 S Ct at 869 Schlup 513 US at 317 115 S Ct at 862 The United States

Supreme Court has never found a freestanding claim of actual innocence to be available in a

non-capital case See eg Herrera 506 US at 404-405 416-417 House v Bell 547 US

518 554 126 S Ct 2064 2086 2006 see also Carriger v Stewart 132 F3d 463 476 9th

Cir 1997 Jackson v Calderon 211 F3d 1148 1165 9th Cir 2000

Petitioner fails to cite any Nevada authority which would allow him to raise a

freestanding claim of actual innocence and improperly suggests such a claim before this Court

However Petitioner fails to recognize that this assertion itself is not an independent

cognizable ground for habeas relief See Schlup 513 US at 327 115 SCt at 867 Instead

such an assertion may only constitute good cause to overcome other procedural bars to

Petitioner's claim Id However as shown below Petitioner's claim for actual innocence lacks

merit Therefore Petitioner cannot meet the stringent standard for demonstrating actual

innocence sufficient to overcome Petitioner s various procedural bars

B Ground Two Is Merifiess And Barred By The Law Of The Case

The doctrine of res judicata precludes a party from re-litigating an issue which has been

finally deten-nined by a court of competent jurisdiction Exec Mgmt v Ticor Titles Ins Co
114 Nev 823 834 963 P2d 465 473 1998 gifing Univ of Nev v Tarkanian I 10 Nev

581 598 879 P2d 1180 1191 1994 see also Sealfon v United States 332 US 575 578

68 S Ct 237 239 1948 recognizing the doctrine s availability in criminal proceedings

The doctrine is intended to prevent multiple litigation causing vexation and expense to the

parties and wastedjudicial resources Id
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Moreover the law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in

which the facts are substantially the same Hall v State 91 Nev 314 315 535 P2d 797 798

1975 quoting Walker v State 85 Nev 337 343 455 P2d 34 38 1969 The doctrine of

the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument

subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings Id at 316 535 P2d at 799

Under the law of the case doctrine issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be

reargued in a habeas petition Pellegrini v State 117 Nev 860 879 34 P3d 519 532 2001

citing McNelton v State 115 Nev 396 414-15 990 P2d 1263 1275 1999 Furthermore

this Court cannot overrule the Nevada Supreme Court Nev Const Art VI 6 See Mason v

State 206 SW 3d 869 875 Ark 2005 recognizing the doctrine's applicability in the

criminal context see also York v State 342 SW 528 553 Tex Crim Appl 2011

Petitioner presents the same DNA result that was among those considered by the

Nevada Supreme Court in 202 1

In 2017 Seka requested a DNA test of evidence collected at Hamilton's remote

desert crime scene and the surrounding area Seka argued that had items

collected by detectives yielded exculpatory evidence at trial he would not have

been convicted particularly in light of the evidence implicating Cinergi

investors and unden-nining Cramer's testimony of Seka's confession The district

court granted Seka's request and the following items were tested for DNA in

late 2018 and early 2019

1 Two cigarette butts found near Hamilton s body Testing in 1999 failed to

find any testable DNA Testing in 2018 failed to obtain DNA from one cigarette

butt but a partial profile from the second cigarette butt did not match either

Hamilton or Seka and both were excluded as contributors

26

27

28

2 Hamiltons fingernail clippings Testing in 1998 exchided Seka as a

conti-ibutoy to the DNAftom the clippings oil one hand The 2018 DNA testing

likewise exchided Seka as a conti-ibutoi to the DNAfi-om the clippings oil both

hands butfoundpossible DNAftoin anotherperson although it was such a sinall

aillount ofDNA that it could have been transfe7-i-edfi-onz something as benign as

a handshake oi DNA may not have actually existed

3 Hairs found underneath Hamiltons fingernails In 1998 the DNA profile

included Hamilton and excluded Seka The 2018 testing likewise found only

Hamilton's DNA on the hairs
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4 The Skoal tobacco container found near Hamilton's body The 2019 testing

showed two contributors but Hamilton and Seka were excluded The forensic

scientist explained that an old technique used to find latent fingerprints

huffing may have been used on this item and may have contaminated the

DNA profile Moreover because at the time of the original trial the State did not

have the capability to test for touch DNA the scientists may not have worn

gloves while examining the evidence or crime scene analysts may have used the

same gloves and same fingerprint dusting brush while processing evidence

thereby adding to or transferring DNA

5 A beer bottle found off the road in the desert in the vicinity of Hamiltorf s

body The 2019 DNA testing excluded Hamilton and Seka but included a female

contributor As with the Skoal tobacco container the forensic scientist testified

that huffing and other outdated procedures may have contributed unknown DNA
onto the item

6 The baseball hat found at 1929 Westem The 2019 DNA testing showed three

contributors including Hamilton but the results were inconclusive as to Seka

The forensic scientist explained the cap was kept in an unsealed bag along with

a toothbrush also found at 1929 Western Critically he further testified that it

was impossible to know how many times the bag had been opened or closed

during thejury trial or whether the hat had been contaminated such as byjurors

holding it or talking over it

Based on these DNA results Seka moved for a new trial arguing the new results

both exculpated Seka and implicated an unknown person in the crimes The

district court found that flhe multiple unknown DNA profiles are favorable

evidence and granted the motion Arguing the new DNA evidence does not

warrant a new trial the State appeals

20
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Seka 13 Nev at 316-318 490 P3d at 1280-1281 emphasis added

The Nevada Supreme Court discussion of the DNA results negates Petitioner's

contention that they show actual innocence

Fh-st as to the hairsfound underneath Hainillonsfingernails updated DNA
testing showed only that those were Hanzilton's hah-s inirroring the DNA results

at the thne qf tfial and is cumulative hei-e As to the DNA collected fi-onz

Hantilton'sfingernail clippings the bullet and lacIc ofstippling evidence shows

Hanzilton was shot in the backfi-oni a distance seemingly as hefledfi-oill the

killer There is no evidence qf a struggle i-educing the evidentiag value qfally

newly discovered DNA undei hisfingernails Moi-eovei theflingernail clippings
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pi-ovided so little DNA that it ispossible anothei-profile mightnotactually exist

fin-thei i-educing the evidence's ab-eady divindling vahie

The beer bottle cigarette butt and Skoal tobacco container were spread along

the shoulder of a major road at increasing distances of up to 120 feet from

Hamilton's body and may well have been nothing more than trash tossed by
drivers or pedestrians in the desert area The State did not argue at trial that Seka

dropped those items and to the extent DNA testing yielded unknown DNA
profiles the new DNA evidence shows only that an unidentified person touched

those items at some unknown time Thus any link to the killer is speculative at

best Moreover testing at the time of trial used outdated techniques and

procedures that may have contaminated any DNA on those items further calling

into question their evidentiary value And the jury was already aware that the

cigarette butts found near Hamilton were different than those that Seka smoked

making the new DNA test results on that evidence cumulative

Finally the DNA on the hat has no probative value here Although that testing

produced other profiles it was inconclusive as to Seka and moreover the hat

was not properly sealed and may have been contaminated before and during trial

including by the jury making the presence of additional DNA profiles of no

relevance under these circumstances

Thus at most this new DNA evidence showed only that another person may
have come in contact with some of those items It does not materially support

Seka's defense as it is cumulative of the evidence already adduced at trial

excluding Seka as a contributor to DNA profiles or fingerprint evidence The

State did not rely upon any of these items at trial to argue SeWs guilt further

reducing the evidentiary value of the new DNA evidence and moreover

nothing supports that the killer actually touched any of the evidence tested in

2018 and 2019 Nor did any of the new DNA evidence implicate another killer

or exonerate Seka under the totality of all of the evidence adduced in this case

Importantly none of this new evidence from Hamilton s crime scenes affects the

evidence supporting the guilty verdict where at trial no physical evidence of

DNA tied Seka to the crime scenes and the State's case was completely

circumstantial It is clear from the circumstantial evidence that Hamilton was

killed next door to Sekas business and residence on Western Avenue and his

body was transported and dumped in a remote desert area The 357 bullet

casings found at Cinergi were consistent with the caliber of gun that was used to

shoot Hamilton next door and Hamilton s blood was found at 1929 Western and

in the truck Seka was driving the morning after Hamilton's body was discovered

Moreover the truWs tire impressions were similar to the tire tracks found near

Hamilton's body-tracks that drove off and back on the road consistent with the

body being quickly dumped Although crime scene analysts routinely gather

items found around a body in hopes of implicating a killer under these particular
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circumstances-where the body was driven to a remote area and dumped off the

side of the road-the random trash items in the desert with unknown DNA
contributors do not undermine the other evidence against Seka

Seka 13 Nev at 315-316 490 P3d at 1280-1281 emphasis added

Petitioner fails to establish actual innocence because he supports his claim with DNA

evidence that the Supreme Court found to be of little value Additionally Petitioner cannot

establish actual innocence due to the overwhelming evidence supporting his murder

convictions See Section II C supra Ground Two must be denied

V PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

NRS 34770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing It reads

1 Thejudge orjustice upon review of the return answer and all

supporting documents which are filed shall deterinine whether

an evidentiary hearing is required A petitioner must not be

discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the

respondent unless an evidentimy hearing is held

2 If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not

entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required he

shall dismiss the petition without a hearing

3 If the judge or justice deten-nines that an evidentiary hearing

is required he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the

hearing

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without

expanding the record then no evidentiary hearing is necessary Marshall v State I 10 Nev

1328 885 P2d 603 1994 Mann v State 118 Nev 351 356 46 P3d 1228 1231 2002 A

defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual

allegations which if true would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled

by the record Marshall 110 Nev at 1331 885 P2d at 605 see also Hargrove v Stat 100

Nev 498 503 686 P2d 222 225 1984 holding that Ja defendant seeking post-conviction

relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the

record A claim is belied when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it

existed at the time the claim was made Mann 118 Nev at 354 46 P3d at 1230 2002

It is improper to hold an evidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record See

State v Eighth Judicial Dist Cou 121 Nev 225 234 112 P3d 1070 1076 2005 The
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district court considered itself the equivalent of the trial judge and consequently wanted

to make as complete a record as possible This is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary

hearing Further the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is

not required simplybecause counsel's actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic

decisions Harrington v Richter 131 S Ct 770 788 2011 Although courts may not indulge

post hoe rationalization for counsel's decision making that contradicts the available evidence

of counsel's actions neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis

for his or her actions Id There is a strong presumption that counsel's attention to certain

issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than sheer neglect Id citing

Yarborough v Gent 540 US 1 124 S Ct 1 2003 Strickland calls for an inquiry in the

objective reasonableness of counsel's performance not counsel's subjective state of mind 466

US 6681 688 104 S Ct 2052 2065 1994

Here Petitioner requests an evidentiary hearing There is no need for an evidentiary

hearing because Petitioner is not entitled to any relief Petitioner is not entitled to relief because

this Second Petition is procedurally barred Petitioner fails to establish good cause and

prejudice to overcome the procedural bars and Petitioner's claims are meritless No need

exists to expand the record as all claims can be disposed of based on the existing record Thus

Petitioner's request for an evidentiary hearing should be denied

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons this Court should dismiss andor deny Petitioner's Petition

for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post-Conviction

DATED this 28th day of March 2023

Respectfully submitted

STEVEN B WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar 00 1565

BY IsITALEENPANDUKHT
TALEEN PANDUKHT
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar 5734
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I Whether the district court properly exercised its discretion in awarding Seka

a new trial when results of new DNA testing not only excluded him from all

the probative physical evidence in the case but also implicated an unknown

individual

Mr Seka believes that the State accurately sets forth the Jurisdictional Statement

and Routing Statement As such under NRAP 28 b those sections will not be

duplicated here

I

Clark-Hill 99991 394794 611991 100-1114 20
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr Seka agrees with the State's Statement of the Case but suppIements it as

follows

2An arrest warrant was issued for Seka on March 15 1999 10 AA 002432

Seka's preliminary hearing was held on June 28 1999 The State admitted that their

evidence connecting Seka to the murders and robberies of Peter Limanni

Limanni and Eric Hamilton Hamilton was extremely circumstantial RA

00114

On February 2 2001 Seka filed a Motion to Dismiss the Charge of Murder

and Robbery of Lamani sic or in the Alternative to Sever the Charges of Murder

and Robbery of Lamani sic and Hamilton into Two Separate Trials RA 00 13 1

00145 The State opposed and Seka's Motion was denied

On February 15 2018 after the district court granted Seka's petition for DNA

testing it ordered DNA testing of Hamilton's fingernails hair identified under

Hamilton's fingemails and cigarette butts collected near Hamilton's body RA

00154-00158

2 The arrest warrant emphasized that Seka was involved in a selles ofcrimes 9

AA 002150 emphasis added
Reference to RA is the Respondent's Appendix

4 In its opposition the State described the two murders as being inextricably

intertwined RA 146-153

2
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On December 14 2018 the court held an evidentiary hearing on the probative

value of the remaining items of evidence 8 AA 001665-814 On January 24 2019

the court ordered DNA testing of additional evidence including Hamilton's baseball

cap that was left at the murder scene and a Skoal container and two beer bottles that

police collected near Hamilton's body 8 AA 001816-21

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Cinergi and Limanni's Business DeaIings

In September 1998 Seka moved from Philadelphia to Las Vegas to work for

Limanni 5 AA 001188-89 Limanni operated a HVAC business called Cinergi at

1933 Western Avenue in Las Vegas 1933 2 AA 000365-66 Limanni and Seka

worked at Cinergi and lived at the business 2 AA 000452-53 Because they were

transitioning Cinergi to a cigar shop Limanni and Seka purchased lumber for a

humidor 8 AA 001970 001977-79 Justin Nguyen who worked at Cinergi for

several months stated that Limanni treated Seka like his own brother and that he

never observed Limanni call Seka names or mistreat him 9 AA 002006 Takeo Kato

Kato and Kazutoshi Toe Toe were two Japanese investors who financially

backed Cinergi and lived at the business for a short time 8 AA 001963-64 9 AA

002009-24 002026-43 They described Seka and Limanni as having a good

friendship like brothers 8 AA 00 1963-66 9 AA 002009-24 002026-43
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Kato and Toe provided Limanni with approximately one million dollars in

capital and four vans to operate Cinergi 9 AA 002009-24 002026-43 Kato was also

on the lease for 1933 Id During the transition Limanni unsuccessfully attempted

to obtain more money from Kato and Toe 8 AA 001970 However Limanni did

receive capital from Amir Mohammed Mohammed and another investor who

resided in Las Vegas 9 AA 002059-60 002067-69

The investors all had access to 1933 and to the vans and Toyota truck

associated with the business 8 AA 001968-69 9 AA 002059-60 In addition

Limanni's airlfriend Jennifer Harrison Harrison and numerous others who

attended the frequent parties Limanni hosted had access to the business and the

business vehicles 8 AA 001968-69 9 AA 002082 4 AA 000889-90 The vehicles

keys were easily accessible inside the business 4 AA 000956 5 AA 00 1080

In September 1998 Limanni began removing large sums of money from his

bank accounts and was overdrawn 5 AA 001105-06 On September 22 1998

Limanni signed a lease for an office space in Lake Tahoe and paid a deposit by

check 2 AA 000485-86 9 AA 002063 Limanni's check bounced and he returned

to Lake Tahoe on October 5 1998 with another check 9 AA 002063 Limanni paid

I Toe indicated that he and Kato had invested one million dollars with Limanni 9

AA 002009-24 Kato indicated that he had invested three hundred thousand

dollars 9 AA 002026-43
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for three months of the lease intending to move into the space on October 15 1998

9 AA 002063 Limanni left one of Cinergi's vans tools and other equipment in Lake

Tahoe purportedly attempting to hide them from his investors 2 AA 000485-86 9

AA 002026-43

Kato and Toe visited Cinergi in late summer or fall 1998 8 AA 00 1968 They

were angry because they believed that Limanni was diverting business funds for

personal use 8 AA 001966-67 As a result Kato attempted to cancel the 1933 lease

and told Limanni he wanted his investment returned 2 AA 000395 8 AA 001967

Kato and Toe confronted Limanni to recover the business vehicles but Limanni

refused and the two left 9 AA 002020 On October 26 1998 before Limanni

disappeared Kato repossessed one of the business vans 2 AA 000362 9 AA 02146

Unable to receive a return on his large investment Kato was forced to start

bankruptcy proceedings 3 AA 000741

Mohammed abruptly moved out of the state shortly after Hamilton's body was

discovered and police began investigating the crime scene at 1929 Western Avenue

1929 9 AA 002047 AA 002059-60 Marylin Mignone Mohammed's former

6
Investigator Jim Thomas attempted to locate Mohammed but found no record of

him in the United States 9 AA 002159 He described Moharnmed as a ghost and

believed Mohammed presented a fictitious identity to Limanni and Seka 9 AA
00216 1 Mohammed even used a social security number that belonged to another

z 1

person 9 AA 002166 Mohammed was a Syrian national and Investigator Ed

Heddy believed he may have returned to Syria 9 AA 002069

5
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business associate characterized Mohammed as a dangerous person and indicated

that the FBI was investigating him around the time of the murders 9 AA 002157

Limanni Disappears

On November 2 1998 Limanni closed his bank accounts 5 AA 001105-06

On November 6 1998 the property manager Michael Cerda Cerda saw

Limanni around 1030 am outside Cinergi 2 AA 000367-68 Limanni asked Cerda

if he could pay rent late because although he had between 200000 and 300000

in cash with him he needed the money for a cigar show he was attending 2 AA

000369-70 Cerda reminded him a late fee would be assessed 2 AA 000369

Limanni agreed and left 2 AA 000369-70 He was not seen again
7 Id Limanni's

sister filed a missing person report on December 2 1998 5 AA 001133-35

Seka called several friends in Philadelphia informing them that he was

worried because Limanni was missing 5 AA001203-04 Seka pawned various items

from the business to keep the business afloat but was unsuccessful 6 AA 00 13 12

7 Harrison testified she spoke with Seka on November 5 and he was upset 2 AA
000460-63 The prosecution used this information to demonstrate Scka's state of

mind and imply that Seka killed Hamilton and Limanni that day Id However
Seka's phone records show that this conversation did not take place and Harrison

perjured herself by testifying to it 5 AA 1141-43 Further Cerda saw Limanni on

November 6 and Hamilton was in jail until November 12 2 AA 000369-70 5 AA
00 1088-9 1 Harrison also gave police the incorrect phone number for Limanni 10

AA 002335 The prosecution thus used the wrong phone records to prove Limanni

did not use his phone during November and Mcember 1998 Police admitted the

error but never obtained the correct phone records for Limanni 5 AA 00 113 9 43

6
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Hamilton is Found

On November 16 1998 a construction worker found a body in a remote area

with several pieces of lumber on top of the corpse 3 AA 000517-18 The man had

a ring on his finger and a note in his pants pocket with a name Jack and a

telephone number 3 AA 000521 Later police traced the telephone number to the

1933 landline 3 AA 000522 Crime scene analysts also collected two empty beer

bottles two cigarette butts 9 and a Skoal container near the body 5 AA 001049-50

4 AA 000817-18 3 AA 000626

The State determined that the man who was later identified as Hamilton died

from three guiishot wounds to his leg chest and abdomen 2 AA 000423-24 The

coroner also noted a minor laceration just above the right wrist that was possibly

consistent with someone removing Hamilton's bracelet 2 AA 000424 The coroner

estimated Hamilton died within twenty-four hours of being found 2 AA 000429

Hamilton was a drifter with a history of drug abuse and mental illness who

used multiple names and social security numbers 5 AA 00 1092-93 He moved to

Three boards contained fingerprints from Seka and Limanni 10 AA 002446-56

Another two boards contained latent prints that did not inatch Seka orDinanni Id
These unidentified latent prints were never compared to the latent prints identified

on the beer bottle found near Hamilton's body or to any of the alternative suspects

5 AA 00 1051-52

The cigarette filters did not match the type Seka smoked at the time 5 AA
001117-18
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Las Vegas shortly before his death and worked sporadically at Cinergi doing

construction 3 AA 000708 000710-11 When questioned Seka realized that he

knew Hamilton by the name Seymour 2 AA 000346-47 0003 60 5 AA 00 1053

According to Seka Hamilton would come to Cinergi looking for work 8 AA

001989-91 Seka gave Hamilton the Cinergi phone number so Hamilton could call

instead of dropping by 9 AA 002140

Hamilton's sister testified that Hamilton had approximately 3000 dollars

when he moved to Las Vegas 3 AA 000706 However Hamilton had been in jail on

a trespassing charge f
1-7

rom November 6 until November 12 1998 four days before

his body was found and three days before he was thought to have been killed 5 AA

00 1088-9 1 Wlien booked into the jail and released on November 12 1998 he had

no money with him Id

1929 Crime Scene

On November 17 1998 the day after Hamilton's body was found a

neighboring business owner called Cerda and police about an alleged break-in at

1929 10 2 AA 000437-38 Upon arrival police noticed broken glass and blood in

1929 4 AA 000820-2 1 In the parking lot in ftont of 1929 police found a piece of

11
1929 Western was next door to Cinergi and had been home to an illegal boiler

room operation 2 AA 000384

8
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molding from the broken window with what appeared to be a bullet hole 3 AA

000546 Finally a lead projectile assumed to be from a bullet was found on the

sidewalk outside of 1929 next to droplets of blood Id 3 AA 000587

All indications were that Hamilton was murdered in 1929 3 AA 000523

000546-47 000550 Police found blood on the entryway carpet and on the broken

glass that was later matched to Hamilton 3 AA 000546-47 4 AA 000821 There

were bloody drag marks across the carpet one of which led to the broken window

3 AA 000546-47 9 AA 002242 Police recovered latent fingerprints from the point

of-entry window the glass pane on the interior of the front door and from a glass

fragment inside the point-of-entry 11 9 AA 002249 A black baseball cap that

Hamilton always wore his gold bracelet and a rolled-up jacket with blood and bullet

holes were also found in 1929 9 AA 002248 002242 4 AA 00082 1 2 AA 000345

The bullet holes were consistent with Hamilton's wounds 3 AA 000523-24 9 AA

002242 Police also found three jacketed bullets and three bullet fragments in 1929

3 AA 000523 The bullet fragments were class consistent to the bullets used to kill

Hamilton 5 AA 001009-10

Nothing in the record indicates that these latent prints purportedly belonging to

the perpetrator were ever compared to Seka's fingerprints Nor were they

compared to other latent prints recovered from the physical evidence or to the

alternative suspects

9
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While Police were investigating 1929 Seka arrived in Cinergi's Toyota truck

4 AA 000824 The police informed Seka about the 1929 break-in and asked him if

they could search 1933 in case anyone inside needed medical attention Id 4 AA

000826-27 Seka signed a consent to search card allowing police to search for items

directly or indirectly related to the investigation of MURDER W DW 4 AA

000827 10 AA 002255 Seka and Cerda accompanied the police into 1933 10 AA

002264-66 After noticing a bullet and some knives in 1933 police searched Seka

and handcuffed him as they continued to search 1933 4 AA 000827-28 Cerda

stayed with Seka while the officers searched the business 10 AA 002264-66 Cerda

infonned officers that he had the only key to 1929 and that the business had been

vacant for approximately a month and a half 10 AA 002263

Seka was then taken to the Las Vegas Metro Police Department where he

voluntarily submitted to a taped interview 5 AA 001071 8-9 AA 001981-2003

During the interview Seka was fully cooperative 9 AA 002001 Seka consented to

police fingerprinting him and taking a buccal swab 10 AA 002255 5 AA 001078

79 Police advised Seka that he was not under arrest and took him back to 1933 5

AA 001078 However Seka could not enter 1933 because it was still being

processed 5 AA 001079

Seka told police that he had a dinner appointment and needed a vehicle Id

Police would not let Seka take the Toyota truck because they were impounding it to

10
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process as evidence 5 AA 001079 Seka gave police the Toyota key and asked if

he could retrieve the keys to one of two remaining vans 5 AA 001079-80 Police

gave Seka keys to an unmarked van without license plates 5 AA 001080-81

00 1104-05 Police reconsidered and suggested that Seka drive the van with the large

business decals 5 AA 00 108 1 Before giving him the keys police asked Seka if they

could search the van and he consented Id After discovering what appeared to be

blood police impounded the vehicle 5 AA 001081-82 Police then searched the

unmarked van and found no apparent evidentiary connection to any of the cases

and gave S eka the keys telling him he was free to leave 5 AA 0 0 1082
CI

When police searched the impounded vehicles they discovered drops of blood

in the van and in the bed of the Toyota truck 5 AA 00 1081-82 2 AA 000404 3 AA

000620 000674-76 The blood in the van matched Limanni 3 AA 000614 000617

The blood in the truck matched Hamilton 3 AA 000624 Police also lifted footprints

in the rear cargo area of the van 10 AA 002274 Nothing in the record indicates

these footprints were compared to Seka's 12

1933 Western Avenue

Police thoroughly searched 1933 where Cinergi was located and where

Limanni and Seka worked and lived before Limanni disappeared 2 AA 000452

12 When defense counsel asked whether the footprints were ever compared to

Seka's crime scene analyst Randall McPhail responded I don't know 4 AA
000982

I I
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53 9 AA 002242-44 Among the clothes papers and other items scattered around

1933 police found several items they deemed significant 4 AA 000827-28 9 AA

002242-44

First police found Limanni's wallet in the ceiling above his desk 3 AA

000526-27 Police also found a purse containing 3606 in the ceiling which had

been reported missing on November 6 1998 by Lydia Gorzoch Gorzoeh 8 AA

002057 10 AA 002276 Gorzoch's purse was stolen out ofher vehicle after someone

fired a357 bullet through the window the same caliber as those found in 1933 and

at the 1929 crime scene 10 AA 002284 002286-87 9 AA 002079 Gorzoch was

later contacted and denied knowing either Limanni or Seka 10 AA 002280 When

the prosecution asked about the purse at trial Detective James Buczek stated it was

IGnot important 3 AA 000527 However bqfore trial fingerprints were identified

on the purse which did not belong to Seka 10 AA 002282 That information was not

provided to Seka until 2018 Id

On November 23 1998 while police were still investigating Hamilton's

homicide and while Limanni was still missing LVMPD released the purse with

wallet personal items and ID and 3606 in US Currency to Gorzoch and

as a result it was never available for DNA testing 10 AA 002289

Second police found several beer bottles in the dunipster behind Cinergi and

in two trash cans in the business 4 AA 000938 Fingerprints identified on the beer

12
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bottles from the trash can in the south-central office matched both Hamilton and

Seka 4 AA 000938 5 AA 001028-29 Because Hamilton worked sporadically at

Cinergi the presence of his fingerprints on the bottles was not significant 8 AA

00 1989-9 1 3 AA 000705 000708-11

Third police found several small stains in the 1933 office and living spaces

that tested positive for presumptive blood 9 AA 002074 3 AA 000650 Seka's

blood was identified on the ftont right pocket area of a pair of his jeans a drop was

identified on a wall being remodeled and on the sink counter 3 AA 000617-18

000625-26 10 AA 002270 However his blood was not found anywhere in 1929

the actual crime scene 3 AA 000615-27 Further no blood belonging to Hamilton

or Limanni was found in the 1933 OffCCS 13 Id

Fourth bullet cartridges and empty shell casings of different calibers were

found in 1933 3 AA 000526 10 AA 002271 4 AA 000913 Harrison had seen

bullets in the business well before the murders occurred 9 AA 002307 In their

search police found a 3 5 7 cartridge cas e in the false ceil ing in the northwest office

another near the center of the south wall in that office and a third on the light fixture

in front of the double doors leading into the humidor 4 AA 000912-13 Police also

discovered a single 357 bullet fragment in the wall of 1933 that had been shot

13
It did not appear that 1933 had been cleaned 4 AA 000911
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through the couch 14 4 AA 000913 00098 1 The bullet fragment had no blood on it

4 AA 000981 All the 357 cartridges had the same characteristic markings

suggesting they were all shot from the same firearm although the State could not

identifywhich type offirearm 5 AA 001000-01 Police also found 32 caliberbullets

in the toilet bowl and in the northeast office 4 AA 000913 000929-30 A24 caliber

cartridge was found in the false ceiling above the chair in the northeast office 4 AA

000913

Finally officers searched the dumpster located behind 1933 however what

was found there varies depending on the report 4 AA 000913-14 8 AA 002052-53

9 AA 002367 Detective Thowsen reported that when the initial officers looked in

the dumpster it was empty but when they checked later it contained several items

of clothing and checks purportedly belonging to Limanni 4 AA 000847 000851

52 9 AA 002052-53 Officer Nogues reported there were miscellaneous papers and

trash at the bottom of the dumpster when he arrived on the scene 10 AA 002367

Later Officer Nogues noted several pieces ofclothing including a tennis shoe along

14 The State's expert witness Torrey Johnson characterized this bullet fragment as

4cclass consistent to those found in Limanni's body 5 AA 001009-10 Johnson

testified that more than ten different types of ammunition and various types of

firearms could have been associated with the bullet fragment Id While the State

suggested that this bullet is proof that Limanni was killed in 1933 nothing

indicates how or when that bullet was shot into the wall See 4 AA 000913
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with six inches ofpaper and other debris in the dumpster none of which was there

before 10 AA 002368

Police implied that Seka somehow put the items in the dumpster attempting

to destroy evidence 10 AA 002371 0023 72-73 However between the police's first

and second examination of the dumpster Seka was either with Cerda or police 10

AA 002266 Furthermore numerous officers responded to the scene and remained

there for between eight and nine hours 5 AA 001068 see also 9 AA 002241-45

Police were at the scene constantly continually throughout the day investigating

3 AA000539

Seka Leaves Las Vegas

Police did not ask Seka to return to 1933 after his dinner appointment on

November 16 so he went to a friend's home where he had been staying after

Limanni disappeared and the business closed 5 AA 001082 0001125-26 10 AA

002252 Seka had no money or employment after Limanni disappeared so in

December of 1998 he returned to his home on the East Coast 5 AA 001194-95 10

AA 002329-30 8 AA 001984 Before leaving Nevada Seka informed police that

his family lived on the East Coast and provided them with several addresses and

1 15

ClarkMIA99991994794 26 11991 10M 11 420

APP2945



phone numbers where he could be reached 8 AA 00 1984 5 AA 00 1128 001178

Police never attempted to contact Seka

Limanni is Found

On December 23 1998 Limanni's body was found partially buried off a

service road in the California desert near the Nevada border 3 AA 000508 09 4 AA

000752 000755 The body was badly decomposed but police noted several

distinctive tattoos and a fingerprint was matched to Limanni 4 AA 000755 000757

58 The body showed varying degrees of decomposition and mummification

consistent with a body that had been outdoors partially buried for several weeks 3

AA 000694-95 The coroner found eight gunshot wounds in the head and neck area

and two additional gunshot wounds in the heart 3 AA 000695 000697

Cramer16

When Seka returned to Philadelphia he reconnected with his old friend

Thomas Cramer Cramer Cramer suffered from severe drug addiction and

frequently became physically and emotionally abusive 17 5 AA 00 1175 Durin1c

15 Harrison also testified Seka told her in November 1998 that he was going

04underground in Arizona 2 AA 000469-70 However Seka had provided police

with contact inforination in Philadelphia where he was ultimately arrested in

March of 1999 8 AA 00 1984 5 AA 00 1128 001178
11 Cramer's name is spelled both Cramer and Creamer For the sake of clarity

he will be referred to Cramer throughout this brief

11 Cramer testified that Paxil made him feel really violent 4 AA 000788
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these abusive episodes his girlfriend Margaret Daly Daly would contact Seka

for assistance in calming Cramer 5 AA 00 1176-77 00118 1

On January 23 1999 Daly frantically contacted Seka from the residence she

shared with Cramer and Cramer's grandmother to request assistance controlling

Cramer Id When Seka arrived Cramer became incensed and at one point pushed

Seka down the stairs 5 AA 00 118 1-82 Cramer also physically attacked Daly who

finally called the police 5 AA 001183 Police arrived and involuntarily committed

Cramer to a mental institution for ten days because of his erratic and violent

behavior 5 AA 001173-74 001181-83 10 AA 002382 Daly subsequently filed for

a restraining order against him 5 AA 001174

After being released from the mental institution Cramer claimed he pushed

Seka down the stairs because Seka said Do you want me to do to you what I did to

Pete Limanni 4 AA 000776-77 However in 2017 Daly who changed her name

to McConnell signed a declaration stating she was present during the altercation

and that Seka never confessed to Cramer 10 AA 002425-27 McConnell suggests

that Cramer fabricated the confession because he believed Seka was attempting to

steal McConnell's affection and was responsible for committing him to the mental

institution 10 AA 002426

17
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2001 Trial

Based in large part on Cramer's statement the State arrested charged and

tried Seka for the Hamilton and Limanni murders and robberies See supra Statement

of the Case The State's case against Seka was wholly circumstantial but

nonetheless Seka was convicted and sentenced on all charges including two life

sentences without the possibility of parole Id Seka continued to maintain his

innocence and challenge his convictions through the courts Id

Post-Conviction DNA Testing

On June 19 2017 Seka filed a Post-Conviction Petition Requesting Genetic

Marker Analysis of Evidence Within the Possession or Custody of the State of

Nevada 7 AA 001586-624 On February 15 2018 the court ordered DNA testing

ofHamilton's fingernail clippings hair identified under Hamilton's fingernails and

cigarette butts collected near Hamilton's body RA00154-00158 OnJanuary24

2019 the court ordered DNA testing of additional physical evidence including

Hamilton's baseball cap that was left at the murder scene and a Skoal container and

two beer bottles police collected from the area where Hamilton's body was

discovered 8 AA 00 1816-2 1 The backgound and results of the DNA testing on

those items is as follows

A Hamilton's Fingernails At the autopsy fingernails were collected

from Hamilton's left and right hands Detective Thowsen requested DNA testing

18
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and David Welch Welch a criminalist with the LVMPD perfon-ned PCR-RFLP

testing on the left-hand clippings 3 AA 000620 10 AA 002437 Welch testified that

be was unable to determine if the blood found on Hamilton's fingernails belonged to

a male or female but that he could exclude Seka as a contributor 3 AA 000655-56

Welch only tested the blood identified under Hamilton's fingernails but could not

test the epithelial cells potentially available under the fingernails 10 AA 002437

41 The 2018 STR DNA testing which included both blood and epithelial cells

concluded that assuming Hamilton was a contributor a second foreign contributor

was detected on Hamilton's fingernails from both his left and right hands 10 AA

002443-44 Seka was excluded as the other contributor Id

B Hair At autopsy hairs with apparent blood were collected from under

Hamilton's fingernails 10 AA 002437 Welch tested the apparent blood identified

on the hairs but not the hairs themselves 10 AA 002437-41 In 1998 Seka was

excluded as a possible contributor to the blood identified on the hair Id The 2018

DNA testing showed that the hair belonged to Hamilton 10 AA 002443-44 Seka

was excluded as a possible source of the hair Id

I I Hamilton was also the contributor of the hair underneath his fingernails 10 AA
002443 Seka was also excluded as a contributor of that hair Id
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C Marlboro cii4arette butt Police collected this itern near Hamilton's body

21 miles south of State Route 146 on Las Vegas Blvd 9 AA 002084 Officer

Vincent Roberts collected the cigarette butt Detective Thowsen requested it be

tested for DNA and Welch attempted to conduct PCR-RFLP DNA testing on it in

1998 10 AA 00243 7-4 1 Welch was unable to obtain any results 3 AA 000664 The

2018 DNA testing produced a full DNA profile and excluded both Hamilton and

Seka as contributors 10 AA 002443-44 Because the LVMPD crime lab believed

that the DNA was frorn the putative perpetrator the DNA profile was eligible to

be uploaded to the Local DNA Index System and the National DNA Index System

CODIS for comparlson 2

C Skoal Container Police also collected this item near Hamilton's body

In 1999 the container was examined for latent fingerprints to no avail and it was

not DNA tested 10 AA 002446-48 The 2019 DNA testing identified two DNA

profiles and excluded Hamilton and Seka as possible contributors 10 AA 002482

83

Two cigarette butts were collected and tested The other cigarette butt Lab Itern

1 did not produce a DNA profile 10 AA 002443
2

National DNA Index System NDIS Operational Procedures Manual

https 1-11C-reposilor

last visited October 17 2020

20
Oark H i I 394794 261 1991 10N 1 11 420

APP2950



21D Beek's beer bottle Police also collected this item near Hamilton's

body In 1999 it was examined for latent prints 10 AA 002446-47 Seka Limanni

and Hamilton were excluded as the Source of the latent prints but no DNA testinc

was conducted at the time IJ The 2019 STR DNA testing identified a female profile

on the bottle 10 AA 002482-83 Both Harni Iton and Seka were excluded as possible

contributors I I The DNA profile was eligible to be uploaded to the Local DNA

Index System and the National DNA Index Systern CODIS for comparison

because the LVMPD crime lab believed that the DNA was from the putative

perpetrator22 Id

E Hamilton's baseball cap Police collected this itern belonama to

Hamilton in 1929 where Hamilton was likely killed but it was not DNA tested before

trial The 2019 DNA testing identified three profiles on the cap one belonging to

Hamilton and two unknown profiles Id No further conclusions could be drawn from

the DNA mixture Id

As outlined above fingerprint analysis was conducted on several items of

vie deiice 10 AA 002446-48 Latent fingrprints were identified and examined on

2 A second beer bottle was collected and a DNA profile was obtained However

although that profile was consistent with at least one contributor it is unsuitable

for interpretation and comparison
122 National DNA Index System NDIS Operational Procedures Manual

https lilc-rerosljol-v

last visited October 17 2020
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Miller beer bottles found inside and outside of 1933 inside the Toyota truck on the

assorted wood covering Hamilton's body on the beer bottle recovered near

Hamilton's body and on Ms Gorzoch's purse collected from the ceiling of 1933 10

AA 002446-48 002282 Seka's fingerprints were identified on the Miller beer

bottles collected from inside 1933 and the dunipster just outside 1933 10 AA

002446-48 Seka and Limanni's fingerprints were identified on the lumber that was

taken from 1933 and used to cover Hamilton's body however additional unknown

fingerprints not belonging to Seka or Limanni were also identified on the lumber

Id The unknown fingerprints identified on the beer bottle and Ms Gorzocli's purse

did not belong to Seka Limanni or Hamilton 10 AA 002446-48 002282

Fingerprints were also identified and collected from 1929 north vertical metal

frame edge to the west front point-of-entry window the interior front west door on

the glass pane and from a glass fragment inside the point-of-entry on the office

floor 10 AA 002446-48 9 AA 002249 Unfortunately the unidentified prints

found on important physical evidence the three separate sets of prints around the

point of entry to the 1929 crime scene the prints on the lumber found covering

Hamilton's body the beer bottle found near Hamilton's body and prints identified

on Ms Gorzoch's purse were never compared to each other and were never

compared to the alternative suspects fingerprints 10 AA 0022 8 2
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Based upon the exculpatory results of the post-conviction DNA testing the

district court granted Seka's Motion for a New Trial on May 11 2020 11 AA

002517-19

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the underlying criminal conviction the State's case against Seka was

wholly circumstantial no physical evidence linked Seka to either homicide In

2018-19 Seka requested DNA testing of evidence from the crime scene and the

scene where Hamilton's body was discarded testing that was not available at the

time of trial That DNA testing produced evidence that not only excludes Seka but

also includes an unknown individual As a result Seka filed a new trial motion which

the district court granted

First the district court properly exercised its discretion granting Seka's new

trial motion Absent the State showina that the district court acted arbitrarily or

capriciously or that its interpretation of the law was clearly erroneous the district's

court decision should be affirmed Further the State cannot raise issues that it did

not raise at the district court to meet its burden on appeal

However if this Court considers all the State's arguments the district court's

decision should still stand First the new DNA evidence meets all of the required

elements for a new trial specifically that it is newly discovered material to the

defense non-cumulative and as such as to render a different result probable upon
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retrial 21 Second because the State has consistently alleged that the crimes for which

Seka was convicted were part of the same incident the new DNA evidence supports

a new trial on all Seka's convictions Third the new DNA evidence is favorable to

Seka as it not only excludes him as the perpetrator but also identifies an unknown

contributor Finally this is not a sufficiency of the evidence appeal so applying that

standardl which the State advances is inappropriate because the grant of a new trial

was based upon new DNA evidence

Accordingly Seka requests this Court to find that the district court did not

abuse its decision and in so doing affirm the district's court grant of his Motion for

a New Trial

ARGUMENT

1 THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS

DISCRETION IN GRANTING SEKA'S NEW TRIAL MOTION

In reviewing a lower court's decision on a new trial motion this Court is

tasked with determining whether the court abused its discretion Flolvel-s v State

136 Nev 11 18 456 P3d 1037 1052 2020 citing Funches v State 113 Nev 916

923 944 P2d 775 779 1997 Reversal is appropriate only for clear legal error

or for a decision that no reasonablejudge could have made Gonzalez v State 2017

21 The State concedes that the new DNA evidence could not have been discovered

and produced for trial even with the exercise of reasonable diligence it is not an

attempt to contradict impeach or discredit a fon-ner witness and it is the best

evidence the case admits
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WL 2950017 Nev Ct App 2017 see also Leavitt i Sienis 130 Nev 503 509

330 P3d 11 5 2014 stating an abuse of discretion occurs only when no reasonable

judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances Even if this

Court disagrees with the district court's decision reversal is only pen-nitted if the

district court manifestly abused or arbitrarily or capriciously exercised its

discretion City qf Las Vegas v Eighth Judicial Dist Court Seaton 131 Nev

1264 1 2015 WL 4511922 citing State v Eighth Judicial Dist Court

Armstrong 127 Nev 927 929 267 P3d 777 780 2011 This Court has defined

an arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion as one founded on prejudice or

preference rather than on reason or contrary to the evidence or established rules of

law City of Henderson v Anzado 133 Nev 257 259 396 P2d 798 800

2017citing State v Eighth Judicial Dist Court Arinstrong 127 Nev 927 93 1

32 267 P3d 77714 780 2011 This Court has defined a manifest abuse of discretion

as a clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of

a law or rule Id

Here nothing in the record or in the State's opening brief sue ests the district19

court manifestly abused its discretion The district court's decision was neither

arbitrary nor capricious and was not clearly erroneous Specifically the record

shows no prejudice or preference and the decision is not contrary to established law

And while the State may disagree with the district court's decision nowhere in its
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opening brief has the State indicated how the district court's decision specifically

meets this high bar for reversal Thus on the standard of review alone the district

court's decision granting Seka's Motion for New Trial should stand

11 THE STATE ONLY DIRECTLY ARGUED TWO ISSUES AT THE
DISTRICT COURT AND THUS ANY OTHER ISSUES URGED IN

THE STATE'S OPENING BRIEF SHOULD BE DEEMED WAIVED

Well-established law provides that a point not urged in the trial court is

deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal Old Aztec Mine

v Brown 97 Nev 49 52 623 P2d 981 983 198 1 For example in State v Lopez

this Court affirmed a favorable rulinc on a defendant's motion to suppress after the

State attempted to raise a new argument on appeal 457 P3d 245 1 2020 WL

754335 Specifically at the district court the State argued that precedent should be

overruled and on appeal argued that even if the precedent was not overruled it

would still support their position Id This Court summarily rejected the State's new

argument holding the State had waived it by not raising it below Id

In his district court briefing Seka outlined why the new DNA evidence when

considered with the other evidence warrants a new trial The State however failed

to explicitly address any of Seka's arguments in its responsive briefing ignoring the

required elements for a new trial Instead the State only argued two specific issues

First the State claimed the DNA evidence was not favorable to Seka under NRS
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17609187 8 AA 001625-40 Second the State argued Seka's motion was

procedurally barred under the two-year statute of limitations in NRS 176 515 Id

In its opening brief the State continues to maintain the new DNA evidence is

not favorable but abandons its statute of limitations argument However the State

raises new issues none of which were directly argued below and none of which

should be considered here Specifically in its opening brief the State urges four new

issues First the State argues the DNA testing results are not newly discovered

evidence Second the State claims the DNA testing results are not material to Seka's

defense and are cumulative Third the State alleges without support that because

the DNA evidence is from the Hamilton crime scene and dump site the court abused

its discretion by ordering a new trial on the Limanni homicide Finally the State

mistakenly argues that a sufficiency of the evidence standard should apply to

Seka's new trial motion

The State did not urge any of these arguments in the district court and

therefore they should not be considered on appeal However if this Court were to

consider them the State still has not shown that the district court acted arbitrarily

capriciously or in direct contradiction of the law As shown below this Court should

find that the district court properly exercised its discretion in granting Seka's new

trial motion for the following reasons A The new DNA evidence meets the

required elements for a new trial B The new DNA evidence supports a new trial
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on all Seka's convictions C The new DNA evidence is favorable to Seka's

defense and D The sufficiency of the evidence standard is inapplicable to a new

trial motion based upon newly discovered DNA evidence

A THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
IN FINDING THE NEW DNA EVIDENCE MEETS THE
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL

For more than twenty years Seka has maintained his innocence The

prosecution's case against Seka was wholly circumstantial and no physical evidence

linked Seka to either homicide Now DNA evidence from the Hamilton crime scene

and dump site not only excludes Seka but also includes an unknown individual If

the actual physical evidence exonerating Seka and implicating someone else is

presented to a jury the result of Seka's original trial will not stand Thus the district

court did not abuse its discretion in granting Seka a new trial

The court may grant a new trial to a defendant on the ground of newly

discovered evidence NRS 176 515 l The evidence must be

1 newly discovered 2 material to the defense 3 such that even with the

exercise of reasonable diligence it could not have been discovered and

produced for trial 4 non-cumulative 5 such as to render a different result

probable upon retrial 6 not only an attempt to contradict impeach or

discredit a former witness unless the witness is so important that a different

result would be reasonably probable 7 and the best evidence the case

admits

Sanborn v State 107 Nev 399 406 812 P2d 1279 1284-85 1991 quoting

McLeniore v State 94 Nev 237 577 P2d 871 1978
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As demonstrated below the new DNA evidence meets the elements required

for a new trial Importantly the State does not argue that even with the exercise of

reasonable diligence the new DNA evidence could have been discovered and

produced at trial The State iloes not claim that the new DNA evidence is an attempt

to impeach or discredit a witness The State also concedes the new DNA evidence is

the best evidence the case admits However the State challenges albeit without legal

authority the other required elements for the granting of a new trial The State's

arguments are erroneous at the very least do not demonstrate the district court

abused its discretion First the DNA testing results are newly discovered evidence

second the new DNA evidence is not merely cumulative and third the new DNA

evidence is both material to the defense and such as to render a different result

probable upon retrial

I The Results of the DNA Testing are Newly Discovered

Evidence

The type of DNA testing used on the evidence in 2018-19 was not available

when the evidence was collected in 1998 or when it was presented at trial in 2001

This advanced scientific testing makes the results of the 2018-19 DNA testing newly

discovered evidence despite the State's contentions otherwise

When the evidence in this case was collected the only available DNA testing

at the LVMPD Crime Lab was Polymerase Chain Reaction TCR testing called

Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism PCR-RFLP 3 AA 000631-32 At
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the time of trial newer PCR testing was used in the field but it was not conducted

on any of the evidence in this case 3 AA 000631-32 Welch testified at trial that the

PCR-RFLP testing was only a test to eliminate not a test to identify Id 3 AA

000661-62 In other words Welch testified that if he could produce a profile at all

he could exclude the victims or Seka as contributors but he could not include any

other individual Using this PCR-RFLP testing Welch testified that no DNA results

were obtained from the cigarette butts found near Hamilton's body 3 AA 000664

Welch further testified that using PCR-RFLP be was unable to determine if the blood

found on Hamilton's left-hand fingernails belonged to a male or female but that he

could exclude Seka as the contributor 3 AA 000655-56 None of the other pieces of

evidence collected in 1998 were DNA tested at the time of trial Considering the

PCR-RFLP testing method used at the time DNA profiles likely would not have

been obtained from the beer bottle cap or Skoal container using this outdated PCR

RFLP testing method and if they had they simply would have been able to exclude

Seka not include the actual perpetrator

However in 2018-2019 DNA testing was conducted on the remaining key

pieces of evidence 8 AA 00 1816-2 1 Short Tandem Repeats STW DNA testing

using a twenty-one Combined DNA Index System CODIS loci was used and the

results were deeply probative not only did the results fully exclude Seka but also

identified at least one unknown profile on each piece of evidence Id
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First an unknown contributor was identified on the fingernails from

Hamilton's left and right hands during the STR DNA testing 10 AA 00244344

Although at trial Seka was excluded as a contributor of the blood identified under

Hamilton's left-hand nails the PCR DNA testing was unable to identify epithelial

cells belonging to the perpetrator 10 AA 002437-41 The right-hand fingernails

were not DNA tested before trial The 2018 STR DNA testing fully excluded Seka

as a contributor of the blood and epithelial DNA from Hamilton's fingernails and

identified a second DNA profile in addition to Hamilton's 10 AA 002443-44

Second one of the cigarette butts produced a full DNA profile which belonged

to neither Seka nor Hamilton Id Third both the Skoal container and the beer bottle

found near Hamilton's body produced full DNA profiles neither of which belonged

to Seka or Hamilton 10 AA 002482-83

Finally Hamilton's cap which he always wore and was removed from his

head and left at the crime scene produced two profiles in addition to Hamilton's

but no farther inferences could be drawn because of the inconclusive mixture Id

The new DNA testing results were reported eighteen years after Seka's

conviction using a testing method that was not available at the time of Seka's trial

Seka was excluded as a contributor to all the physical evidence but perhaps more

importantly the physical evidence included an unknown contributor which can now

be compared to alternative suspects This DNA evidence can only be described as
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newly discovered and the district court properly deteri-nined that a jury should be

allowed to consider at Seka's new trial

2 The District Court Properly Determined the New DNA
Evidence Is Not Cumulative

To support a new trial motion new evidence must not be merely cumulative

of evidence that was known at the time of trial Sanboi-n 812 P2d at 1284 The State

mistakenly contends that the mere mention of the physical evidence at Seka's

original trial is sufficient to make the new DNA evidence cumulative While

cumulative is not expressly defined in Nevada law this Court has held that evidence

is cumulative if it was significantly referred to during trial Portei v State 92 Nev

142 150 576 P2d 275 280 1978 Additionally this Court has characterized

evidence as cumulative if it is in addition to or corroborative of what has been given

at the trial Gray v Harrison I Nev 502 509 1865

For example in O'Briant v State 72 Nev 100 295 P2d 396 1956

defendant was charged with arson for setting fire to his own business At trial

defendant claimed the fire was accidental when flammable materials kept in the

business spontaneously combusted Id at 397 On a new trial motion defendant's

presented expert testimony that polishing cloths similar to those stored at the

business were subject to spontaneous combustion Id at 398 In determining the

expert testimony was cumulative this Court held that defendant's theory was

presented to the jury and was rejected because it did not explain two other
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independent fires or defendant's presence in the building moments before the fires

began O'Bi-iant v State 295 P2d at 398-399 In other words this Court held that

the jury was well aware of defendant's theory of how a fire started and evidence

simply adding to defendant's specific theory and not refuting other determinative

evidence was cumulative Id at 398 See also Lapena v State 429 P3d 292 2018

WL 5095822 Nev 2018 finding DNA evidence confirming medical examiner's

trial testimony was cumulative

Alternatively in Hennie v State I I Nev 1285 1286 968 P2d 761 761-762

1998 defendant claimed his two roommates framed him for burglary Both

roommates testified against him and he was convicted Id at 763 At sentencing

defendant learned that both witnesses had been involved in a prior murder

conspiracy and one had testified untruthfully about his indebtedness Id As a result

defendant moved for a new trial Id This Court held the evidence was not cumulative

because the newly discovered evidence which the jury never heard severely

undermine d the credibility of the State's two key witnesses upon whose testimony

defendant was largely convicted Id at 764 Thus this Court held defendant

deserved a new trial Id at 765

Here the new DNA evidence is not cumulative as the State's case was not

based upon physical evidence connecting Seka to the crimes but rather on

circumstantial evidence No similar evidence was or could have been offered at trial
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Most of the evidence that was DNA tested in 2018-2019 could not be tested at the

time of trial and therefore could not exculpate Seka at that time Further the evidence

that was tested at the time of trial provided no probative results Specifically the

State's criminologist testified that no DNA results were obtained from the cigarette

butts found near Hamilton's body Although he excluded Seka from the blood under

the fingernails on Hamilton's left-hand he could not positively identify the

contributor or produce a DNA profile for any epithelial cells 3 AA 000655-56 10

AA 002437-4 1 His testimony added nothing to the State's circumstantial theory that

Seka was the perpetrator or to Seka's defense that he was wholly innocent Thus

unlike in O'Briant the new DNA evidence is not cumulative The 2018 testing

identified a DNA profile from one of the cigarette butts found near Hamilton's body

both Hamilton and Seka were excluded 10 AA 002443-44 Further the recent

DNA testing identified two profiles under Hamilton's fingernails Id Hamilton is

presumed to be one of the contributors but Seka is ftilly excluded from the

fingernails on both of Hamilton's hands Id He is also excluded as a contributor on

the beer bottle and the Skoal container found at the dumpsite AA 002482-83 This

new DNA evidence is of a totally different caliber than the evidence produced at

trial it was not available at the time of trial and it is not corroborative of any other

evidence presented in this fully circumstantial case Simply put the district court did

not abuse its discretion in finding the new DNA evidence is not cumulative
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3 The New DNA Evidence is Material to the Defense and Such as

to Render a Different Result Probable upon Retrial

Materiality of evidence is synonymous with the probability of a different

result upon retrial so these two elements supporting Seka's new trial motion will be

discussed together Sanborn 812 P2d at 1284-85 Viewed strictly material

evidence is evidence that goes to the essence of the defendant's guilt or

innocence State v Crockett 84 Nev 516 444 P2d 896 897 1968 In short

evidence is material if the evidence leads to the conclusion that there is a

reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been

different United States v Bagley 473 US 667 682 1985 see also Steese v

State 114 Nev 479 960 P2d 321 1998 Crockett 444 P2d at 897 In determining

whether the evidence renders a different result reasonably probable the court

should consider whether the new evidence undermines the dispositive evidence

which incorporate s assessing whether the new evidence materially strengthen s

the defense theory Lapena v State 429 P3d 292 2018 WL 5095822 Nev 2018

Importantly credibility is not the test of the motion for new trial instead the trial

judge must review the circumstances in their entire light then decide whether the

new evidence will probably change the result of the trial Crockett 444 P2d at 897

898

For example in Crockett the court granted a new trial when a previously

unavailable witness revealed that he and not the defendant was the individual seen
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leaving the crime scene O-ockett 444 P2d at 896 In affin-ning this Court reasoned

the guilt or innocence of the defendant might well turn on that evidence Id at

897 Furthennore this Court explained identifying the real killer as someone other

than the defendant is not only material to the defense but establishes a real

21
possibility of a different result on retrial Id at 896

Similarly other state courts have granted new trials based upon new DNA

evidence For example in Aguiri-e-Jarquin v State defendant was charged with

murder after his DNA was found on the murder weapon and the victims blood was

found on his clothing 202 So 3d 785 791-792 Fla 2016 Defendant admitted he

touched the murder weapon but explained that he entered the victims home

innocently and discovered they had been killed and tried to revive them Id at 788

Nonetheless he was convicted of both murders Id Post-conviction DNA testing

showed eight bloodstains found at critical locations around the house belonged to

someone else Id at 791 The court held the new DNA evidence along with an

alleged confession from the actual perpetrator conflicted with the evidence

presented at trial and gave rise to a reasonable doubt as to his culpability The

court remanded the case for a new trial Id at 795

2 Nevada appellate courts have only been faced with a Motion for New Trial in

one DNA testing case See Lapena 429 P3d 292 As noted above the Lapena

court denied a Motion for a New Trial because the DNA was cumulative and

therefore did not suggest that a different result was reasonably probable Id at

2
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Similarly in State i Parinai two eyewitnesses identified defendant as the

sole perpetrator of a robbery and murder 808 NW 2d 623 626-27 Neb 2012

Post-conviction DNA testing excluded defendant as the contributor of physical

evidence at the scene and although no actual perpetrator was identified the court

granted a new trial emphasizing that DNA evidence even in light of contradictory

eyewitness testimony was highly probative Id at 631-632 citing State v Wifte

740 N W 2d 801 Neb 2007 The court specifically held where DNA evidence

create s a reasonable doubt about defendant's guilt and is probative of a factual

situation different from the State's witnesses a new trial is warranted Id at

634 The court stressed that even if the DNA evidence cannot prove the witnesses

testimonies were false it is sufficient if it makes their version of the facts less

probable because defendant need not show that the DNA testing results

undoubtedly would have produced an acquittal at trial but only that a reasonable

probability exists Id see also Arrington v State 983 A2d 1071 Md 2009 State

v Peterson 836 A2d 821 NJ Sup 2003 People v Waters 764 NE2d 1194 Ill

App Ct 2002 all holding that new DNA evidence warranted the grant of

defendant's new trial motion

Here as in Crockett and Pai-inar the new DNA evidence is material because

Seka's guilt or innocence turns on it Although the DNA has not been matched to

the real perpetrator it conclusively excludes Seka from the crime scene and from the
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dump site of one of the victims Importantly it also identifies the contributor of the

DNA telling the story of a different perpetrator than Seka In what otherwise is a

fundamentally circumstantial case this evidence as outlined below call show

Seka's guilt or innocence and establishes the real possibility of a different result on

retrial

First Seka is excluded from the DNA under Harnilton's fingernal IS25 and

another individual's profile was identified 10 AA 002443-44 This evidence alone

calls into question the prosecution's theory that Seka is responsible for Hamilton's

death The actual perpetrator removed Hamilton's jacket from his body and left it at

the crime scene before dragging Hamilton's body from the business to the parking

lot M Hamilton was likely dragged by his wrists and hands because his gold

bracelet was broken and left at the crime scene Id The perpetrator's DNA could

have been transferred to Hamilton's hands and fingernails at any time during this

process or when the perpetrator disposed of Hamilton's body 2 The police saw this

25 DNA testing of fingernails has led to a number of exonerations Sample cases

include Daniel Anderson Illinois Michael Blair Texas Malcolm Bryant

Maryland Chad Heins Florida Jose Caro Puerto Rico Nevest Coleman

Illinois Larry Davis Washington Robert Dewey Colorado Tyrone Hicks

New York Harold Hill Illinois Paul House Tennessee Paul Jenkins

Montana Anthony Johnson Louisiana Evin King Ohio and Curtis McCarty

Oklahoma All cases are detailed in the National Registry of Exonerations at

lltljl N I'LII-ICS thOUI Ispx last visited

October 14 2020
2 Locard's exchange principle states that whenever perpetrators enter or leave a

crime scene they will leave sornething behind and take sornething with theni
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evidentiary potential and tested the blood found tinder Hamilton's fingernails before

Seka's trial 3 AA 000655-56 However the PCR-RFLP DNA testing that was used

at the time was limited and was only able to be used for exclusionary put-poses and

could not identify epithelial cells 3 AA 000631-32 While Seka was excluded as a

possible contributor of the blood under Hamilton's left-hand fingernails both tile

left and right hand fingernails have now produced two DNA profiles one that does

not belong to Seka or Hamilton This physical evidence now goes beyond merely an

exclusion from the victim source blood identified it allows the State to determine

who the actual perpetrator is It also gives a jury tile opportunity to understand not

only that Seka is excluded from those fingernails but that someone else in addition

to Hamilton is included If this evidence had been available at the tirne of Seka's

trial investigators could have made reasonable efforts to identify the actual

perpetrator This DNA evidence would at the very least create reasonable doubt

and thus lead to a probable different result at retrial

Second Seka is excluded from the evidence that was DNA tested in 2018-19

collected where Hamilton's body was discarded Police collected two cigarette butts
I

Examples include DNA latent prints and hair Anal Chem 2019 91 1 637-654

2018 littps dolorc 101021 acs aiialchei-n 8b04704 last visited October 22L

2020 Science Direct Exchange Principle

topics last

visited October 22 2020
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two beer bottles and a Skoal container 5 AA 00 1049-50 4 AA 0008 17-18 3 AA

000626 Although there was a freeway within sight the actual location of his body

was on the side of a road that was not well-travelled 3 AA 00517-18 Although the

State argues the collection of items where Hamilton's body was discarded was done

out of an abundance of caution police not only deemed the items important

enough to collect they attempted to get latent prints from the Skoal container and

beer bottles and attempted to DNA test the cigarette butts 10 AA 002437-41 At the

time the DNA testing results of the cigarette butts were inconclusive 3 AA 000664

A latent fingerprint was identified on one of the beer bottles but was dissimilar to

Seka's Limanni's and Hamilton's fingerprints and was not tested for DNA 10 AA

00244647 No latent prints were identified on the Skoal container 10 AA 002446

48 Now Seka is excluded as a contributor to the DNA on all of those items 10 AA

00244344 002482-83 The DNA evidence on the items found near Hamilton's

body are as probative now as they would have been at the time of trial and Seka

should have the opportunity to tell ajury that he could not have been the person who

deposited those items around Hamilton's body items that police collected and tested

at the time of the crime Additionally now that a full profile exists investigators

may be able to identify the person who left their DNA and fingerprints on this

evidence
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In sum the new DNA evidence is undeniably material to Seka's defense

and as such a different result is probable upon retrial The district court did not

abuse its discretion in finding that Seka meets not only this element but all other

elements necessary for the award of a new trial

B The New DNA Testing Results Support Seka's Motion for a New
Trial for Aff of the Charges for Which He was Convicted Not Just

for Hamilton's Murder

Wliile the new DNA results support Seka's new trial for Hamiltons murder

they also by extension support a new trial for Limanni's murder and the two

robberies for which he was also convicted The State has always claimed Seka killed

Hamilton and Limanni in one incident Now the State seeks to change its theory and

separate the two murders However because new DNA evidence supports a new

trial on Hamilton's murder it also supports a new trial on all other charges despite

the State's contrary assertion

Although Nevada courts have never decided this issue the New York

Supreme Court directly addressed it in People v Wise 194 Misc 2d 481 752

NYS2d 837 2002 In Wise five defendants confessed to and were convicted of

raping one woman and robbing one man during a night of wilding in Central Park

Id at 483 When the actual perpetrator of the rape confessed and the rape kit DNA

matched him defendants moved for a new trial on all charges Id at 488 In

considering whether the new DNA evidence warranted a new trial on all charges
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the court reasoned t he crimes the defendants were charged with were all

part of a single incident People v Wise 194 Misc 2d at 495 The court

emphasized that the People had relied upon the single incident theory both in their

case investigation and prosecution Id Indeed in its closing argument the People

encouraged the jurors to consider the overall pattern of behavior and the

defendants joint purpose Id The court found there was no significant evidence

at trial establishing the defendants involvement in the other crimes of which they

stand convicted that would not have been substantially and fatally weakened by the

newly discovered evidence in this matter Id at 496 The court further held

alssessing the newly discovered evidence is required solely in light of the proof

introduced at the earlier trials we conclude that there is a probability that the new

evidence had it been available to the Juries would have resulted in verdicts more

favorable to the defendants not only on the charg froes arising m the attack on the

female but on the other charges as well Id at 496 Ultimately the Wise court

found the newly discovered evidence was so intertwined with all the crimes charged

against the defendants that the newly discovered evidence would create a

probability that had such evidence been received at trial the verdict would have been

more favorable to the defendants as to all the convictions Id emphasis added
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Accordingly defendants motion for a new trial based was granted for all the

convictions People v Wise 194 Misc 2d at 498 21

Here too the crimes for which Seka was convicted are Intertwined The

State connected them from the tirne it first sought to arrest Seka through post

conviction appeals For example the arrest warrant states

It appears that Seka was involved in a series ofci-hnes in order to

obtain money which included the theft of tile purse the pawning
of construction equipment believed to belong to Peter Lirnanni and

the murder and apparent robbery of Eric Hamilton in which Hamilton

was shot to death with a 38357 hand-un and transported to Las

Vegas Boulevard near Lake Mead in the 1998 brown Toyota pickup

truck

9 AA 02146 ernphasis added Further when Seka's trial counsel sought to sever

the two cases the State objected arguing the Hamilton's murder and robbery and tile

27 The Wise decision is not unique For example Ronald Cotton was convicted of

two rapes When DNA testing cleared Cotton of one of the rapes the State

dismissed all charges against Cotton because the two rapes were similar and

occurred on the same night See

Lt 1
4U t 1111 cletki pccal x

last visited October 14 2020 Similarly Steven Phillips was implicated in a

eleven incidents where at least 60 women were Sexually assaulted Phillips was

convicted in one case and pled guilty in five others However when DNA testing

exonerated him in one case charaes were dismissed in all of his convictions See

hii

last visited October 14 2020 Finally Richard Alexander was arrested for four

sexual assaults and was convicted of two of them Later DNA testing excluded him

in one of the sexual assaults However because of the similarity between the two

assaults the prosecutor vacated both his convictions See

I

1LIM
1111 1 k1 J1111iC11U 11 k1S2JL 1L ISCil

last visited October 14 2020
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Limanni's murder and robbery were inextricably intertwined The court agreed

with the State and refused to sever the two cases

In closing arguments at trial the State explicitly discussed the series of

events that led to the deaths of Hamilton and Limanni 6 AA 001354 The State

continually connected the crimes postulating that Hamilton was an innocent

bystander when Limanni was killed and perhaps Hamilton helped dispose of

Limanni's body and dien became a loose end that needed to be cleaned up 6

AA 001358

On direct appeal the State continued to emphasize the connection between

the two murders This Court adopted the State's theory of a common scheme or

plan stating

In the present case we conclude that the district court did not err in

finding that there was sufficient evidence to support a conclusion that

the murders of Limanni and Hamilton were conducted and concealed

by Seka in roughly the same manner as part of a comnion scheine ol

plan for financial gain Both individuals disappeared in November of

1998 Both bodies were transported in Cinergi vehicles and were

discovered partially concealed by dirt or wood in shallow graves An
intensive amount of forensic evidence was introduced at trial

including bullets fingerprint evidence and DNA evidence indicating

that both men were murdered at the businesses owned by Limanni at

1929 and 1933 Western Avenue Also both victims died as a result of

gunshot wounds Lastly witnesses testified that both victims had large

amounts of cash in their possession sl-iortly before they were missing

and no such cash was found on their bodies or amongst their personal

possessions

6 AA 001468
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The State connected the two murders and robberies before during and after

trial In so doing the State must now accept that the new DNA evidence calls their

entire theory of the case into question Much like the court in Wise the district court

properly found Seka is entitled to a new trial on all cbarges because the new DNA

evidence not only proves he did not kill Hamilton but it also casts reasonable doubt

on the entire series of crimes for which the State contends Seka is responsible

C THE NEWLY DISCOVERED DNA EVIDENCE IS

FAVORABLE AND THUS THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER
GRANTING HIM A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

The new DNA evidence exculpates Seka and inculpates someone else in the

inurders of Limanni and Hamilton therefore it is favorable The State's arguments

to the contrary are meritless Further the State mischaracterizes the facts

surrounding the collection and original testing of the evidence and changes its pre

trial and trial positions on the importance of the evidence

Under NRS 176 09187 a defendant may move for a new trial where file DNA

testing results are favorable Favorable is not defined in the statute but appears

to be synonymous with the material standard discussed above See supra section

A3 Further in criminal cases the absence of physical evidence can be favorable to

a defendant just as the presence of inculpatory physical evidence can assist
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prosecutors seeking conviction Here the new DNA evidence is favorable to

Seka's defense and Seka should be given the opportunity to present it to a juryC

1 Hamilton's Fin-emalls

At the time of trial Seka was not ftilly CXClUded as a contributor to the DNA

samples under Hamilton's finclernalls The State's assertion otherwise is inaccurate

To clarify at the time of trial Welch performed PCR-RFLP testing on Hamilton's

left-hand fin-aernails Welch subsequently excluded Seka as a contributor of the

blood identified under Hamilton's left-hand fingeniails 3 AA 000655-56 10 AA

002437-4 1 In 2019 throuall more advanced STR DNA testing Seka was excluded

as a contributor of the blood and epithelial DNA from both Hamilton's left and right

hand fingernails 10 AA 002443-44 However not only was Seka excluded but

assurning Hamilton was a contributor a second foreign contributor was identified

Id Seka's exclusion from the biological material under both sets of Hamilton's

fingernails was not presented to Seka's jury in 200 1 Even more compel ling Seka's

2001 jury did not learn that a foreign contributor was detected Had the jury

understood not only Seka's exclusion but also the identification of another foreign

contributor their decision on Seka's guilt may have been different

Ix2 In 151 of the 367 DNA exonerations to date the DNA evidence excluded

defendant but did not identify the actual perpetrator

F J t orL last visited October 18 2020 In

those exonerations the absence of defendant's DNA was sufficient for the court to

order a new trial vacate the conviction or fully exonerate the defendant Id
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I Hair Under Hamilton's Fingernails

The State is confused when it asserts that hlairs found under Mr
Hamilton's nails were also tested at the time of trial Welch did test the blood on

the hairs but not the hairs themselves 10 AA 002437-41 And although Seka was

excluded from the blood on the hairs Welch was unable to come to any conclusion

on the hairs themselves Id The possibility that this untested hair belonged to Seka

loomed over Seka's case In 2018 STR DNA testing conclusively showed this hair

did not belong to Seka 10 AA 002443-44 The exclusion of Seka on both the hair

and the blood on the hair was not presented to Seka's jury in 2001 and may have led

the jury to a different conclusion in the wholly circumstantial case against him

iii Cigarette Butts Skoal Container and Beer Bottle Found Near

Hamilton's Body

Hamilton's body was found in a remote area 21 miles south of State Route

146 3 AA 000517-18 The value of the evidence found around his body cannot be

underestimated Indeed the police and prosecution recognized its importance during

the investigation and trial Not only did police collect these items but crime lab

technicians processed them and the prosecution presented the findings or lack

thereof at trial For the State to now claim that the evidence is irrelevant trash and

that Seka's position that these items are related to the crime is laughable is wholly

contrary to their position at trial
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In 2001 Welch attempted but was unable to obtain any DNA results from the

cigarette butt 3 AA 000664 The 2018 STR DNA testing produced a full DNA

profile excluding Hamilton and Seka 10 AA 002443-44 In 2001 the Skoal

container was examined for fingerprints but none were identified 10 AA 002446

48 The 2019 STR DNA testing identified two DNA profiles excluding both

Hamilton and Seka 10 AA 002482-83 In 1999 the beer bottle was examined for

latent prints and Seka's Limanni's and Hamilton's fingerprints were excluded 10

AA 002446-47 The 2019 STR DNA testing excluded Hamilton and Seka as possible

contributors 10 AA 002482-83

Police did not merely collect these items of evidence police believed them

to be relevant and had the items analyzed to the extent of their scientific abilities at

the time The recent STR DNA testing conclusively excludes Seka as a contributor

Therefore this Court should find that the district court did not abuse its discretion

when it granted Seka's new trial motion so ajury can properly consider the evidence

iv Hamilton's Baseball Cap

DNA testing was not conducted on Hamilton's cap in 2001 The 2019 STR

DNA testing identified three profiles on the cap one belonging to Hamilton and

two unknown profiles 10 AA 002492-83 Hamilton's cap was left at the murder

scene and a jury should be allowed to consider whether the two unknown profiles

could belong to the actual perpetrators
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Whether considered individually or in combination each piece of physical

evidence is favorable to Seka and meets the standard under NRS 176 09187 and

thus the district court did not abuse its discretion in granting Seka's new trial

motion

V The Physical Evidence Recently Submitted to STR DNA
Testing Was Relevant in 1999 and Is Relevant Now

Despite the State's contrary arguments Seka has no obligation to show

definitively how the new DNA evidence found under Hamilton's fingernails on the

beer bottle Skoal container and cigarette butt found next to Hamilton's body and

on Hamilton's cap the physical evidence got there Rather Seka need only show

the physical evidence is material to the determination of his guilt or innocence in

Hamilton and Limanni's murders Seka has repeatedly shown the relevance of the

exculpatory DNA results and now it is a jury's job to consider the physical evidence

and its impact on what was a wholly circumstantial case

Further in claiming that the physical evidence that has now been tested and

shows Seka had no connection to Limanni's and Hamilton's murders is not relevant

the State is conveniently changing their theory regarding the physical evidence In

House v Bell the United States Supreme Court rejected an argument similar to the

State's argument here 547 US 518 2006 In House the State alleged semen

evidence found on the murder victim was consistent with defendant Id at 518 Post

conviction DNA testing established the evidence belonged to the victim's husband's
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the State then claimed the evidence was immaterial as it did not definitively show

defendant did not commit the murder House v Bell 547 US 518 2006 The

Supreme Court disagreed and found the new evidence of central importance Id

at 540 The Court stated that particularly in a case like this where the state's

evidence was circumstantial a jury would have given this evidence great

weight Id at 540-41

In 1999 police collected the physical evidence processed it for fingerprints

and tested it with the best DNA testing available at the time The police and

prosecution saw the evidentiary value of the physical evidence and when the best

scientific technology available at the time produced no usable results they went

forward with their wholly circumstantial case against Seka Now that the same

evidence the State once considered material exonerates Seka the State calls the

evidence trash The State's position is disingenuous and contrary to the decision

in House Accordingly this Court sbould reject it and affirm the district court's

decision to grant Seka the new trial he deserves

D THIS IS NOT A SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCV9
APPEAL AND THE STATE'S ARGUMENT TO THE
CONTRARY IS MISGUIDED

The State argues that because a jury convicted Seka without the new DNA

evidence the district court abused its discretion in ordering a new trial First the

State's argument completely discounts the purpose of NRS 176 0918 which allows
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a defendant to request post-conviction DNA testing and to request a new trial if the

DNA evidence is favorable In cases like Seka's where DNA evidence both

exculpates the defendant and inculpates the real perpetrator was not available at the

time of trial NRS 176 0918 anticipates that the court will consider the new DNA

evidence and will consider the trial evidence in light of the new DNA evidence It

does not direct the court to conduct a sufficiency of the evidence analysis without

considering the new DNA evidence and if it did as the State argues NRS 176 0918

would be meaningless Second the State's sufficiency of the evidence argument asks

this Court to supplant the jury function to weigh all the evidence to judge the

credibility of witnesses in light of the new evidence and to essentially determine

Seka's guilt or innocence If the State is convinced of Seka's guilt despite the

exonerating DNA evidence the place to argue the new DNA evidence is insufficient

to overcome the State's circumstantial case is at trial not on this appeal

However the court is not required to look at the new DNA evidence in a

vacuum Rather the court should review the circumstances in their entire light

before deciding whether the new evidence will probably change the result of the

trial Crockett 444 P2d at 897-898 In doing so the court should determine

whether the new DNA evidence makes the State's version of facts less probable

Pai-niai 808 N W 2d at 634 As outlined below Seka asserts it does and the district

court in a proper exercise of discretion agreed
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First police believed Hamilton was murdered in 1929 a space Seka could not

access 3 AA 000523 000546-47 000550 The business in 1929 was abandoned

shortly before the murders and Cerda the property manager had the only key 10

AA 002263 Police did not find Limanni's blood or Seka's blood in 1929 or any

other physical evidence that ties Seka to the scene

Further 1933 showed no signs of a crime 4 AA 00913 000981 The police

did not find any victim-source blood any signs of a struggle or break-in or any

bullet riddled clothing Id Indeed despite Limanni being shot ten times no blood or

other evidence of such brutality was found in 1929 or 1933 Instead the police

discovered a single bullet fragment buried in the wall of 1933 Id The bullet

fragment had no blood on it Id 3 AA 000615-27 The State's expert Torrey

Johnson characterized the bullet as class consistent to those found in Limanni's

body but testified that more than ten different types of ami-nunition and nuinerous

different types of firearms could have been associated with that bullet fragment 5

AA 001009 Moreover the other bullet cartridges found in 1933 included calibers

other than those used in the murders and Harrison testified that she saw at least one

bullet in the business well before the murders occurred 9 AA 002307 Finally

although the police discovered some of Seka's blood in 1933 it was his home and

workplace The State's assertion that Seka's blood found on the right pocket of a
IP

pair of his own jeans on the wall and on a sink counter of his home somehow
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implicates Seka in two brutal murders is untenable particularly when all other

physical evidence excludes him and includes someone else 3 AA 000617-18

000625-26 10 AA 002270 In short while the State suggested that this bullet

fragment in the wall is proof that 1933 was the scene of Limanni's death nothing

supports this idea See 4 AA 000913

The police also found a beer bottle in 1933 with Hamilton's fingerprints 4

AA 000938 5 AA 001028-29 However numerous beer bottles were found and

collected from trash cans in 1933 and in the dumpster behind 1929 and 1933 Id It

was impossible to determine when Hamilton left that beer bottle in 1933 but his

presence at that location was no surprise Hamilton occasionally worked for Limanni

and Seka 3 AA 000708 000710-11 Hamilton's employment at the business also

explains why Seka's phone number was found in Hamilton's pocket Id

Moreover physical evidence found at the dump site implicates another

perpetrator the unknown fingerprints on the lumber that covered Hamilton's body

5 AA 00 105 1-52 Although three boards contained Seka and Limanni's fingerprints

another two boards found at the dump site contained latent prints that did not match

Seka or Limanni Id These unidentified latent prints were never compared to the

latent prints identified on the beer bottle found near Hamilton's body the three sets

of fingerprints identified near the point of entry to the 1929 crime scene or the

unknown fingerprints identified on Gorzoch's purse Id Nor were any of these
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unknown fingerprints compared to the alternative suspects with motive to kill

Limanni Now additional physical evidence points to a different perpetrator

evidence that cannot be ignored in the way that the unknown fingerprints on the

lumber at the 1929 crime scene and on Gorzoch's purse was at the time of trial 19

Importantly many individuals besides Limanni Harrison Hamilton and Seka

had access to 1933 8 AA 001968-69 9 AA 002082 4 AA 000889-90

Specifically Kato Toe and Mohammed had access Id These investors financed

Limanni's business and lost hundreds of thousands of dollars after Limanni

mismanaged their funds AA 001966-67 These individuals financing Limanni's

business Kato and Toe leased the business vehicles for Limanni and Kato was the

guarantor on the business note 9 AA 002009-24 002026-43 These investors were

angry and at least one witness a witness that can be considered new claims that

Mohammed was capable of homicidal violence and that her investigation indicates

Mohammed was the actual perpetrator 9 AA 002157

29 The report proving that Seka did not touch Ms Gorzoch's purse was not

provided to Seka at the time of trial and indeed was not produced until 2018 10

AA 002282
10 Numerous other people patronized the business as Limanni hosted frequent

parties at that location 9 AA 002082 4 AA 000889-90
31 Police did not collect DNA from the alternative suspects Harrison Kato Toe

or Mohammed so no comparisons could be made Should Seka be retried

hopefully the prosecution or police will attempt to identify the unknown profiles

on the evidence
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Anyone who had access to 1933 also had access to the five vehicles associated

with the business 2 AA 000488 While Limanni and Seka drove the work vehicles

interchangeably Harrison also drove the Toyota truck Id The vehicle keys were

easily accessed from the business 4 AA 000956 During the investigation the police

were even able to retrieve the vehicle keys 5 AA 001080 On October 26 1998

before Limanni disappeared Kato repossessed one of the vans 2 AA 000362 9 AA

02146 He did not have his own keys he simply obtained the keys from inside the

business Id Although the State inferred that the blood in one of the vans and the

Toyota truck showed that Hamilton and or Limanni were transported in those

vehicles that blood does not allow the State to infer that Seka transported the bodies

particularly when so many others had access to those vehicles

Regarding motive it is no more certain than the use of the vehicles The State

contended that Seka's motive for killing the two men was robbery However

everything Hamilton had of value his bracelet ring jacket and cap remained in

1929 or with his body except his money which was gone before he went to jail on

November 5 negating any claim of robbery 3 AA 00052 1 5 AA 00 1088-9 1 9 AA

002242 002248 4 AA 00082 1 2 AA 000345 Further Seka never possessed any of

Limanni's valuables or money except for those items he pawned from the business

after Limanni disappeared 6 AA 00 13 12 In fact Seka was forced to return to his

home in Pennsylvania because he had no money and no place to stay once the
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business closed which suggests he had no motive to kill Limanni 5 AA 00 1194-95

10 AA 002329-30 8 AA 001984 Importantly before leaving Las Vegas Seka gave

police his contact addresses and phone numbers in Pennsylvania 8 AA 001984 5

AA 00 1128 001178

The State further contended Seka's motive for killing Limanni was that

Limanni treated him poorly However in a post-conviction declaration Justin

Nguyen avers that the relationship between Limanni and Seka was good 9 AA

002006 Nguyen was an employee at Cinergi working closely with Limanni and

Seka for several months Id Nguyen states that Limanni treated Seka like his own

brother and he never observed Limanni call Seka names or mistreat him Id Kato

and Toe agreed with Nguyen's assessment 8 AA 001963-66 9 AA 002009-24

002026-43

Finally the only direct evidence the State used to support their theory of

Seka's involvement in Limanni's murder was Cramer's testimony a mentally

unstable man who was angry at Seka for committing him to a mental institution after

they bad a violent altercation Cramer created a story that Seka confessed during that

altercation only after he was released from the mental institution and law

enforcement approached him 4 AA 000776-77 Most notably Cramer's girlfriend

stated in a sworn declaration that Cramer was lying 10 AA 002425-27 She states
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that she was present during the altercation between Seka and Cramer and that no

such confession occurred 10 AA 002425-27

In short with absolutely nothing tying Seka to Limanni's murder and all other

evidence showing he could not have been involved in Hamilton's murder the State's

circumstantial case is destroyed and the district court did not abuse its discretion in

ordering a new trial
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CONCLUSION

As discussed above the district court properly exercised its discretion in

awarding Seka a new trial when the results of new DNA testing not only excluded

him from all the probative physical evidence in the case but also implicated an

unknown individual This Court should therefore affirrn the district court's order

granting Seka's Motion for New Trial
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